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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHT
EBRBE

Revenue Revenue of programmatic advertising

—E L ON BFIEBEA

434 7 Million (US$) 22 7 3 Million (US$)
ER-3E V) ABE(ET)

Increased by Increased by 9 8 A
55 1 889% A 15 15 .7%

Adjusted net profit Unique devices we reach daily
RARBFEFEHE HEERBBLARAR

35.2 s
A 1 billigzn
Increase%/ ’] 6 , 8% A + &+

App? and DAU® through our Mintegral SDK R&D expenses
# ASDKHAPPE E K HE mEER

Increased by 5 4 8 A
12 1 D%
As a % of revenuce

£ 7
O.7%

240

1 We define adjusted net profit as profit for the year plus share-based compensation and listing fe=
BMBEARRNEFREERFRRMNMEROMeM ETER -

2 We define App in this situation as cumulative number of apps that had integrated our Mintegral SDK by the end of each year
E1E HAPpIEE A T & FiMintegral SDKHIAppIE % 4F K i) 2 51 81

3 We define DAU in this situation as the average daily active user of the apps integrated our Mintegral SDK in the Q4 of each year
EA2HAPPIEE A T F MMintegral SDKHIAppE & FEMER F 1 /ER AP &
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FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FHBEE

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLFE

2018 2017 2016 2015
20184 20174 20164 20154
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET FET FET
Revenue WA 434,727 312,956 283,923 167,207
Gross profit ER 97,901 82,859 69,075 22,846
Profit before taxation B Bt A % R 26,151 30,415 22,167 10,191
Profit for the year FRERN 21,854 27,320 19,781 8,711
Profit attributable to equity APTERBR
shareholders of the Company FE 15 3% F 21,854 27,167 19,730 8,711
Adjusted net profit RAREFBEFRY 35,235 30,550 24,240 11,627
Note: Pt 5T -
1) We define adjusted net profit as profit for the year plus share-based compensation 1 KRG EARBREGHNEERETEAERNSFNMERG
and listing fee. MefMmEmEBER -
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2018 2017 2016 2015
20184 20174 2016%F 20154
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$'000
SFESTE FET FEx FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 115,698 108,839 37,744 3,317
Current assets RBEE 290,473 210,813 174,356 66,732
Current liabilities REERE 173,592 195,808 180,753 53,687
Non-current liabilities EFEBER 915 33,477 413 4,580
Total equity attributable to AR REGNEER
equity shareholders of the
Company 231,664 90,367 30,810 11,782
Non-controlling interests FERER - — 124 —

© Mobvistalnc. EER K ERA T



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
S HE

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET

Revenue WA 434,727 312,956

Gross profit EF 97,901 82,859

Profit before taxation R BE A %= R 26,151 30,415

Profit for the year FREFR 21,854 27,320

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 7~/ 5] £ 25 IR 3R FE{5 % R

of the Company 21,854 27,167

Earnings per share SREF

Basic (United States dollar cents) BER(ER) 1.91 2.41

Diluted (United States dollar cents) #E (x9) 1.87 2.41

Non-IFRS measures(" FERMEREERTTED

Adjusted EBITDA® RARBRITERBHMERN 43,190 35,729

Adjusted net profit® KRR R FIEE 5 35,235 30,550

Notes: PR -

©) We believe that such non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating (1) BMEE ZIEERYBEREENGEEREZEANR
performance from period to period by eliminating potential impacts of items that BREBREMONEEERAHEMEERE TR
our management does not consider to be indicative of our operating performance. THEMNEEMNEBEESEZ  REBTRABBEMNLER
We believe that such measures provide useful information to investors and others B HKMBERE ZEHEEEEAREEREMALIR
in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same HEEDNEE NWARARMOHBTEEMRRA X
manner as it helps our management. The use of such measures has limitations BRLRTHRMANGELCLEEE ZSHEEREA
as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation from, or as a ERPMIEGFERRYE - BETIAEEEAEBILINK
substitute for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as reported ARBERMBERBEVERELEAMERCEXEE
under IFRS. M BRRB DHT -

) We define adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (which is profit from operations plus  (2) KPP EAREBRITEREENRBAETEAFAS
depreciation and amortization expenses) for the year adjusted by adding share- MTERBHMAT  ITRHBROMES  HKEAH
based compensation, one-off acquisition-related expenses and listing expenses. M—RERS R ETRAY FPIAAE -

@) We define adjusted net profit as profit for the year plus share-based compensation  (3) BMEECRABRIBFEER RF AN EMN M _ERHD

and listing fee.

MeMERER -
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8 Mobvista Inc.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Dear shareholders,

2018 was a monumental year for Mobvista Inc., as our shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange in 12 December 2018,
raising gross proceeds of approximately US$146.6 million, and providing
us with enhanced capital strength to seize opportunities arising in the
prosperous global mobile App economy. | am therefore pleased to
present our shareholders with our first annual report as a publicly listed
company, for year ended 31 December 2018.

Mobvista is a leading “Business to Business” technology platform
providing mobile advertising and analytics services to app developers
globally. Given the increasing penetration of smartphones and time
spent on mobile devices, a large and rapidly growing market for mobile
apps has been created. However, more than 90% of apps published
by app developers cannot generate revenue from in-app purchases,
and the main source of revenue for these apps is to deliver ads to their
users and collecting advertising fees from advertisers, which is also
known as advertising-based monetization business model. Of course,
before an app developer can monetize their app, they must first build
a massive audience base by acquiring adequate users. Due to the
borderless nature of mobile internet business and fierce competition
fueled by globalization, there is an ever-increasing demand for global
and professional services that app developers can leverage to acquire
users at scale globally across a diverse set of media resources, and
then to monetize their fragmented user base by accessing advertising
budgets from thousands of advertisers. Empowered by big data, Al
algorithmic models, and automated trading technologies programmatic
transactions have been proven to be a far more efficient means to reach
this goal. Serving App developers’ needs and addressing their pain
points have been key strengths for Mobvista, which have allowed us to
generate significant revenue and profitable since our inception.

With more than 700 employees based in 15 offices around the world
by the end of 2018, the company is able to combine strong local
service capabilities with its extensive global footprint to provide global
app developers with the capability to reach mobile users in over 200
countries and regions. According to the iResearch report, we are a
third-party advertising platform ranking among top ten in the world and
top one in China, in terms of the average daily active users through the
monetization software development kit in the first half of 2018.

Now let me turn to our operational highlights for 2018, review our

business developments during the year, and finally, summarize our
strategy and outlook for the coming year.

EENKARDA

BERHENRE

018 F U EERNF(IEERKEISIAR)ASE
FALSEEN—F -2018F 128128 » HFIK
R ER LT BEESHEELN14668 2

XL -RYWLMERTRAREAES  KE—F
EOBRMICEEHBYERECEERTROEE -

AAMRARRBREEERMETENENDFERE -
FREEHE A2018F12H318 -

EEMKE-RBBEBHRMAR  BARAE
RHAPPH EEREBIESMBESNRY -

EEEREBEANETETFRE2EXILBBRPE
BERBHELERFRN LT - —ERAMEE
ENBBHEATHEE ALK - AWM - 90%A L&A
ERMEEZMOAPPY E X RBRAANBEER
HIKRA - ELAppREEBBRNEAFPRTIES X
MESTWRESENDARER EEZLAR
AHMMESERNBEEN -MER LAZRN
R EEBRABPUELIRERAAENAPER -
HRBHERENEERBUEN 2R OB
FAPPREZEEBZMWBTZEXRN2IRIHMRT -
NEPMPETRNERERPETREL 2

RICWBPER - EMBEEKRT LEBNESEM
PESEE RRECHERIBRNBPLHE
BoERREE AISTREMEBER FHRME

BRI EESHMEIR FiERKM AR - RS
REAREENELEST K BAMMNES - E
*EMobvistafk 37 & 5 BUS W A TN 2 FI # B 82 -

HZE2018F K * HMREIL T HBB700ANEEK - o
HEZARMISHABRE -NEHBRERME
BHHBEBRET MR RGENEB 2R E
FAF 3 & i EBiR200 AR R RENBEBAP -
BEXImAANGE - A20184F L FHEHE R
%8 ASDKF ADAUET - B = 2 FkAT+ - R EE
—ME=ZFBBESTA -

AABEZRIREEARFI2018FNLE =2 - O
BE—FHNEKER IO QARFEOERRL
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Business Review

1.

Growing business scale enabled us to benefit
from a flywheel effect

As advertisers, app developers use our ad buying service for
user acquisition. In 2018, pre-existing app developers in our
advertising platform continued to maintain healthy partnerships
with us and allocated more ad budget to our platform.
Furthermore, we established direct business relationships with
over 400 new app developers expanding our advertiser base to
around 2,400. As a result, our advertising revenue continued to
grow rapidly to US$434.7 million in 2018 from US$313.0 million
in 2017. 87.9% of the revenue was contributed by existing
advertisers and 12.1% of the revenue was contributed by new
advertisers.

As publishers, a growing number of app developers sell the traffic
generated from their apps by adopting our monetization services.
In order to improve our traffic quality, increase the diversity
of our media offerings, and in particular to expand the media
base for programmatic advertising services, we strategically
launched a publisher incentive plan in 2018. This plan invested
5.1% of our total revenue in order to incentivize high-quality
strategic publishers from key regional markets to become our
programmatic publisher (or traffic supplier) by integrating our
Mintegral SDKs into their apps. The number of apps integrated
into our programmatic advertising platform doubled compared
to the same period of 2017, with Mintegral SDKs integrated into
over 6,900 apps in 2018 from around 1,500 developers at the
end of 2018. As a result of active expansion of our programmatic
media base. In 2018 the programmatic advertising business
acted as a key driver that accounted for 92.1% of the growth in
our revenue.

The growing business scale has resulted in a strong flywheel
effect — our user acquisition, mobile analytics, and monetization
businesses in our ecosystem fuel each other’s growth, thereby
increasing the effectiveness of our services and contributing to
sustainability of our growth.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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KEEE
1. XBREBERFTRRBUE

REBERAZREIERABRMOESE  £/H
BPMESRNRBETHAFER - &£
2018F - RRELTFESIEHENBTBE
AREEESFEBEABMARERANR
FHEE WEMTHBEMOZEEES
fid o B2 R By - 2 IKE E N B400R M
HERAFAZRERATEMFNERES
FRMREHES TED T H2,400FK ° &
19 H9 W AR AR #2017 F #9313.0 5 & = o 18
RE2018F H434.7E & XL HF87.91%
REFRKRONEFE  121%REBHEF °

MARBZHBHEARZEERRMNE
HEBMmE BACARAERMNERRBEES
P EES(REFMEMAENBSER)
EXNRE ATHEREANEEMIZ
ARENES  FREEFLELARE 2018
F BMOEFLTEHENRELRER
L 4 A EEBI5.1%8) B 35 3 B 5T &1 - B8ORS 1
MABZOTIEHNEEREEEXNEMD
Mintegral® 38SDK - Bk & 3 f1 &9 12 7 1 1 88
BMmEREMHESL) - HE2018F K - £
FA P 19 4 30 AR 75 APPER201 7T F R K 7 —
f& - B4 B B8 1,5001E FE A [ % & #96,900
FAPPE 5K 7 F {f AIMintegral® IRSDK ° 1E
EHREBFEREERMNIE - 20184F -
BZMMEFLEBEARBEER HEKA
ERE92.1% o
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FEARBEBHERE KRR #®
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Increased spending on research and development

In order to grow our programmatic advertising business,
we significantly increased our spending on research and
development (“R&D”) in technology infrastructure and
development of programmatic technology solutions. In 2018, our
R&D expenditure increased sharply by 54.4% to US$33.2 million,
from US$21.5 million in 2017. We recognized US$29.2 million
on R&D expenses in 2018 which accounted for 6.7% of our total
revenue compared with 6.1% in 2017. Along with this increased
investment, the number of R&D employees increased to 361
accounting for 49.1% of our total full-time employees.

We continued to optimize and integrate our information
technology (“IT”) infrastructure in order to improve the scalability
and capacity of the server architecture as a foundation to
strengthen our programmatic advertising services. In terms
of programmatic technology solutions development, we are
competitively positioned to provide full stack programmatic
advertising services after complementing our Mintegral
Platform with a proprietary Demand Side Platform and Ad
Exchange in addition to our original Supply Side Platform, as
well as developing a unified advertising solution which help our
advertisers to purchase programmatically across all mainstream
Top media channels.

All these efforts have enabled us to control our server costs while
continuing to grow our business. As a percentage of revenue,
our total server costs decreased from 4.4% in 2017 to 4.1% in
2018. For programmatic advertising services, the ad serving
costs as percentage of programmatic advertising revenue
decreased from 8.5% in 2017 to 6.6% in 2018.

10 Mobvistalnc. EEBRKAR DA
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Enhanced strength in big data and Al capability

In order to provide industry leading performance to app
developers, we believed it was crucial to develop big data and
artificial intelligence (“Al”) capability constantly and apply it in
our business. Through our advertising service, we reached more
than 1 billion unique devices daily in the fourth quarter of 2018,
140.0% higher than that in the same period of 2017. The average
DAUs of our Mintegral SDK rose to 340 million in the fourth
quarter of 2018, 41.7% higher than the same period of 2017.
By continuing to enhance our analytics service, we succeeded
in attracting more developers from the gaming segment thereby
enriching the unique in-Game behavioral data which helps us
build up in-depth user profiles. The average DAUs of Game
Analytics reached over 105 million in the fourth quarter of 2018,
98.1% higher than the same period of 2017.

In 2018 we launched our machine learning platform Mindalpha
in order to take advantage of synergies with our substantial
analytics database of rich user behavioral profiles. Including
one-stop big scale distributable architecture, application of
advanced machine learning algorithms and a full-cycle machine
learning system, Mindalpha is able to continually analyze tens
of billions of changing features and hundreds of billions of
samples, as well as to response to massive number of requests
in milliseconds. Mindalpha now supports our mobile advertising
business in different application scenario.

Strategy and outlook

2019 will be a year full of growth opportunities for us.

Benefit from globalization

Globalization has become one of the most prominent trends
worldwide and is expected to be a driver of significant growth
in the mobile advertising market. Unsurprisingly, China-based
app developers are a massive force behind this round of
globalization. Given the tougher regulatory environment around
internet business in China and rising competitive intensity at
home, China-based app developers are increasingly allocating
their advertising budgets to overseas markets. In response,
app developers in overseas markets will be inspired to increase
their own advertising budget in order to compete for users
successfully. With its geographical relationship to China and
enjoying its status as the fastest growing regional market, Asia
Pacific is gradually becoming the most favored market for global
advertising budget allocation. As an Asia-Pacific based company
with an extensive global footprint we have put ourselves in a
winning position.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBE
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Growth driven by programmatic business 2. HEFLEEEHER
Based on its ability to accurately target users and efficiently BEERFITEEREEESEANARTNBER
monetize audiences, programmatic advertising is being adopted B EESUMNESIERNESAURBES
by an increasing number of advertisers and become a key driver MERAZRERITLER  BFRLEEBEESLE
to the market growth. The unwavering investment we made in KEREETSERNBEREESHRAE -
IT infrastructure, big data, Al capabilities, and programmatic BPERMERZE  KBIBEMAILERE
publisher resources has resulted in a market-leading advantage HiimMER(tEEEROEELR AZRM
allowing us to gain share of the more promising programmatic EEENNEEVE ERERFILESEE
advertising market. FEEBEIMSEREER -
New opportunity from ‘Centralized Service Desk’ 3. ™ &{LEEKLRETHIE
strategy
With years of business experience providing app developers BBZFRAERREERENCEFPER -
with full life cycle services including user acquisition, mobile BEEESMMERRE 2 ESEER
analytics, and monetization services, we are able to integrate our BREENEFTELR R BEENES
leading technical capability, massive amount of data, and global BPELHNEMNE N S8 EBEERNAN
advertising resources as a ‘Centralized Service Desk’. Based BEXHRABHEHER TEF AR
on this strategic upgrade, we have the opportunity to explore BEE BRI EBETA - FFEAKM
more creative business models for our existing advertising and HENBHESNBEESMEREREH
analytics business, or to penetrate into additional segments in MEEERED  EAIBEHERKERE
mobile app economy in order to expand our ecosystem and R A DB MERMPNEREEIL M
scale up our business rapidly. REIRBFIENL -
Finally, | would like to extend my deepest gratitude to our RE  AANBHRAAAEEEBME T
management team and employees for their contributions, AV EE  BRBEGMONER - B E&
commitment, and hard work. | would also like to express my ML SR T Ve o 28 A JF 32 I B B
sincere gratitude to our Board of Directors for its guidance and MHEEERERBENIF -H&E KA
support. Lastly, | am thankful for the continued support and trust INRR A RN A S AT o B
from our shareholders. We will continue our mission to connect BHAORMEIREEE - E2IRNA
the world and enable everyone to enjoy universal content and P ZTEERNHARNR MRS -
services.

DUAN Wei BRE

FTEREEHITE

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019 P - 2019F3H29H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

Our revenue increased by 38.9% to US$434.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2018, as compared to US$313.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our revenue by types of services for the years indicated:

BERE N DN

WA

HE2018F12A31B L FENRARE £2017F
128318 It FEM313.05 &= TRt 1 £38.9%
AU TEEETL TRV TFEZRRBEER
2o E A

For the Year Ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
% of % of
Total Total
US$’000 Revenue US$'000 Revenue YoY Change
FExT (HBEKRAL FEIT  HBEEAL [F] bt &
Mobile advertising revenue BEES WA 434,688 100.0% 312,044 99.7% 39.3%
Game publishing revenue FERA 39 0.0% 912 0.3% -95.7%
Total et 434,727 100.0% 312,956 100.0% 38.9%

Mobile advertising services are the main contributor to our
revenue. We are a leading technology platform providing mobile
advertising and mobile analytics services to the app developers globally.
Most of our revenues in 2018 were derived from our mobile advertising
services. Revenue from mobile advertising business increased by 39.3%
to US$434.7 million on a year-on-year basis (YoY). The increase was
primarily driven by the robust growth for our programmatic advertising
as we strategically focused on this type of service to capture the market
trend.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of revenue from mobile
advertising by purchasing models for the years indicated:

PHESERERMTRMABABOKRA - K2
EHRELNFENTE  BE2EBEERMBEEIR
HEHEERBH SR - R2018F H ME KX
HomBANRBEMOBHESER BHES
EBW AR IER39.3%E434.7TEE X T - B
EEMSHEFLESEBZTRENMNBE - &
EFrtEEEBASBBEN RMPHEEER
WANEEFEXBFLEEEBNAYIERA
HEH o

TR RFERRBERAEINBHES
EBWARMA

For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12AMBLEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
% of Mobile % of Mobile
Advertising Advertising
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue YoY Change
. EBEBERE AR BEE X
FTET EBUA TET EBKRAK Al b, &
Programmatic =3s21e 227,312 52.3% 114,376 36.7% 98.7%
Non-programmatic FEF 207,376 47.7% 197,668 63.3% 4.9%
Mobile advertising revenue BEES WA 434,688 100.0% 312,044 100.0% 39.3%

Programmatic advertising services are the major driver for
our growth in revenue. Revenue from programmatic advertising
increased by 98.7% to US$227.3 million in 2018 YoY. The revenue
contribution from programmatic advertising rose sharply from 36.7% in
2017 to 52.3% in 2018 and the growth in revenue from programmatic
advertising accounted for 92.1% of the growth in the revenue from our
mobile advertising business.

EFtESEKEERMUAERNEIERE D -
MR201I8FE R FLESEB K AR L RIBINE
273ABEL BEFILESEHBRAGRSES
E IR L B 2017 FF #936.7% = FF 22018 F 19
52.3% ' R L ES EBWAR018MIE R ER/ T
FEE B ES EF WAL RENI21% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The rapid growth of our programmatic advertising services was
driven by the further development of Mintegral and our strengthened
technology capabilities underlying our programmatic advertising
services. To improve the quality of our publisher pool and traffic
acquired, especially to increase the penetration rate of our Mintegral
SDKs in key regional markets, we strategically launched an incentive
plan to attract high quality publishers to integrate our Mintegral SDKs
into their apps. Aiming to enhance our operation and service capability,
we also set up a special sales team in 2018 solely responsible for
promoting programmatic advertising to advertisers and addressing their
user acquisition needs.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of revenue from mobile
advertising by geographic regionst" for the years indicated:

BMOEFLESEBHREFEREIZRER
Mintegral# 88 £ 5 8 IR A B K B BT E A9 nsg -
BEANFARMEREBNEAMEERERRE
SABRENEE - FFRIZEFA K MMintegral SDK
FENREMSEMEERAEENZEER B
BEMEHIT TEREERAEEN RS BB E
E ) B E R P MMintegral SDK » [ 8F © & T
RAKRMBOEBEMRGEE N - HPIR2018F &KL
T XHRNEEREK  ERESZHERRL
BE BRI mEmrmERERK -

TREIRATRFERMBEDONBHEEED
WA R

For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
% of Mobile % of Mobile
Advertising Advertising
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue YoY Change
EBEBES LBEES
TET EBWAL FET EBRAL [F] bt &
Greater China@ AR 277,546 63.8% 140,076 44.9% 98.1%
Southeast Asia® B3 23,260 5.4% 29,371 9.4% -20.8%
Americas® EYI 40,324 9.3% 61,681 19.8% -34.6%
Europe® B 26,024 6.0% 20,510 6.6% 26.9%
Rest of Asia® TN E i Ee 42,228 9.7% 41,904 13.4% 0.8%
Rest of the world® R E A [ 25,306 5.8% 18,502 5.9% 36.8%
Total mobile advertising revenue BEESWAAE 434,688 100.0% 312,044 100.0% 39.3%
Notes: Biat -
(1) The advertising destination classified in the table refers the location of advertisers’ 1) XHESWELSH RIS ERETERXRMES T E
headquarters. EHEIE D IR ﬁ'ﬁ 2‘]
@ Greater China: Includes the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. ©) AP EMEBAFEPEANM  FEBEHNITHE - B
BHRfTHEREE -
) Southeast Asia: Includes Singapore, Vietnam, Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, 3) HEopEHNE  BE HEEAD -ZTH B
Cambodia, Myanmar and Philippines. Phes  RIE - AENIFFERE -
@) Americas: Primarily include the United States and Canada. @) ENEZREXERNEX -
) Europe: Primarily includes the United Kingdom, Switzerland, Germany, the  (5) BN EEREER  -IWmt - EB - &8 mr -
Netherlands, Spain, France, Italy and Ireland. EE BAFFMEBE -
6) Rest of Asia: Includes other countries and regions in Asia, excluding Southeast Asia  (6) SMNEMEEEDMOEMBER RibE - TRE
and Greater China. REERAKHEMRR -
@) Rest of the world: Primarily includes Argentina, Cyprus and Armenia. @) 1t 7‘31 Hihih R F 2 REMRE EHEITREEE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The global expansion from app developers headquartered in
Greater China dominated the growth of mobile advertising
revenue. We earned most of our revenue by delivering mobile
advertisement to mobile users outside Greater China and seized the
opportunity from the wave of global expansion to grow our business.
Revenue from app developers in Greater China was US$277.5 million
in 2018, accounting for 63.8% of our total revenue. In 2018, due to
the tougher laws and regulations over the internet space in China, as
well as the rising competition in the home market, we saw growing
numbers of major app developers headquartered in Greater China
investing substantially more in acquiring users outside Greater China.
They became the key players to boost this wave of globalization. The
Management therefore decided to allocate more overseas advertising
resources including our managed traffics, sales force and technical
manpower to accommodate these Chinese app developers’ need to
go abroad. As an Asia-Pacific based company with global vision, we
are in line with the market trend and well placed in an attractive market.
We believe we will continue to benefit from the wave of international
expansion in the future.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of revenue from mobile
advertising by mobile app types for the years indicated:

BERE N DN

ARAFEHERDEAMBRENZRLEGREARE
BEESWABRNEIERHRE - AMKRLOW
ANRERERAFREWRIAIINBHALPNBIHE
ERMER - RARZELED IR KA #
BE-TERBMANES - RAR2018F T K
BARTPEMRERRABEENRAR2I7TSEERT
15 FE AW AE63.8% < 20185F - AN AL st HH
BEBMBTENERERREBRERL A LTS R
FOARE —HRARATERERNETRED
ERARAZEEESIITHETARENRPERRKR
AR RES TH —HBERLERPEIEHED
FeoBll AREEEBERTEBENENERN
BA BEEHAZENHEF R BEMEH
BINEERE  BRZHEMBNRE  HEBEK
ERMAE - FRUERTAMELMHE IR
X RALEBZEYEEEEENNTIH PG
BTEMMUE - ZEX HARSEMAEE

ERANERCRPESERS  BRERKER -

TREIRAMIFELRERABELIONBHES
EBUWABRA -

For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
% of Mobile % of Mobile
Advertising Advertising
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue YoY Change
EBEES EBBES
TET EBWAL TET EBRAL (7 Lt
E-commerce EAE] 73,555 16.9% 51,215 16.4% 43.6%
Utility TA 24,816 5.7% 47,364 15.2% -47.6%
Content and social RA KRR 167,590 38.6% 56,319 18.0% 197.6%
Lifestyle EEAR 24,881 5.7% 24,085 7.7% 3.3%
Game PR 117,278 27.0% 113,443 36.4% 3.4%
Other Hit 26,568 6.1% 19,618 6.3% 35.4%
Total mobile advertising revenue ZEEEWA G 434,688 100.0% 312,044 100.0% 39.3%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Our advertiser base is diversified in terms of app types, with
content and social apps being the main contributor to our
revenue growth. With abilities to provide in-depth insights about the
global app market, our mobile advertising services were able to cover
advertisers from all major app categories. In 2018, our mobile advertising
revenue has increased in segments of e-commerce, content and social,
lifestyle and game. Among all the app types, content and social apps
were the key drivers of the growth in our mobile advertising business as
major China-based short video app developers significantly increased
their advertising campaign budgets to acquire potential users overseas.
Our mobile advertising revenue generated from content and social apps
increased by 197.6% YoY from US$56.3 million in 2017 to US$167.6
million in 2018. As a percentage of mobile advertising revenue, the
content and social app percentage increased from 18.0% in 2017 to
38.6% in 2018. Also benefited from the overseas expansion of China-
based app developers, the mobile advertising revenue generated from
e-commerce apps increased by 43.6% YoY from US$51.2 million in
2017 to US$73.6 million in 2018.

Costs of Sales

Our costs of sales increased by 46.4% to US$336.8 million in the year
ended 31 December 2018, as compared to US$230.1 million in the
year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was driven by the strong
growth in our total revenue. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our costs of sales by types of service for the years indicated:

RERENFTERE  KRMANESEEFHIM
EZRENEE HPAZNEXEERABRE
REERMPAUAERNEIEZEERE - HE2IKEAMS
MAABRBESEMOBDESEBEERBE KR
BSEXZHAEAREENE T - R20184F -
RPEESTEL RARMAER - EEMBEEERE
RHBEESXEBWABBRIEM HEh AR
MRXERENREMPOIESERERNETE
HEH ERANTRFIZERAEABAZE K
BIEMEEGIINEENTEE - RMERD MR FE
BEMENBEESRAR2017F /5637 &%
TN EI2018F 1676 E B ETL  AELERT
197.6% c NA A X ERER WAL BB E
& WA B L 5 #2017 F 79 18.0%35 A0 £ 2018 £ &)
38.6% - AGEZmM P EBEERFREEGINM
BRIRE EFHABEREENBHES WAL
2017 W51 2B BETIEMEI2018F W 736 E 8
X0 RIIER T43.6% °

iHE R A

R ERANBEZE2017F12 A31 B H230.1H
EETRLIERICAREHF2018F 128310 IEF
EHIS368EEETL - ZERFEZHEMABKA
MREIERTEESN - TRBIRTRFEIRR
BEASSEENABEMA

For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12AMBLEE

2018 2017

20185 20174

% of Total % of Total
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue YoY Change
FTERT MHBRAL TET BREKRAL (Al Lt

Mobile advertising costs BEESEBRKA 336,802 77.5% 229,386 73.3% 46.8%
Traffic acquisition costs mERA 319,023 73.4% 215,517 68.9% 48.0%
Server costs i e 17,779 4.1% 13,869 4.4% 28.2%
Game publishing costs FRHEBRA 24 0.0% 711 0.2% -96.6%
Total BEr 336,826 77.5% 230,097 73.5% 46.4%

Our costs of sales primarily consist of traffic acquisition costs
and server costs incurred to operate our mobile advertising
business. As a percentage of total costs of sales, mobile advertising
costs increased from 99.7% in 2017 to 99.9% in 2018 as we continued
to shift to mobile advertising services. Our costs of sales increased
by 46.4% to US$336.8 million in 2018 YoY, primarily due to the rapid
growth of our mobile advertising revenue.

EENKARDA

BANSEER AT EHKAERDEESEKEN
REREBREARBRBESAEER  HMFELE
BELERMBHESER  R01BFBRHESHE
TR ANk 48 88 & A AN /9 B 5 R 2017 6 8999.7% 38 &
£00.9% o WM E K AN2018F £:15336.88 &
EL BB R4I64%  EFETERERBMELD
BEEBRAFTEARRIERAESH -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of costs of mobile advertising TXREH I A REEIREBEELZ - NBHES
services by types of purchase model for the years indicated: Ak 75 BA 48 -
For the Year Ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2018 2017
20185 20176
% of % of
Programmatic Programmatic
US$’000 Revenue US$'000 Revenue  YoY Change
TR HRFIERAL FET HRFIERAL Rl L &
Programmatic costs BEEKAR 180,887 79.6% 79,500 69.5% 127.5%
Traffic acquisition costs MERAK 165,959 73.0% 69,792 61.0% 137.8%
Server costs PR 28 B AR 14,928 6.6% 9,708 8.5% 53.8%
% of non- % of non-
programmatic programmatic
Us$’000 revenue US$'000 revenue  YoY Change
EEBFL IR
TER N1 FET WAL A LL &
Non-programmatic E3:3521d 155,915 75.2% 149,886 75.8% 4.0%
Traffic acquisition costs MERA 153,064 73.8% 145,725 73.7% 5.0%
Server costs PR 28 B AR 2,851 1.4% 4,161 2.1% -31.5%

We succeeded in controlling server costs while achieving
growth in mobile advertising services. Programmatic advertising
services require us to incur higher server costs than non-programmatic
advertising services do. Server costs as a percentage of programmatic
advertising revenue is 6.6% in 2018, compared to the server costs as
a percentage of revenue for the non-programmatic advertising services
of 1.4%. Due to our ongoing effort to optimize the system architecture
and improve computing ability, the server costs as a percentage of
programmatic advertising revenue decreased from 8.5% in 2017 to
6.6% in 2018. Since server costs imposed greater influence on the
programmatic advertising revenue than server costs did on non-
programmatic advertising revenue, we believe the optimization of server
costs will better contribute to the control of our total costs of sales as
programmatic advertising revenue grows rapidly.

EEEBRHESERERERN  RARIHEL
THRESBAK - HLHEBFLLESER  EBFL
BEEBHRMERBEHBRALBESHERK -
20184 - BF L EE X KRB /XK AIEEF L
BEEBRANBE DL B56.6%  MIERFILES
EBERBEBEXNAEIERFLELESEBBANTD
b B1.4% - B RNBEMEELZERRENIRAG
BRENDFEANTBME N BFRLELESEBRBE S
RAERFIEESEBRANE D LLBH2017F K
8.5%p% 22018 F 116.6% - ERER FL EE £

RE[HORASEHBEFLESERRAELERK
MTE RPMBRBEREFLES WA RELE

E REBESAANEBLEHEENREAMERY
PR E R AR S -
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We elevated our investment on quality traffic acquisition for
programmatic advertising services. Traffic acquisition costs
increased by 137.8% to US$166.0 million in 2018 YoY mainly because
the programmatic advertising revenue increased significantly. As a
percentage of programmatic advertising revenue, traffic acquisition
costs percentage is 73.0% in 2018, compared with 61.0% in 2017.
The increase in traffic acquisition costs percentage for programmatic
advertising services was mainly driven by costs related to the incentive
plan. In 2018, we spent US$22.2 million strategically incentivizing certain
important high-quality publishers to integrate our Mintegral SDKs. The
incentive costs as a percentage of programmatic advertising revenue
was 9.8%.

For non-programmatic advertising services, we maintained the
same level of cost to operate the business. As the revenue from
non-programmatic advertising services did not increase significantly
in 2018, the traffic acquisition costs of non-programmatic advertising
slightly increased to US$153.1 million and the traffic acquisition costs
as a percentage of non-programmatic advertising revenue remained at
the same level as that in 2017. As a percentage of non-programmatic
advertising revenue, server costs decreased slightly to 1.4%.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The following table sets forth the gross profit and gross profit margin for
the years indicated:

REDEFLESER BRASEENEEER
ERBHEA - 2018F it & FIE K A5 N E=166.0
BEXT ALERI378% ZBEREETEZREMH
REFLLESEBRANKBEEMHESO -
RERBANAGCERFLESEBSRANE D LA
2017 F H61.0%1E & £ 2018F #973.0% ° % kb £
AEZERMBEERBTENERASIR - 742018
¢ CHEMIRA2REEETEB T BEEEE
B B 5 B £ &2 B MIMintegral SDKs © 7%
BOWBAERFEESBHANE DL A.8% °

HEFLESEBOBARRRAE WA LB KR
EEFERB - R20185F - ARNFEFLEFT WA
BEREEER  FEFLESEENASRE
RAMAEISBAEEET - WIRFBRFEESK
AL BT mERBKANE2017FRBEFFE M
AR 2ZA AN PE =1.4% ©

EFMREFRR
TREFIR AR FE M EFIEERE

For the Year Ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2018 2017

2018 20174
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Gross Profit Margin Gross Profit Gross Profit Margin YoY Change
E7 ESp kS EM ER=R EAR L&
US$’000 % US$’'000 % %
FEx Bat TET At Bk
97,901 22.5% 82,859 26.5% 18.2%

Our gross profit increased by 18.2% YoY to US$97.9 million in the year
ended 31 December 2018 as compared to US$82.9 million in the year
ended 31 December 2017. Our gross profit margin decreased from
26.5% in 2017 to 22.5% in 2018. The decrease in gross profit margin
was mainly attributable to one-time expenses related to the incentive
plan, which equaled 5.1% of our total revenue in 2018.

EENKARDA

HE2018F12A3BLEFE HMWEFNBEZE
2017 12A3TB L FEMIFEXTRLIE R
182%ZE979E &EETT  RMHEF K H2017FH
26.5%8 > E2018F H122.5% + £ EH N E i &3
BhetElEA N —REZH - %8285 X H(h20184F
BRWAKE D AES51% °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

App developers typically integrate only a limited number of SDKs, and
therefore, we believe it is critical for us to elevate the penetration rate of
Mintegral SDKs in order to create entry barriers to other market players
and reinforce our competitive advantage in programmatic advertising. In
2018, we launched an incentive plan strategically in key regional markets
to improve the quality of our traffic and the loyalty of our publishers to
drive further growth for our programmatic advertising business. As a
result, our programmatic advertising revenue increased by 98.7% YoY
from US$114.4 million in 2017 to US$227.3 million in 2018.

BERE N DN

BEERAZEBREREABRHEEMNSDKs @ A
I F 152 A 12 = 3 FI AMintegral SDKsH) 23 R F
MR ABRMBELAEREMMIZLHEE N FE
2 BIERMERFLESEBR LOBRFEZE
BHEE - R2018F ' ARARENEERESE
& RO BE 1 - B P98BS 1 o 7E 5 Bh (& 9 T 5 H B
BRFREEEE T BB S - I H 2 ka8l 8

BRETFTLCESEBNE — PR - R2018F + &
MEFCESEBHFEEWRABR2017F8114.48
BETERE27IEEET  ALIERIB7% °

Gross profit and gross profit margin

ERRER X

In US’000, except for percentage
FET - ADLLBRSN

26.5% = m— == == =

82,859

e e e e = = = = 276%

22.5%

97,901

2017

mm Gross profit

EH

mm Gross profit margin

ESIRS

We have used US$22.2 million on the incentive plan for apps
developers, and propose to cease this plan by the first half of 2019. The
incentive plan has lowered our gross profit margin by 5.1%. Excluding
its impact on gross profit margin, our gross profit margin would increase
from 26.5% in 2017 to 27.6% in 2018.

2018

==== Gross profit margin (adjusted)

ARGERR

BMEREE LM B R22AaEE Wit
EITE2019F L FRIZE T KL IE BB FT & - BB FT
EHNERERMOEFNEERET51% c HREM
FRABEEENEOEE - BMOFEEF
1% 2017 M26.5% 7+ 20186 K927.6% °
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The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit margin by
app types for the years indicated:

TREFRFREERMEERELE S HER
B F K -

For the Year Ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Gross Gross
Gross Profit Gross Profit Gross Profit
Profit Margin Profit Margin YOY Change
E7
EF EF=E E7H E = Elsd=52)
US$’000 % US$'000 % %
FTE B FET Btk Bt
E-commerce B 22,473 30.6% 14,032 27.4% 60.2%
Utility =t 4,212 17.0% 7,128 15.0% -40.9%
Content and social WA MR 24,746 14.8% 16,708 29.7% 48.1%
Lifestyle AR RS 7,735 31.1% 7,678 31.9% 0.7%
Game % B 34,137 29.1% 32,248 28.4% 5.9%
Other HAth 4,583 17.3% 4,864 24.8% -5.8%
Total #at 97,886 22.5% 82,658 26.5% 18.4%

From the perspective of app types, total gross profits were
mainly contributed by content and social, e-commerce and game
apps. In 2018, the gross profit from content and social, e-commerce
and game apps are US$24.7 million, US$22.5 million and US$34.1
million respectively, accounting for 83.1% of our total gross profit in
total.

The growth in gross profits from content and social and
e-commerce apps were the key drivers of the growth of our total
gross profit in 2018. Our gross profit from content and social apps
increased by 48.1% YoY from US$16.7 million in 2017 to US$24.7
million in 2018. The gross profit from e-commerce apps increased by
60.2% YoY from US$14.0 million in 2017 to US$22.5 million in 2018.

The gross profit margin of content and social apps decreased from
29.7% in 2017 to 14.8% in 2018 mainly because we strategically
leveraged more resources to attract and retain key content and social
app developers with big advertising budget and massive user expansion
demand in overseas markets to use our advertising services. We
expect our excellent track record in mobile advertising services will help
us to enhance the brand awareness among key app developers not
only from content and social app category, but also from other major
app categories like e-commerce and game to explore future business
opportunities in overseas expansion.

EENKARDA

HEREHEARE  BANAEINEZEFERRE
PHR EEMESEREESFREENER -
R2018F  BZAMERBRMER - EE MR AR
BESEENENH B A24T7THEEET 2258
EETMMIBEETL EMEGFTEEMNREN
83.1% o

BFPR0IBFHNAENZRFIERAAZTRLER

EREERAERNESENEENERMES -
BMERNARERBEERESMEENEF H
2017TFEMI6TEBERTERELTAEE R AL
BRA8A% - BRMEENEEAEEMEENTH
2017 M14.08 BE L R E2018F 2250 8
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BMERR R ZIEERELDNERRH2017F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses increased by 20.9% YoY to US$7.8
million in 2018 from US$6.4 million in 2017. However, as a percentage
of revenue, the selling and marketing expenses decreased to 1.8% in
2018 from 2.1% in 2017.

Research and Development Expenses

The following table sets forth our research and development expenses
for the years indicated:

BERE N DN

HEREHBAX
BRFHEE REHEA X A2017FER64H &=
RZE2018F M7.8F B X ' RLIEKR20.9% ° 34
EREHEA B ARNE G R2017FH2.1% %
E2018F A91.8% °

WA
TREINARFERMNFERI

For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2018 2017

20185 20174

% of Total % of Total
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue YoY Change
FTERT HBERAL TET BRKRAL [F] bt &
Research and development 3T

expenses 29,212 6.7% 18,934 6.1% 54.3%

To stay ahead on the technology curve and enhance our core
competence for future growth, we kept on increasing expenditure
in research and development activities. We increased our focus on
developing programmatic advertising technology by developing
programmatic product, optimizing the IT infrastructure and enhancing
big data technology and Al capability. Our total research and
development expenditure in 2018 was US$33.0 million and we
treated US$29.2 million as expenses. Our research and development
expenses increased sharply by 54.3% from US$18.9 million in 2017 to
US$29.2 million in 2018. As a percentage of revenue, the research and
development expenses percentage increased to 6.7% in 2018 from
6.1% in 2017.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by 25.2% YoY from
US$28.7 to US$35.9 million in 2018. The increase was mainly driven by
expenses incurred in connection with the IPO and the granted of non-
cash Restricted Share Units (RSUs) to qualified employees in November
2018. The listing expenses and RSUs expenses in 2018 were US$6.9
million and US$6.4 million respectively. Although we are expanding
our business globally and hiring more talents around the world, we
successfully controlled our general and administrative expenses. As
a percentage of revenue, the general and administrative expenses
percentage decreased from 9.2% in 2017 to 8.3% in 2018.

BRTRARBENELEBEURAZOEST S -
BMB/EMAAEERANE - KMRATHRER
TEEERMNERREE ZFIMEREFLER -
BHETEERBEMRARNSIFEEATEENES -
M20184F » MMM EHAEST H RIBOBEXET
HABALOMEL L A20288ET - HMW
2 E B h2017E 18.98 & = T AR 1€ Hn54.3%
E2018F W202B BETT o MERAB H HLEr -
BMOAEERGEBRANLF BE2017FH6.1%
FZE2018F #96.7% °

—RRATHB X

MR2018%F + MW —MRITHFAZH2017F K
B7TABETEE2018FMIBIBEET ' AL
WR252%  ZBEEFERBEMETARR
PR I % 10 B2 [RSUs] 7 X 893 i1 - H 2018 &y
JEIRERSUSFT I RM11ARFTAEERNEBR T
f) o £ RRSUsH2018F EAMA X 5 5 A6.98
BEEXELNGAEEET RERMHEB2IKEE
NRRMIER 2RERATHERBLA - &K
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Profit from Operations

Our operating profit decreased by 12.0% YoY to US$26.9 million in
2018, primarily due to (i) increased incentives strategically paid to
important high-quality publishers in key regional market to incentivize
them to integrate our Mintegral SDKSs; (ii) increased research and
development expenses related to our programmatic advertising
services as we further built up our business; and (jii) increased one-time
expenses in general and administrative expenses.

Finance Costs

The financing cost increased to US$0.8 million in 2018 from US$0.2
million in 2017. The increase was mainly due to higher interest expense
incurred in connection with our bank borrowings.

Income Tax

Income tax expense increased from US$3.1 million in 2017 to 4.3 million
in 2018, mainly driven by the movement in deferred tax.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

Profit attribute to equity holders of the company decreased from
US$27.2 million in 2017 to US$21.9 million in 2018. We have a sound
track record in profit since the Group was founded. As discussed
above, to further expand our programmatic advertising business, we
strategically invested more to build programmatic advertising platform,
enhanced underlying technology capabilities and implemented incentive
plan to amplify high-quality publisher base of our platform. We plan to
phase out the incentive plan by the end of the first half of 2019.

We believe the strategic investment in 2018 discussed above will solidify
the foundation for profit growth and sustainability in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Financial Information (Non-IFRS measures)

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in
accordance with IFRS, we also use non-IFRS measures, namely
EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit, as an additional
financial measure, which are not required by or presented in
accordance with IFRS. We believe that such non-IFRS measures
facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to period
by eliminating potential impacts of items that our management does
not consider to be indicative of our operating performance. We believe
that such measures provide useful information to investors and others
in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations
in the same manner as it helps our management. However, our
presentation of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.
The use of such non-IFRS measures has limitations as an analytical
tool, and you should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute
for analysis of, our results of operations or financial position as reported
under IFRS.
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For the Year Ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
% of Total % of Total YoY
US$’000 Revenue US$'000 Revenue Change
FTErn MHBRAL FTET HRKRAK Rl b, &
Operating profit R R 26,939 6.2% 30,604 9.8% -12.0%
Add: e -
Depreciation and Amortization ¥ & B # 45 2,836 0.7% 1,448 0.5% 95.9%
EBITDA BRITENEHERI AT 29,775 6.8% 32,052 10.2% -71%
Add: me
Share-based compensation % 8 B B 2
expenses 6,448 1.5% 3,230 1.0% 99.6%
One-off expenses related to HIEE A B
acquisitions —RERX 34 0.0% 447 0.1% -92.4%
Listing expenses tmEA 6,933 1.6% — = =
Non-IFRS measures( FERHBRELERFTEN
Adjusted EBITDA® RABRETMER
B Han B Ae 43,190 9.9% 35,729 11.4% 20.9%
Notes: BtsE -
(1) We believe that such non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating 1) HPEE  ZIEERBREENEEEERSIR

performance from period to period by eliminating potential impacts of items that
our management does not consider to be indicative of our operating performance.
We believe that such measures provide useful information to investors and others
in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as it helps our management. The use of such measures has limitations
as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation from, or as a
substitute for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as reported
under IFRS.

2 We define adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (which is profit from operations plus
depreciation and amortization expenses) for the year adjusted by adding share-
based compensation, one-off acquisition-related expenses and listing expenses.

BBERBEMANEEERASERMAKERRTAER
TAUMBEENEETYE  RUEBTEBARNLER
B-BMEGE ZBERSAREERAMALR
HEERPNES ABBRRMNEEERRT R
BRI ERMNGEARERE ZEHUEEER
EDMTAFERRYE - BTTITEEERBIUNK
ARBHRMBEERMERELNM2ZREL XA
BRI -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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For the Year Ended December 31

BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2017
20185 20174
% of Total % of Total YoY
US$’000 Revenue US$’000 Revenue Change
FTET HBEKRAL FTET HERAL [F] bt &
Profit for the year F A ) 21,854 5.0% 27,320 -20.0%
Add: e
Share-based compensation % 4 5 B
expenses 6,448 1.5% 3230 1.0% 99.6%
Listing expenses EHEMA 6,933 1.6% - - -
Non-IFRS measure! FEIRR A R EERFED
Adjusted net profit@ 1R E T T e 35,235 8.1% 30,550 9.8% 15.3%
Notes: (T2
1) We believe that such non-IFRS measures facilitate comparisons of operating (1) FMAE ZIEREMERESENESREZFHR

performance from period to period by eliminating potential impacts of items that
our management does not consider to be indicative of our operating performance.
We believe that such measures provide useful information to investors and others
in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as it helps our management. The use of such measures has limitations
as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation from, or as a
substitute for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as reported
under IFRS.

2) We define adjusted net profit as profit for the year plus share-based compensation
and listing fee.

Our adjusted EBITDA increased by 20.9% YoY from US$35.7 million in
2017 to US$41.2 million in 2018. Our adjusted net profit increased by
15.3% YoY from US$30.6 million in 2017 to US$35.2 million in 2018.

Capital Structure

We continued to maintain a healthy and sound financial position. Our
total assets grew from US$319.7 million as at 31 December 2017 to
US$406.2 million as at 31 December 2018, while our total liabilities
decreased from US$229.3 million as at 31 December 2017 to US$174.5
million as at 31 December 2018. Liabilities-to-assets ratio decreased
from 71.7% at the end of 2017 to 43.0% at the end of 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Resources and Operating Cash Flow

Our Company funded our cash requirement principally from capital
contribution from shareholders, cash generated from our operations and
bank loans. As at 31 December 2018, our cash and cash equivalents
was US$64.9 million, compared with US$44.8 million at 31 December
2017.

As of 31 December 2018, we recorded positive net cash generated from
operating activities in three consecutive years. Compared with US$49.2
million in 2017, the net cash generated from operating activities in 2018
decreased to US$29.0 million, primarily due to our strategic investment
on the incentive plan and the increase in research and development
expenses. In dollar amount, the impact of these two expenses on net
cash generated from operating activities in 2018 was US$32.5 million.

We have historically used bank borrowings to partially finance our
operations. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has secured loan
amounted to US$16,697,000.

Trade receivables and Trade payables

The following table sets forth our trade receivables turnover days and
trade payables turnover days for the years indicated:

BERE N DN

BBERREERER

RARBRNBeHMENESETERARFTLHE -
KEXBMEEANBRESERRTER -HMWES
MBS ZEBYWH2018F12831H B649BEETT -
Mmr2017F12831H B448E B =TT °

M2018F12A31H AN KEEBELENR
FREBF -—FHBIEME - RMNR2018FLE %
KEAMBRESFHEA200FEET  B2017F K
W2EBETEMRAL T EHBRMBBE M E
MRS ARMEERNENSIR - ERIEE
REEM08FREEBEANR S FETES
FF325BEET °

RPBEHAERTEEABETELKREISSES -
MR2018%12A31H * AEE B ERE 716,697,000
ESpI

EZRURERE S EMNRIE
TREHTARFENE S RWEFEX B
B RNFARERE

For the Year Ended 31 December
HZ12A31HILLEE

2018 2017
20185 20174
Trade receivables turnover days B 5 W FIEFE R EH 104.9 115.0
Trade payables turnover days S OECEIEEE PN 103.8 102.4
Note: B 5
©) We calculated the trade receivables turnover days using the average of the (1) KM EEZRURBEREREN A D38
beginning balance and the ending balance of trade receivables for the year, divided 2017 M20185F & 5 E WG B A R BB M EA R 82 58
by revenue for the relevant year, and multiplied by 365 days for 2017 and 2018. W ERABEENOWA - BFRIAIBEX °
()] We calculated the trade payables turnover days using the average of the beginning 2) Rt EESENRBRAE RSN T A2 288

balance and the ending balance of trade payables for the year, divided by costs for
the relevant year, and multiplied by 365 days for 2017 and 2018.

In 2018, our trade and other receivables was US$220.9 million,
compared with US$118.1 million in 2017. Our trade receivables was
US$160.0 million in 2018 and our trade receivables turnover days was
104.9 in 2018. Our trade receivables was US$89.9 million in 2017 and
our trade receivables turnover days was 115.0 in 2017.

2017 M2018F B P FEN KB HA VIR BB B K 8458
HFHEBRAEBEDKRAR - BEMUIBSK ©

201845 - MW E 5 Kk E b FE U FKIE /£220.98
BEIT M2017F 8 E 5 & H fth & W 5018 /1181
BEXT - HMIN2018F M & 5 E WA A160.0
AEXEL ES2RWRBEBRAEXEA1049° ME
fIR201I7TFEME S EWHKIERBIOAEXRT &
SEWHIERE RS R115.00
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In 2018, our trade and other payables was US$152.1 million, compared
to US$181.0 million in 2017. Our trade payables was US$124.9 million
in 2018 and our trade payables turnover days was 103.8 in 2018. Our
trade payables was US$66.7 million in 2017 and our trade payables
turnover days was 102.4 in 2017.

Capital Expenditure

The following table sets forth our capital expenditure for the years
indicated:

MR2018F F BHPMIWE S5 R EMENKIEAR15218
BXxT M2017EME S R EMENFKIER/181.0
BEET - BRMHR2018F N E Z ENKIEAE124.9
BEEL BSREMFEEERHA103.8 MK
MR2017TEFMNE S ENRIBER67TAEET ' B
SN I RE X R102.4

BEXRRMAX
TREINRARFEEAF ¢

For the Year Ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Us$’000 US$’000
FEx FET

Payment for purchase of property, plant and BB E® % - BE M&RE MK
equipment 658 1,076
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BEEFEENK 4,058 2,706
Prepayment for properties S ESENNE O] 756 65,966
Total et 5,472 69,748

Qur capital expenditure primarily consisted of expenditures on (i)
property, plant and equipment, and (ii) intangible assets, including
developed technologies (capitalized research and development
expenditures), royalties, software and trademark. The capital
expenditure decreased from US$69.7 million in 2017 to US$5.5 million
in 2018, primarily due to the decrease in prepayment for properties in
connection with purchase of office premises in Guangzhou.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

We operate our business internationally and the major currencies of
our receipts and payments are denominated in US dollars. We are
exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases giving
rise to receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency. We managed foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of our foreign exchange exposures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and future financial results could be materially and
adversely affected by various risks. The following highlights the principal
risks the Group is susceptible to and is not meant to be exhaustive:

° We generate our revenues almost entirely from the advertising
services we provide. If we fail to retain existing advertisers and
publishers, deepen or expand our relationships with advertisers
and publishers, or attract new advertisers and publishers, our
financial position, results of operations and prospects may be
materially and adversely affected.

o If the mobile advertising industry fails to continue to develop and
growth, or if the mobile advertising market develops or grows
more slowly than expected, our profitability and prospects may
be materially and adversely affected.

° If we fail to introduce new or enhanced services to keep up
with the technological developments or new business models
of the mobile advertising and mobile analytics industries, or the
changing requirements of advertisers, publishers and mobile
analytics users, our business, financial position and results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

° We expect to continue to experience intense competition. If
we fail to compete effectively against other mobile advertising
companies and other mobile analytics service providers, we
could lose advertisers, publishers or mobile analytics users, and
our revenues may decline.

° If we provide inaccurate or fraudulent data, it may have an
adverse impact on our business, results of operations and
reputation.

° Our business is subject to complex and evolving laws and

regulations. Many of these laws and regulations are subject
to change and uncertain interpretation, and could result in
claims, changes to our business practices, monetary penalties,
increased cost of operations, or declines in user growth or
engagement, or otherwise harm our business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER R DT

° Misappropriation or misuse of privacy information and failure to
comply with laws and regulations on data protection, including
the GDPR, could result in claims, changes to our business
practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations, or
declines in advertisers, publishers or mobile analytics user base,
or otherwise harm our business.

° Any breaches of our security measures, including unauthorized
access, computer viruses and hacking, may adversely affect our
database, reduce use of our services and damage our reputation
and brand names.

Employee

We had a total of 735 full-time employees as at 31 December 2018,
primary based in our headquarter in Guangzhou, with the others based
in 15 offices in the rest of Greater China, East Asia, Southeast Asia,
South Asia, Middle East, Europe and America. Among all employees,
361 are in R&D department. As a percentage of the total full-time
employees, the R&D employee percentage was 49.1%. Salaries
is determined with reference to market conditions and individual
employees’ performance, qualification and experience.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Below is the brief information of the current Directors and senior

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, of which four are

executive Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors.

The following table sets out information of the Directors.

EERSHREEREER

NTRAAEBREEFTRSAEEBNEEEH -

EE

ExelRAtAEFTANX  BROBRTES
ZRBUIFATES - TRIJNEBREFNE -

Name Age Position Date of Appointment as Director
A Fie Bz EZEHESWAEEN
Mr. DUAN Wei 33 Executive Director and chairman of the Board 16 April 2018

BREL SR & HITEEREFEEIR 20184 A16H

Mr. CAO Xiaohuan 33 Executive Director 16 April 2018
BREEA HITES 20184 A16H

Mr. XI Yuan 34 Executive Director 13 June 2018
ERKHE HITES 2018466 A13H

Mr. FANG Zikai 34 Executive Director 13 June 2018

7 FEEE HITES 2018466 A13H

Mr. YING Lei 49 Independent non-executive Director 31 October 2018
fEE KL BIATESF 2018 10A31H

Mr. WANG Jianxin 48 Independent non-executive Director 31 October 2018
TREFEE BIUATESF 2018 10A31H

Mr. HU Jie 43 Independent non-executive Director 31 October 2018
AR E BIUFNTES 20184F10A31H
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. DUAN Wei (E% &)

Mr. DUAN, aged 33, joined the Group in 2013. He is one of our
co-founders, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer of the Company and is responsible for overall strategic
planning and the business direction of the Group. He serves as director
of various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Duan obtained his bachelor’s degree in system science and
engineering from Zhejiang University in 2008.

Mr. CAO Xiaohuan (& B %)

Mr. CAQO, aged 33, joined the Group in 2014. He is one of our
co-founders, an executive Director and the president of the Company
and is mainly responsible for overall management of the operations
of the Group. He serves as director of various subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Cao is currently a member of CPA Australia. Mr. Cao received his
bachelor’s degree of system science and engineering in 2008 from
Zhejiang University and later a master’s degree in system analysis and
integration in 2011 from the same university.

Mr. XI Yuan (£ &)

Mr. X, aged 34, joined the Group in 2013. He is an executive Director
and the vice president of our Company, primarily responsible for the
business development of the advertising department. He serves as
director of various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Xi received his bachelor’s degree in communication engineering in
2007 from Southwest Jiaotong University, and later obtained a master’s
degree of micro-electronics and solid-state electronics in 2010 from the
same university.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. FANG Zikai (77 7 1%)
Mr. FANG, aged 34, joined the Group in 2015. He is an executive
Director and the chief product officer of the Company, primarily
responsible for product research and the management of the advertising
business line of the Group.

Mr. Fang received his bachelor’s degree from Zhejiang University in
2007, Mr. Fang majored in mathematics and applied mathematics
and in 2009 obtained a master’s degree of arts from the University of
Pittsburgh.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. YING Lei (& E)

Mr. YING, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Group in October 2018. He is responsible for providing
independent advice and judgment to our Board.

From May 2017 to November 2018, Mr. Ying served as an independent
non-executive director of Guangzhou Mobvista. From December 2013
to April 2016, Mr. Ying served as the independent director of China
CYTS Tours Holding Co., Ltd. (Shanghai Stock Exchange Stock Code:
600138).

Mr. Ying received his bachelor’s degree in economics from Renmin
University of China in 1991.

Mr. WANG Jianxin (£ £ #7)

Mr. WANG, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Group in October 2018. He is responsible for providing
independent advice and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Wang currently has served as an independent director of Chongging
Fuling Zhacai Group Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 002507) since 2014. From 2012 to 2018, Mr. Wang served as
an independent director of Shenzhen Goodix Technology Co., Ltd.
(Shanghai Stock Exchange Stock Code: 603160). Mr. Wang used to
serve as an independent director of Guangdong Highsun Group Co.,
Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock Code: 000861) from 2011 to
2015. Prior to that, he served as an independent director of AVIC Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock Code: 000043) from
2010 to 2016.
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Mr. Wang has more than 20 years of extensive professional experience
in investment, finance, accounting and tax. He has been a partner of
Shenzhen branch of Shinewing (HK) CPA Limited since 2007.

Mr. Wang was accredited as a Certified Public Accountant by the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1996. He obtained
his bachelor’s degree in auditing from Zhongnan University of Finance
and Economics in 1994.

Mr. HU Jie (3 )

Mr. HU, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Group in October 2018. He is responsible for providing
independent advice and judgment to our Board.

Mr. Hu has been serving as the vice general manager of the group of
Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (HKEx Stock Code: 02777) since
2002. Mr. Hu has also been serving as the board secretary since 2007.
Mr. Hu has been a member of the M&A Financing Committee of the
China Association for Public Companies since 2014.

Mr. Hu received his master’s degree in economics from Jinan University
in 2000.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SONG Xiaofei (5 % )

Mr. SONG, aged 32, is the chief financial officer of the Company and is
responsible for the Group’s overall financial management. Mr. Song joined
the Group in 2015.

Mr. Song was accredited as a Certified Public Accountant (non-practising)
by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 2017.

Mr. Song received his bachelor’s degree from Guangdong University of
Foreign Studies in 2008, majoring in English Linguistics.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEN Qiaofeng (Ff 15 £%)

Mr. CHEN, aged 38, is the vice president of the Company,
primarily responsible for the Group’s greater China business. Mr. CHEN
joined us in 2014.

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree from Zhejiang University in
2008, majoring in chemical engineering and technology.

Mr. LI Tianhui (3 H 1&)

Mr. LI, aged 37, is the human resources director of the Company,
primarily responsible for the Group’s human resources management.
Mr. Li joined the Group in 2014.

Mr. Li graduated from Nanchang University in 2003, majoring in
environmental engineering.

Ms. YANG Ying (1% %)

Ms. YANG, aged 28, is the head of Southeast Asia and Europe
regions of the Company, primarily responsible for business development
and management, especially in Asia and Europe. Ms. Yang joined the
Group in 2014 as the business manager.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor’s degree from Zhejiang University in
2013, majoring in English.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April 2018
as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman lIslands. We are a leading technology platform providing
mobile advertising and mobile analytics services to the mobile app
developers globally.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year
by principal activities is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 28 in this annual report and
note 3 to the financial statement.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The financial results of the Group for 2018 are set out on pages 77 to 84
of this annual report.

FOUR YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The four year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 6 in the
section headed “Four-Year Financial Summary” of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 34.8% of the
Group’s total revenue. The Group’s largest customer accounted for
23.2% of the Group’s total revenue.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 33.3% of the
Group’s total purchase. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for 8.0%
of the Group’s total purchase.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No final dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
on pages 8 to 12, “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages
13 to 28 and “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 52 to 65 in
this annual report. In addition, a discussion on relationships with its key
stakeholders is included in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis”. The review and discussion form part of this directors’
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 10 to the
financial statements on page 139 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material incompliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. Further details of the
Group’s environmental policies and performance will be disclosed in the
environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to be published in July 2019.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements on page 161 to 163 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note
23 to the financial statements on page 164 of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s distributable reserve were
US$191.3 million.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 12 December 2018 by way of global offering, raising total
net proceeds of US$146.6 million after deducting professional fees,
underwriting commissions and other related listing expenses.

As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO Proceeds are
set out as follows:

° Approximately 30% of the IPO Proceeds (approximately US$44.0
million) will be used for enhancing our strengths in big data and
Al technologies and IT infrastructure;

° Approximately 30% of the IPO Proceeds (approximately US$44.0
million) will be used for enhancing and improving the services on
our mobile advertising and mobile analytics platform;

° Approximately 10% of the IPO Proceeds (approximately US$14.7
million) will be used for continuing implementation of our
“Glocal” strategy by enhancing our local service capabilities and
expanding our global footprint;

° Approximately 20% of the IPO Proceeds (approximately US$29.3
million) will be used for making additional strategic investments
and acquisitions to expand our ecosystem;

° Approximately 10% of the IPO Proceeds (approximately US$14.7
million) will be used for general working capital.

Since the Listing Date as of 31 December 2018, the Group has not
utilized any IPO Proceeds. The Group will gradually utilize the IPO
Proceeds in accordance with the intended purposes as disclosed in the
Prospectus.
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DIRECTORS

During the period and up to the date of this annual report, the Board

currently consists of the following seven Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. DUAN Wei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CAO Xiaohuan

Mr. Xl Yuan

Mr. FANG Zikai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YING Lei
Mr. HU Jie
Mr. WANG Jianxin

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the

Group are set out in this annual report in the section headed “Profile of

Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 33.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

(a)

(b)

Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company on 19 June 2018. Each service contract was
for an initial term of three years (subject always to re-election
as and when required under the Articles of Association) until
termination.

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of
three years on 31 October 2018 (subject always to re-election
as and when required under the Articles of Association) until
termination.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation
given by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five
highest paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 8 to the financial
statements on pages 136 of this annual report.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for the year ended 31 December 2018, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

We have entered into confidentiality and non-competition agreements
with our Directors and management. During the year, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group,
other than being a director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance subsisted in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly, during or at the end of 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance is currently in force and was in force during the Listing Date to
the date of this annual report.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2018 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of our Controlling Shareholders
undertook to the Company in a deed of non-competition that, subject
to and except as mentioned in the Prospectus, the Controlling
Shareholders would not and shall procure that its/his associates
(excluding the Group) will not carry on, engage, invest, participate
or otherwise be interested in any business in the mobile advertising
and mobile analytics business as described in the Prospectus that is
currently or intended to be carried on by the Company in any part of the
world.

Each of them has confirmed in writing to the Company of their
compliance with the deed of non-competition for disclosure in this
annual report during the financial year of 2018. No new business
opportunity was informed by them as at 31 December 2018. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the implementation
of the deed of non-compete undertaking and are of the view that
the non-competition undertakings have been complied with by the
Controlling Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2018.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
year ended 31 December 2018.
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RSU SCHEMES

ZREIR G EMEE

(a)

Employee RSU Scheme

We adopted the Employee RSU Scheme on 27 September 2018
and amended on 19 November 2018 to incentivize employees
and consultants. The Company has appointed Sovereign
Trustees Limited as the Employee RSU Trustee to assist with
the administration and vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the
Employee RSU Scheme. The Company selects the Employee
RSU Participants under the RSU Scheme at its discretion.

The Employee RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the date of the first
grant of the RSUs, being 1 November 2018.

As of 31 December 2018, RSUs in respect of 49,454,400
underlying Shares representing approximately 3.3% of the
total issued shares had been granted to 236 RSU Participants
pursuant to the Employee RSU Scheme. None of the grantees
of the RSUs under the Employee RSU Scheme are Directors,
members of the senior management of the Company or
otherwise core connected person of the Company.

For the RSUs granted on 1 November 2018 to the grantees
under the Employee RSU Scheme, they shall (unless our Board
shall otherwise determine and so notify the Employee RSU

Participant in writing) vest as follows:

(i) as to approximately 10% of the RSUs on 2 January 2019;

(i) as to approximately 4% of the RSUs on 30 April 2019;

(iif) as to approximately 52% of the RSUs on 2 January 2020;

(iv) as to approximately 8% of the RSUs on 30 April 2020;

(v) as to approximately 23% of the RSUs on 2 January 2021;

and

(vi) as to approximately 3% of the RSUs on 30 April 2021.
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(b)

Management RSU Scheme

We adopted the Management RSU Scheme on 19 November
2018 to incentivize directors, senior management, officers
and consultants of the Company or its subsidiaries for their
contribution to the Group. The Company has appointed
Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited as the Management
RSU Trustee to assist with the administration and vesting of
RSUs granted pursuant to the Management RSU Scheme. As
of the date of 31 December 2018, Connected Globe Holdings
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Management RSU
Trustee) holds 11,150,300 Shares underlying the RSUs for the
benefit of eligible participants pursuant to the Management RSU
Scheme.

The Management RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the date of the first
grant of the RSUs, being 21 November 2018.

(b)
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As of the date of 31 December 2018, RSUs in respect of 7R2018% 12 A31H -+ % K& 11,150,300 % 4
11,150,300 underlying Shares, representing approximately 1% SRR MEEM(BERE BTG
of the total issued shares, had been granted to 6 Management BEHO1% CBRESEESR B IRMEA
RSU Participants pursuant to the Management RSU Scheme. EE TR EEBESBRIRMDEMNRA
Among the grantees of the RSUs, two are Directors, three are E-EXREIRODEMHARAZY W
members of the senior management of our Company and one is BRBEE ZZAEARLASREEEKE
an entity wholly-owned by a member of the senior management F—BAEARAaREREKEZERSA
of our Company, details of which are set out in the table below. MER  B@FBETX -

Approximate
Name of Number of percentage of
Grantees of RSUs Role Shares Date of Grant issued shares
SZRERGEN SR K7 EERTROH
RRAES p=f=) BEURGHYE REAH HNED

Directors and senior management of the Company

EERANFIBREERE

Mr. XI Yuan (2 R) Executive Director and vice president of the Company 1,739,000 21 November, 2018 0.1%

ER%4E ARABMITESERALEH 1,739,000 2018%11A21H 0.1%

Mr. FANG Zikai (5 T 18) Executive Director and vice president of the Company 2,969,100 21 November, 2018 0.2%

FFiERE ARRRNTEERENAH 2,969,100 2018 11A21H 0.2%

Mr. SONG Xiaofei (K £ )" Chief financial officer of the Company 2,344,400 21 November, 2018 0.2%!

RERLEED ARAIERMBERE 2,344,4000 2018411 21 A0 0.2%

Mr. CHEN Qiaofeng (B8 T54%)  Vice president of the Company 747,100 21 November, 2018 0.1%

BRI EE NS ey 747100 2018F 118218 0.1%

Mr. LI Tianhui (32 H 1) Human resources director of the Company 1,839,100 21 November, 2018 0.1%

REBEE ARAANERBE 1,839,100 2018%11A21H 0.1%

Ms. YANG Ying (5 &) Head of Southeast Asia and Europe regions of the 1,511,600 21 November, 2018 0.1%

Company

BERT ARRREERBMNLEEE 1,511,600 2018%11A21H 0.1%

Total

Bt

6 grantees 11,150,300 21 November, 2018 0.7%

BREFR A 11,150,300 2018411 A21H 0.7%

Notes: BEsE

©) The RSUs representing 2,344,400 Shares were granted to Sierra Xray 1) W% 2,344,400 O X REBRHEMD
Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. # FSierra Xray Limited (— R ERBRE X HE
SONG Xiaofei. The registered address of Sierra Xray Limited is Mill Mall, SRR ARERECELZEHSE) °
Suite 6, Wickhams Cay 1, P.0.Box 3085, Road Town, Tortola, the BVI. Sierra Xray Limitedf) 3+ fit #5 #F AMil Mall,

Suite 6, Wickhams Cay 1, P.O.Box 3085, Road
Town, Tortola, the BVI °
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For the RSUs granted on 21 November 2018 to the grantees
under the Management RSU Scheme, they shall (unless our
Board shall otherwise determine and so notify the Management
RSU Participant in writing) vest as follows:

(i) as to approximately 43% of the RSUs on 30 April 2019;

(i) as to approximately 41% of the RSUs on 30 April 2020;
and

(iif) as to approximately 16% of the RSUs on 30 April 2021.

Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme conditionally approved and adopted by our Shareholders on
30 October 2018 and its implementation is conditional on the Listing.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivize and reward
the Eligible Persons for their contribution to our Group and to align their
interests with that of our Company so as to encourage them to work
towards enhancing the value of our Company.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes (the “Other Schemes”) of our Company is
1,518,867 shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in
issue as at the Listing Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

No options shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the Share
Option Scheme and any Other Schemes of our Company which, if
exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming entitled to
subscribe for such number of Shares as, when aggregated with the
total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to him under all
options granted to him (including exercised, canceled and outstanding
Options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer of
such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date, after which period no further
options will be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto which are at that
time or become thereafter capable of exercise under the Share Option
Scheme, or otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no share option was
outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

(a)

Name of Director

Interest in Shares

Nature of Interest

EERTHRASIRESNES

R2018F12A831H ' ARAEBEFRITRAHE R A
AEIRBAEEE(EERLES B EEHENEXV
H)MYD  HERORESFTHESQREZES K
HEIEOIEXVERET R FE8D BAME KR A) KRB
R (BRERBEES MBS KRGS - WE 1Ek
BREBNEZIORE) O BEES RBEK
PIEE3B21{E AR AZIEF FTIENZLME iR
BEETFHEMNEAARRBIAMNERII AR
NN

(@) RAQRTARMGEER

Approximate

percentage of the

Number of ordinary
shares interested

Company’s
issued share capital

Lo NN )
BEEEN BITRAMN
EEMR EEME LTERHE BB
Mr. DUAN Wei Interest in controlled corporation 1,127,999,842 (L)@ 74.3%
1235842 ZEHEENES
Note: ffsE -

(1)

44 WMobuvista Inc.

Guangzhou Mobvista, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Seamless,
holds 1,127,999,842 Share of our Company, representing 74.3% of total
number of Shares. Mr. Duan, Guangzhou Huimao, and Horgos Duanshi
Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd.* directly holds 12.94%, 17.97%
and 4.20% interest in Guangzhou Mobvista, respectively. The general
partner of Guangzhou Huimao is Guangzhou Huisui, which is owned
by Mr. Duan as to 95%. Guangzhou Huisui holds the entire voting and
disposition power in Guangzhou Huimao. Therefore, Mr. Duan is deemed
to be interested in Guangzhou Huimao’s interest in Guangzhou Mobvista
under the SFO. Horgos Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co.,
Ltd. is wholly-owned by Mr. Duan; therefore, Mr. Duan is deemed to be
interested in Horgos Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd.’s
interest in Guangzhou Mobvista under the SFO. As a result, Mr. Duan is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 35.11% interest in Guangzhou
Mobuvista, and thus is further deemed to be interested in the 1,127,999,842
Shares of our Company which Guangzhou Mobvista is interested in.

L: Long Position
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AR F,127,999,8420% & 15 - B E B & TR
MBET43% - B E - BENEBRRERR
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(b)

Interest in associated corporation

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEHRE

(b) RAFEEE B AR

Approximate

percentage of

Registered capital shareholding in

Name of of the associated the associated
Director Associated Corporation corporation  Nature of interests Number of shares corporation
HECEE N BakE

Esng HEEE OMER EHEME gt Al

Mr. DUAN Weit) Guangzhou Mobvista RMB372,644,072  Beneficial owner 48,207,872 (L)@ 12.94%

RE L& BN GE 8 Rt ARBI2604,072T EREBA

RMB372,644,072  Interest in controlled corporation 82,625,776 (L) 22.17%
ARB32644072 R BHEBMER
Mr. CAO Xiaohuan® Guangzhou Mobvista RMB372,644,072  Beneficial owner 2,410,496 () 0.65%
ERERE BN EE 2 R f7 ARBI2644,072T EREBA
RMB372,644,072  Interest in controlled corporation 16,575,860 (L) 4.45%
ARBI2644072 R BHEBMESR

Notes: MI3E -

1) Mr. Duan, Guangzhou Huimao, and Horgos Duanshi Pearl River Equity 1 Bad BEMNERRERRITRRKTRE
Investment Co., Ltd. directly holds 12.94%, 17.97% and 4.20% interest REBRARDREEREEMNEZE KM
in Guangzhou Mobvista, respectively. The general partner of Guangzhou 12.94% ~ 17.97% % 4.20%E 25 ~ & N & 2 1)
Huimao is Guangzhou Huisui, which is owned by Mr. Duan as to 95%. TEABABEMNER EBMERBRLEE
Guangzhou Huisui holds the entire voting and disposition power in BH% - BINERIEE EIMNEBRSFT A&
Guangzhou Huimao. Therefore, Mr. Duan is deemed to be interested in ZEREEE Bt  REIFHFRBEKM -
Guangzhou Huimao’s interest in Guangzhou Mobvista under the SFO. BEAEWEARENEZRREMNEZRNK
Horgos Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd. is wholly-owned R HEED ERRITRKKIRER
by Mr. Duan; therefore, Mr. Duan is deemed to be interested in Horgos EERARBRTEZERS Bt - B
Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd.’s interest in Guangzhou BHERBEGKD BEEHEARERRE
Mobvista under the SFO. BERKIRERERRAANEMNESRD

WERPEEER -

@ Mr. Cao, Horgos Huichun Equity Investment Co., Ltd. and Fengli Trust ©) BLE ERRTEEZREREERAAR
directly holds 0.65%, 1.28% and 3.17% interest in Guangzhou Mobvista, BREEDEEREREMESRKH0.65% -
respectively. Horgos Huichun Equity Investment Co., Ltd. is a company 1.28%N3.17%HEzs - ERMRETEZRERE
wholly-owned by Mr. Cao. The trustee and sole beneficiary of Fengli Trust ERAFRIR—FREEXEL2EHANRQR °
is Guangzhou Huigian. The general partner of Guangzhou Huigian is Mr. LREENZITARE—SFHFAABEMNE
Cao, who held 1% interest in Guangzhou Huigian. The limited partners Bo-BEMNEBNERERAARELE BX
of Guangzhou Huigian are Mr. Xi, Mr. Fang, Mr. WANG Ping and Horgos ERBEINEBM1%EZ - BEINEBNE
Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (a company wholly-owned REBABERYE Fh4E TFEERE
by Mr. Duan), holding 27.26%, 27.26%, 27.26% and 17.21% interest in BENMBRKIREREFRLAB(—KA
Guangzhou Huigian, respectively. Currently the general partner, namely BEE2ERANRR) HEIRBFEERE
Mr. Cao, holds the entire voting and disposition power in Guangzhou I BE 7B 27.26% ~ 27.26% * 27.26% % 17.21%
Huigjian. Bm o BAIEBEAEBABEEE)BREENM

BEENMEREREERE -

®3) L: Long Position 3) L: F&
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons will have interests or
short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or, will be, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of our Company and are therefore
regarded as substantial shareholders of our Company under the Listing

FERRRESFNES

201812 A31H » T3 AT iR A% 7 3 48 B Bk
MARERBREZ S RBEEIEXVEEE2RID I
WENETERENERIORE A EEIHE
BEWERMNATEEMABRLTTERRAINKRRERXR

e

EE MR RIAR A EE10%30A £ Ry s

AURELETRAUBRESARAEERR ¢

Rules:
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held in our company
RAEQXAMN
BRERB B REnHE KRG B BaLk
Seamless Teohnology Limited®  Beneficial owner 1,127,999,842 (L)@ 74.3%
I 7% 4 17 B BR 2 &) EnEAA
Guangzhou Mobvista® Interest in controlled corporation 1,127,999,842 (L) 74.3%
J& M B = A% REHEEER
Mr. DUAN Wei®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,127,999,842 (L) 74.3%
ER Bl %t 4@ REHEEER
Notes: BRE -
) Seamless holds 1,127,999,842 Shares in the Company, representing 74.3% of (1) B 57 # A A A F11,127,999,842 K A% 17 - HHE R B 3
the issued shares. Seamless is wholly-owned by Guangzhou Mobvista. Therefore, TR A743% - JEmBAEMEERNDE2EHES - A
Guangzhou Mobvista is deemed to be interested in the 1,127,999,842 Shares held b - BMEERMOIREZFRAE KA ffﬁ RABRIE

by Seamless under the SFO.

2 Mr. Duan, Guangzhou Huimao and Horgos Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment
Co., Ltd. directly holds 12.94%, 17.97% and 4.20% interest in Guangzhou
Mobvista, respectively. The general partner of Guangzhou Huimao Investment
Management Center (Limited Partnership) is Guangzhou Huisui, which is owned
by Mr. Duan as to 95%); Guangzhou Huisui holds the entire voting and disposition
power in Guangzhou Huimao. Therefor, Mr. Duan is deemed to be interested in
Guangzhou Huimao’s interest in Guangzhou Mobvista under the SFO. Horgos
Duanshi Pearl River Equity Investment Co., Ltd. is wholly-owned by Mr. Duan;
therefore, Mr. Duan is deemed to be interested in Horgos Duanshi Pearl River
Equity Investment Co., Ltd.’s interest in Guangzhou Mobvista under the SFO. As
a result, Mr. Duan is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 35.11% interest
in Guangzhou Mobvista, and thus is further deemed to be interested in the
1,127,999,842 Shares which Guangzhou Mobvista is interested in.

©)) L: Long Position
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 735 full-time employees.
As a percentage of the total full-time employees, R&D employee
percentage is 49.1%. The Group enters into employment contracts with
its employees to cover matters such as position, term of employment,
wages, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for
termination.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Company are set out
in note 20 to the financial statements in this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Property Lease Agreements

We entered into four property lease agreements with Mobvista Co.,
Ltd, Guangzhou Ruisou, Guangzhou Huichun, and Duanshi Investment,
respectively (together the “Property Lease Agreements”), on 1 July 2018
and further amended on 28 September 2018.

On 23 December 2018, Mobvista (Guangzhou) Technology Limited (the
company’s subsidiary) signed a termination agreement with Mobvista
Co., Ltd. So far, the property lease agreement between them has not
been fulfilled.

According to the property lease agreement valid as of 31 December
2018, Guangzhou Ruisou, Guangzhou Huichun, and Duanshi
Investment leased certain properties to our Group with a total area of
approximately 5,339 square meters.
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The principal terms of the Property Lease Agreements are as follows:

Approximate  Approximate
gross floor  Monthly Rental Duration of
Landlord Tenant Location area(sq.m.) (RMB) Intended use ~ Agreement
BAER HHSRES
HHEA EEA HENE (Fr%) (AR#%) i GEELE
Guangzhou Ruisou Mobvista Technology Units 02-04 and 06-12 of 44/F, and 4,719 2018: RMB1,321,427.2 Office Three years
Units 01-04 and 06-12 of 43/F, (equivalent to US$190,507.7)
Tianying Plaza (East Tower), No. 2019: RVMB1,354,462.9
222-3, Xingmin Road, Zhujiang New (equivalent to US$195,270.4)
Town, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, 2020: RMB1,422,186.0
PRC (equivalent to US$205,033.9)
BMNER EERES PEEMTRARKLHHERE 20185F : A\R¥13214272 WA 3F
220-3% R RS (R ) 441802-04 (H5R190,507.7%7T)
M06-12% R431801-04106-12% 2019% © AR1,354,462.97C
(5M95,270.4% )
2020F : AR #1,422,186.07C
(15 1205,083.9% )
Guangzhou Huichun ~ Mobvista Technology Unit 05, 43/F, Tianying Plaza (East 310 2018: RMB86,906.7 (equivalent  Office Three years
Tower), No. 222-3, Xingmin Road, to US$12,529.2)
Zhujiang New Town, Tianhe District, 2019: RMB89,079.4 (equivalent
Guangzhou, PRC to US$12,842.4)
2020: RMB93,533.3 (equivalent
to US$13,484.5)
EMEZ EEEE REIEM TR B RILH AR R 2018F : A\R®86006.7T MR 3%
2223 KRB, (RIB) 431805 % (BEMM2522%TT)
2019 : AR80,079.47T
(BEM28424%TT)
2020F : AR%93,533.37T
(BER134845%5TT)
Duanshi Investment Mobvista Technology Unit 05, 44/F, Tianying Plaza (East 310 2018: RMB86,744.7 (equivalent  Office Three years
Tower), No. 222-3, Xingmin Road, to US$12,505.8)
Zhujiang New Town, Tianhe District, 2019: RMB88,913.3 (equivalent
Guangzhou, PRC to US$12,818.5)
2020: RMBY3,359.0 (equivalent
to US$13,459.4)
BR#&E EEEE REEMT AT BTN ERRE 2018F : A\R®867447T WD 3%
2223 RBES (RIE) 441805 % (B5M2,505.8% L)
2019F : AR%8891337T
(1BSMM28185% )
2020F : AR%93,359.07T
(FBER1345045 TT)
48 Mobvistalnc. EERFEBRAD A



Annual caps

For the years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, the total
amount of the rental to be paid by our Group to Guangzhou Ruisou,
Guangzhou Huichun and Duanshi Investment under the Property Lease
Agreements shall not exceed the following caps:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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FE LR

H Z20184F - 20194F K 202012 A31 B L FE -
BEYVERSHE: A£EBEIXNATREMNEE -
EMEZMBEREEMNHSEBEINSBBTY L
iR :

Proposed annual caps for the year ending December 31,1

BZ12ABLEENERFE LR
2018 2019 2020
20184 2019 2020

Rentals payable by our Group to Guangzhou Ruisou, Guangzhou Huichun,
and Duanshi Investment

TEERMEMER BMEZRRERENES

RMB3.4 million®@ RMB21.1 million RMB22.2 million
(equivalent to (equivalent to (equivalent to
US$0.5 million) US$3.0 million) US$3.2 million)
ARE34BETY ARB211BET ARK20288T

(EER05EEET) (HER0BEEXRT) (HER32BEXT)

Note:

(1) All the amounts in the above table are presented in millions and have been rounded
to the nearest thousands in whole numbers.

2 The proposed annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2018 is calculated

considering the estimated length of the lease period for such year.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions set out above and have confirmed that they
were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) according to the agreement governing them on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Save for disclosed above, from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018,
we have not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules
14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

Q) tRFOAESEOUBEREM YD MERA
EREONTRTEY -

@) HE2018F12A3ALFENEZFE LRIKEE
EREENGIHAHEETE -
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KPMG, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the
Company’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000(Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
KPMG have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange

In the year ended 31 December 2018, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred was approximately is USD53,000.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 26 to the financial statements
contained herein.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

As at the year ended 31 December 2018, no pre-emptive rights have
been granted.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any member of the Group has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the period from
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a public
float of no less than 25% of the issued shares as at the date of this
annual report, which was in line with the requirement under the Listing
Rules.

EENKARDA
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The registers of members of the Company will be closed from 3 June to
6 June 2019, both days inclusive, in order to determine the eligibility of
the Shareholders to attend and vote at AGM to be held on Thursday, 6
June 2019, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of
shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and properly
completed transfer forms must be lodged with the branch share
registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2019.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 4 January 2019, the over-allotment option of the Group was partially
exercised and an aggregate of 15,337,000 shares were issued at a price
of HK$4.00 per share accordingly.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2018 have been audited by KPMG, certified public
accountants. KPMG will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board
DUAN Wei
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CRERRE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance by focusing on the principles of integrity,
accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness.
The Company has developed and implemented sound corporate
governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for
performing such corporate governance duties. The Board will continue
to review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as
well as various internal policies and procedures, including but not limited
to those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and
regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules other than code provision A.2.1, which
stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. DUAN Wei is the chairman of our Board and the chief executive
officer of our Company. With extensive experience in the mobile
advertising and mobile analytics industry, Mr. DUAN Wei is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and general management of our
Group and has been an is instrumental part of our growth and business
expansion since our establishment. Our Board considers that vesting
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of our Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and our
Board, which comprises experienced and high-caliber individuals.

Our Board currently comprises four executive Directors (including
Mr. DUAN Wei) and three independent non-executive Directors and
therefore its composition has a fairly strong element of independence.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group.
The Board oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three
Board committees including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated
to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective
terms of reference.
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All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

The Board consists of seven Directors, including four executive
Directors, and three independent non-executive Directors. The Broad
is comprised of Mr. DUAN Wei (the chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. CAO Xiaochuan, Mr. XI Yuan and Mr. FANG Zikai
as executive Directors; Mr. YING Lei, Mr. HU Jie and Mr. WANG Jianxin
as independent non-executive Directors.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Profile of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Board has met at all times the requirements under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors with at least one
independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

Diversity of the Board

Our Directors have a balanced mix of experiences and industry
background, including but not limited to experiences in advertising,
financial, technology, mobile Internet and securities industries. Our
Directors obtained degrees in various majors including system
science, communication engineering, mathematics, micro-electronics
and solid-state electronics, economics and auditing. We have
three independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing more than one third of the members of our
Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of its Broad members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Pursuant to our Board diversity policy, selection of
Board candidate will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and
regional experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Broad.
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The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Company aims to
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board
that is relevant to the Company’s business growth.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a director of
the Company, the Nomination Committee would consider the above
criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve
Board diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendations to
the Board.

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) with any other
Director and chief executive.

All Directors attended various trainings in the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2018, including trainings regarding the updating
of the Listing Rules, the responsibilities and continuous obligations of
Directors and the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide. The Company had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in
order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their
continuous professional development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving its
internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision and
control, and risk management.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with the
Company on 19 June 2018. Each service contract was for an initial term
of three years (subject always to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association) until termination.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years on
31 October 2018 (subject always to re-election as and when required
under the Articles of Association) until termination.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors, or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less
than, one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. This is provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years. A retiring Director shall remain in office until the close
of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election
thereafter. The Company at any annual general meeting at which any
Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing the same number
of persons to be Directors.

The Articles of Association set out the procedures and process for the
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
employees in the Group are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s remuneration policies are based on the merit, qualifications
and competence of individual employees and are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee periodically. The emoluments of the Directors
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and are decided
by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times per year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. An
annual general meeting shall be called by not less than 21 days’ notice
in writing and any extraordinary general meeting shall be called by not
less than 14 days’ notice in writing.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally required to be given. The agenda and accompanying board
papers shall be dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee
members at least 3 days before the meeting to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the relevant papers and are adequately
prepared for the meeting. When Directors or Board Committee
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the
matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views
known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are
kept by the joint company secretaries with copies circulated to all
Directors or Board Committee members for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded and in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the
Board and the Board Committees and the decisions reached are noted,
including concerns raised by the Directors/Board Committee members.
Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board meeting and
Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/Board Committee
members for comment within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.

As the Company was listed on 12 December 2018 but the Board did
not have any matters to discuss during the period from Listing Date to
31 December 2018, a Board meeting was held on 29 March 2019 to
consider and approve the final results. The Company will fully comply
with the requirement under the code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code
of convene Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves its right to decide on all major matters of the
Company, including: the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, the appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. Directors may
have recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing
their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access
and to consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to the management entering into any
significant transactions.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognizes that corporate
governance should be the collective responsibility of the Directors which
includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

&k to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4, to develop, review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations
to the Board and report to the Board on matters; and

59 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Company was complied with the relevant CG Code provisions from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2018.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, Mr. WANG Jianxin
(Chairman), Mr. YING Lei and Mr. HU Jie, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(c) to develop and implement policies on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services;

(d) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual reports, accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them. In reviewing these
reports before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee
shall focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;
(i) major judgmental areas;

(iif) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting.
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regarding paragraph (d) above: (i) Members shall liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Company and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s
auditors; and (ii) the Audit Committee shall consider any
significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, and it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or auditors;

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless expressly
addressed by a separate board risk committee, or by the board
itself, to review the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion shall include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of
the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the Corporate
Governance Code;
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(n) to review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and to ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(0) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relation with the external auditor;

(P) to review ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensure compliance with terms of approval by shareholders of the
Company; and

(Q) to consider such other matters as the Board may from time to
time determine.

The Audit Committee did not hold any meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including one Executive Director namely Mr. DUAN Wei (chairman) and
two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.YING Lei and Mr.
HU Jie.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

(@) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and to select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors of the Company; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors of the Company and succession
planning for directors of the Company, in particular, the chairman
and the chief executive of the Company.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any meetings from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2018.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ying Lei and Mr. Hu
Jie and one Executive Directors namely Mr. CAO Xiaohuan.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;

(b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(c) either:

(i) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management of the Company; or

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management of the Company.

This should, include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors of the Company;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions of
the Company and its subsidiaries;

4] to consider the levels of remuneration required to attract and
retain the directors to run the Company successfully;

(9) to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management of the Company for any loss or
termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent
with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(h) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and
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(i) to ensure that no director of the Company or any of his or her
associates is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meetings from the
Listing Date to 31 December 2018.

Remuneration of Directors

Please refer to note 7 to the financial statements for details of the
remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Please refer to note 8 to the financial statements for details of the
remuneration by band of Directors of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

External Auditors
KPMG are appointed as the external auditors of the Company upon the

recommendation of the Audit Committee.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, KPMG, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

0) BRBMEARAEFHHEIMABEASE
FIEEARARFBH -

BT HZE2018F12A31H ' FMZE e WELR
TEMEE -

EEFM

EBEEE208FE12AMB I FEEEEKENH
BEE1S - B2 ERERM &7 -

BE2018F12A3IHIEFEARRESTHFNEE
HIE BLMM B HRERMES -

ESHMBBERNUBRJEL

EEPHABEIHFEEE E2018F12A31HIEFE
MM BHRE  NEEFERBAQARAEEMN
MAANRAEENELEHBESRE -ESHIA
BEBEWAIEHASEENFESE L NBRE
ERENEHRBRZAMNEATEERE -

T ARARRGAMBERRPREENRR
ERNAFROBIZBMBE | — & -

S0 B A% BB
EERBHMEHNOREREE R HERE
EEERARR BN XA -

TX#E5I#HZE2018F12 831 B (FF E st F5t RS
RFBARBINTFARAIIBEBMESTHRE
SRV EB AT & DA

Fee Paid/Payable

e/ EREA

(USs$)

Service Category Bk 75 38 Bl (%7T)
Audit Services EiT RS 332,000
Non-audit Services IEE RS 1,155,000
Total At 1,487,000

The fees attributable to the non-audit services above mainly include the
service fee paid to KPMG as the reporting accountants of the Company
in connection with the initial public offering.

EENKARDA

PRFBRABRBAEERTIECRREAERFE
EXNTFARABRBRSIMNESFSHSAMELH
B R & -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct governing the securities
transactions by the Directors. Following a specific enquiry made by the
Company on each of the Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they had complied with the Model Code during the year under review.

For the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018, the Company
has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding employees’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the standard set
out in the Model Code for the compliance by its relevant employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company in respect of their dealings in the Company’s securities.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the Company has established
and maintained adequate and effective risk management and internal
control systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company also
has an internal audit function which primarily carries out the analysis
and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems. The Board
was satisfied with the internal audit function.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture, through
the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure the long-term
growth and sustainable development of the Company’s business.

The Company has established a risk management system which sets
out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party as well as the
relevant risk management policies and processes. Each business group
of the Company, on a regular basis, identifies and assesses risk factors
that may negatively impact the achievement of its objectives, and
formulates appropriate response measures.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company adopted
dynamic risk management processes including risk identification, risk
analysis, risk assessment, risk response, risk monitoring, and risk
reporting in response to identifying significant risks of the Company.
Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors and
senior management to review and monitor the business and financial
performance against the targets, the progress of certification and
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contract receipts from customers, the efficiency in the use of the
Group’s resources in comparison to the budgets, and operational
matters to ensure the Group has complied with the regulations that
have material impact on the Group’s business. The aim is to enhance
the communication and accountability of the Directors and management
so that significant strategic, financial, operational and compliance risks
or potential deviations are identified and dealt with in proper and timely
manner and that, significant issues are reported back to the Board for
their attention.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of
the Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated
by the management in compliance with the agreed procedures and
standards. The review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
The review was conducted through discussions with the management
of the Company, its external and internal auditors and the assessment
performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that the
existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Since 14 June 2018, Mr. QIAN Cheng and Ms. SO Shuk Yi Betty
were appointed as the joint company secretaries of the Company.
These individuals are responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policies and
procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Mr. QIAN Cheng and Ms. SO Shuk Yi Betty have complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant
professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity for
the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors.

EENKARDA
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder meetings.
All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company at 43/F, Tianying Plaza (East Tower), No. 222-3 Xingmin
Road Zhujiang New Town, Tianhe District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, PRC.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting of the Company according to the Articles of Association. Any
one or more members holding as of date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or joint company
secretaries of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitions(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitions(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitions(s) by the
Company.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Since the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report - the
Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association.
An up to date version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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B B ET R

To the shareholders of Mobvista Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Mobvista Inc.
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 77
to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Revenue recognition

WA TR

B ZBERE

Refer to note 3 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 120.

BRE BRI TR 1208 89 & 51 E R -

The Key Audit Matter
BEETER

The Group’s revenue, which comprises primarily income
from provision of mobile advertising services, totalled
US$434,688,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018.
HZE2018F12A31A L FE  E&EEXTERERHEREY
F& 5 AR 75 1) 48 A 48 88 /5 434,688,000% 7T °

Revenue is recognised when the related services are delivered
based on the specific terms of the contract. The Group uses
a number of different information technology (“IT”) systems
to track specified actions as specified in related customer
contracts. The calculation of the mobile advertising services
charges are automatically performed by the technology
platform based on pre-defined key parameters, including unit
price and volume. These IT systems are complex and process
large volumes of data during the year.
EEERBRBEARBSNGRIMEEREEERIA -
EEEGERETTIRNESRM(NIT)) R KR BAEMT
PEXNFNETED BHESRBEH FRREMTA
BREBARECHNER2B(BREEBNRZE)8HER -
ZETARERIT RN AFEANRET REHE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESTNAREZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included the following:
BPARFERARBNEAEFEEATSE

° inspecting Group’s contracts with customers (on
a sample basis) to understand the terms of service
delivery and acceptance and assess the Group’s
revenue recognition policies with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

. MEREEEEEZTPNALN  UEHERE N
MBKGER W2ERTEFEANERTHE
EEMHRAERER

° with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
identifying and evaluating the key relevant IT systems
and the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls, with particular
emphasis on the capturing and recording of specified
action;

. EEFBABTERB T - BRI FZNHEETR
MW EHEARADERNORS  ATHNETH
MM ERETIEEEBNHBIRMLEIRE -
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B ZRE R E

Revenue recognition (continued)
WARR(E)

Refer to note 3 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 120.

BREEHREM TR 1208 89 & 51 E R -

The Key Audit Matter (continued)
EREFEEE)

Records of mobile advertising services charges are generated,
in an aggregated amount of each category, and are manually
input into the accounting system on a monthly basis.
BRHEERFENCDHERSBEANAARXBEBEK - I
BAATIBHAGI RS -

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter
because the reliance on complex IT systems, with the
subsequent manual input into the accounting system,
increases the risk of error in recording revenue.
ERHERTERNEBUEARBEATIWARFENT
WASE AR EERER - HPABKRARERBR R BB
BETFEE -

EENKARDA

How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued)

RANBFTNAEEZEE(E)

° with the assistance of our internal IT specialists,
assessing the calculation logic of the pre-defined
formulae built into the technology platform and the
related parameters (including unit price and transaction
volume) used in the calculation of mobile advertising
service charges;

. EEZFRANMBTER G T @ fHERMF AR -
AR EBRHEERBEENRABAAZFEESE
REBA2B(RREBNR5E)

o comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting system
of aggregate mobile advertising services revenue with
the reports generated by the IT systems;

. HEBBESREARASH R SR ASIEIERH
WABEALIEGG DA BETRGEKNRE LT
HLE

U comparing cash receipts from customers during the
year and subsequent to the financial year end with
invoices issued to customers during the year, on a
sample basis; and

. BFARATFEREBUDEFR N BRIEESF
NAEPRENBEZETHREEL &

° inspecting underlying documentation for other
manual journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to be material or met other specific risk-
based criteria.

. MERRAREN HESKSEARXATEEMETE
R\ iR A A T &5t 0 89 TR XM -
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Assessment of potential impairment of goodwill

R 1B B ST A

B ZBERE

Refer to Note 12 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 128.

BRI EIREN 12K 1288 1) & 51 2R -

The Key Audit Matter
BEETER

The carrying values of the Group’s goodwill as at 31
December 2018 amounted to US$28,998,000, of which
US$19,981,000 and US$9,017,000 relate to the acquisitions
of businesses from nativeX, LLC (“nativeX”) and Game
analytics ApS (“GA”) respectively. The goodwill recognised
from the acquisitions of businesses have been allocated to
the nativeX cash-generating unit (“CGU”) and the GA CGU
respectively.

R2018F 12A3TH EXEEBENREESAR
28,998,000 % st + £ # 19,981,000 % 7t 19,017,000 £ 7T
2 Bl 2 Uk B&nativeX, LLC ([nativeX]) FlGameanalyticsApS
([GADNEBHEA WBXBHEIATEEC 2R EE
natveXMGAZ B VIR S EHE T ©

Management performs impairment assessments of goodwill
annually. Management engaged an external valuer to assess
the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs using the value
in use method by preparing discounted cash flow forecasts
derived from the most recent financial forecast approved by
the management.
ERESFHRBRATREN G EREEFBIMMEE
ME O RKAEREEZEEBRSEEE LN ATRE R
BETHME  FEAREREEBHREN ST VKRR
HIBEIRI S M ETRA ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESTNAREZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
goodwill included the following:
BMARFEEERERRNEFEFOT ¢

° evaluating management’s impairment model, including
the identification of and the allocation of goodwill to
each CGU with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards;

. 2ERTGAENNER  FEEEENRERE
B oAEReELETNBIREEMNSRSE
HETHDE

° evaluating the competence, experience, capability
and objectivity of the external valuer engaged by
management to perform the valuation of the relevant
CGUs;

. HEEREMER HEBRSELBETHRITME
EOIBEERBHEE K& £ OIMTEHIL

o challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including revenue growth rate, by referring to industry
and other available third party information, the
recent financial performance of each CGU subject to
impairment assessment and the financial budget which
was approved by the management;

. ZEZAMEMABNE=78E  AETRHE
TN EREeEFE TN IRAMBESE  ARE
EREHAENMBEE BERAMRRESAEEAN

REARERETNRSR  BRERAERE
o comparing the actual results for the current year with

management’s estimates in their cash flow forecasts
for the previous year in order to assess the historical
accuracy of the management’s forecasting process;

. RAFENERRREEEEH F—FEHERN
EEANMAETLEER AT HEBRERANERF
BOE St AERE M
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B ZRE R E

Assessment of potential impairment of goodwill (continued)

7 B R (B L B ST A ()

Refer to Note 12 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 128.

BRI EIREN 12K 1288 1) & 51 2R -

The Key Audit Matter (continued)
EREFEEE)

The preparation of discounted cash flow forecasts involves
the exercise of significant judgement, particularly in estimating
the revenue growth rates and the discount rates applied.
ABRBERERANGEH (LTERW AL REMAATERA
REM GRS REEEHHHER -

We identified assessing potential impairment of goodwill as
a key audit matter because the impairment assessments
prepared by management are complex and contain certain
judgmental assumptions applied which could be subject to
management bias in their selection.
BRERERUNBENGEREERERNELERE
ERIXEEERAREFEEEERR BMEHERE
BT LB R — AR ETFIE -

70 Mobvistalnc. EERFEER AT

How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued)

RANBFTNAEEZEE(E)

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
in evaluating the valuation methodologies adopted by
the external valuer in the preparation of the discounted
cash flow forecasts with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards, and assessing
whether the discount rates applied in the discounted
cash flow forecasts were within the range adopted by
other companies in the same industry;
EEFHBEABEEERNHBE T - 2ERTEF
ERERFEINBEERBERTBBERSRE
BRARKANMGER L  UHGHRRREERENE
AP EANBREETERITEAHM D E KA
B &5 B A — B

obtaining from management sensitivity analysis of the
revenue growth rate and the discount rate adopted
in the discounted cash flow forecast and assessing
the impact of changes in the key assumptions on the
conclusions reached in the impairment assessments
and whether there were any indicators of management
bias; and
EREBERBARREINMYURESRERAFR
FRANBBREEHITHERXMEDN - WA EHBERER
FELHRETHERNITE UERREFEE
MERERR : &

considering the disclosures in the financial statements
in respect of management’s impairment assessments
of goodwill allocated to each CGU with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.

SERTEARUNER  EEEGAUBEHRR
TEEEHOBERRSCELE TR ERERT
R H W EE -
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Impairment of trade receivables

5 P& WK R B9 R {E

B ZBERE

Refer to note 15 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 102 and 128.

BRI EREN 15K 102K 1288 79 & 71 EA) -

The Key Audit Matter
BEETER

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, the
Group has trade receivables amounting to approximately
US$145,502,000 as at 31 December 2018. Impairment losses
of US$2,299,000 were recognised during the year ended 31
December 2018.

BBV BRI TI6KE - BE2018F12A8310 - &
E 8 E S W RIE QA /R145,502,000%% 7T © % FE A
T 3R B R 1B 18 2K /32,299,000 TT °

o

=
s

Trade receivables are generally due within 60 to 90 days from
the date of revenue recognition.
B 5 RKFIABEN B WAER HBE0EIORAEL -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESTNAREZEE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:
BPBRFEEZDERRFBRBENETREFOT :

° assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern
credit control, debt collection and the estimation of
loss allowance;

. FERARERERES WA EERSHEETH
B ARESINRE  BEMETHERML

assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables ageing report were classified within
the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing individual
items in the report with the relevant sales invoices;

. BAKE SR RERKRSES F8ER EEEHE
ERFTETHL  MEFAHZSEEEETNR

EA A\ g B 2E oAl L
ROEERBEE

° challenging management’ s estimation of expected
credit loss, taking into consideration the ageing of the
balances, credit terms, recent settlement patterns,
historical observed default rate and the forecast of
future economic conditions;

. EHEBEBELNTERERBELRMGLT AKER
BRENRR  FERER SONEEERX - BEE
REWBOX - A REARKEBEAMRTETEA
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B ZRE R E

Impairment of trade receivables (continued)

ESRWKENREE)

Refer to note 15 to the financial statements and the accounting policies on page 102 and 128.

BRI EREN 15K 102K 1288 79 & 71 EA) -

The Key Audit Matter (continued)
EREFEEE)

Management recognises a loss allowance for lifetime expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the trade receivables. Lifetime ECLs
are estimated based on a number of factors which include
ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’ repayment
history, customers’ financial position, current market
conditions and forecast of future economic conditions. Such
assessment involves a significant degree of management
judgment and estimation.
EREREIRUNBERBEFZEREHREABRERR
EEE BEAFEPEACARINAEERSEEER
ERAPESIRUARENEREK TFRFEREL EFPH
AR ~ & B 55 AR S0 DA B R PR A B IR R B9 FRORI - |
M S REREENEIRE A E AT -

We identified assessing the impairment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter because the assessment of the loss
allowances for trade receivables is inherently subjective and
requires significant management judgment, which increases
the risk of error or potential management bias.
HRESRUFEREEFENFLEEEAEIBRIERY
NREREREHE tMENTHERABRNFTEERR
B8 AT RE1E - B It 3R P75 2 5 R W 5k I B9 Rt (B 7T 14 3R
RIEBRESEE-

EENKARDA

How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued)

RANBFTNAEEZEE(E)

identifying significant or long overdue trade receivables
by inspecting the trade receivable ageing report
and challenging management’s assessment of
the recoverability of these balances, taking into
consideration the ageing of the balances, credit
terms, recent settlement patterns, identified default
or disputes, the debtors’ financial condition, recent
communications with the debtors and the future
economic forecast; and
RARETESRKRFBERRERS SR ERHK
HeanESRWKE TEAEEEHZER
R A E M B R - R E AR BRES
EARGR RIONGEEER EERENHFEZ -
BEBEARNMBARRL  BEBKANTHEBFRK
BAETEAR &

inspecting cash receipts from customers after the
financial year end relating to trade receivable balances
as at 31 December 2018, on a sample basis.
MEREMBRFERRDNEPLPHECHBRE(ER
2018F12ABI AN E BB FIAEHRAR) o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B ET R

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B ET R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fong Kwin.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
meEEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & 22018412 A31H

(Expressed in United States dollar) (L4 & 7T 5l 77 )

2018 2017
Note (Note)
20184 20174
B 5 (P 5E)
US$’000 US$'000
TXxx FET
Revenue KA 3 434,727 312,956
Cost of sales 5 B AR (336,826) (230,097)
Gross profit EF 97,901 82,859
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAY (7,792) (6,443)
Research and development expenses MEAX (29,212) (18,934)
General and administrative expenses — M RITHAX (35,897) (28,682)
Other net income H A Y A F5R 4 1,939 1,804
Profit from operations BERF 26,939 30,604
Finance costs B 75 AR 5(a) (788) (189)
Profit before taxation B F A 5 26,151 30,415
Income tax ST 6 (4,297) (3,095)
Profit for the year FRER 21,854 27,320
Attributable to: AT &EEMN :
Equity shareholders of the Company RARER R 21,854 27,167
Non-controlling interests JEE IS R 25 — 153
Profit for the year FREFR 21,854 27,320
Earnings per share SREF 9
Basic (United States dollar cents) ER(ED) 1.91 2.41
Diluted (United States dollar cents) BE(ED) 1.87 2.41

Note:  The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition Msr : ANEEDR2018F1 B1B YL EABEB SR G ERF
methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 1(d). Ok - IREBEFIRENBEFE HEREHATTEY -HB
2 MM E10) -

The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SREREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & 22018412 A31H
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 Z€ 7z 5| 7R )

2018 2017
(Note)
20184 20174
(P 5E)
US$’000 US$'000
TXxx FET
Profit for the year FRERF
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEHRA 21,854 27,320
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to AIREMRNERBRET D BEEIERAN
profit or loss: HE :
Exchange differences on translation of financial WEENFARHEREN
statements of overseas subsidiaries MmEER (64) 678
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWVAEARE 21,790 27,998
Attributable to: AT &EERN :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAEERRR 21,790 27,856
Non-controlling interests PR R = = 142
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAEZEKAEEE 21,790 27,998

Note:  The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition ~ FsE @ ANEB D R20185 181 H ¥4 & M BB B 15 37 &5 A%

methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 1(d). 9t - RBFABENBELZE HREMTTEY - F
2B E) °
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

E TR R

At 31 December 2018 #, £2018F 12 A31H
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 € 7z 51| 7 )

31 December 31 December
Note 2018 2017
(Note)
20184 20174
Bt 5t 124318 12H31H
(B 5E)
US$’000 US$’000
FExx FET
Non-current assets RBEE

Property, plant and equipment M - BB K& 10 656 1,883
Intangible assets BEEE 11 5,989 3,878
Goodwill [EES 12 28,998 28,998
Deferred tax assets BEFHBEE 19(b) 7,749 8,088
Other financial assets EemEE 14 71,000 —
Deposits and prepayments Be RBEMAFE 15 1,306 65,992
115,698 108,839

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables g 5 & H MW I8 15 220,854 118,132
Restricted cash PR HI3E & 16(a) 4,754 47,618
Cash and cash equivalents RekB2EFEYD 16(b) 64,865 44,797
Current tax recoverable AT Y5 [E B ER 7 18 19(a) - 266
290,473 210,813

Current liabilities REBE
Trade and other payables B 5 M HMERFRIE 17 152,101 180,958
Current tax payable FETBDEARH IE 19(a) 4,794 7,263
Bank loans IRITE X 18 16,697 7,587
173,592 195,808
Net current assets REBEEFE 116,881 15,005
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABAR 232,579 123,844

The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements.

FOEEFIBBALMERIFHBHRR 2 —#7 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBARR R

At 31 December 2018 &, £2018F 12 A31H
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 Z€ 7z 5| 7R )

31 December 31 December
Note 2018 2017
(Note)
20184 20174
Bt 5t 124318 12H31H
(B 5E)
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FErx
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Bank loans RITER 18 - 32,856
Deferred tax liabilities BEFHIBERE 19(b) 915 621
915 33,477
NET ASSETS EERE 231,664 90,367
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EAR#E
Share capital A% Zx 22 15,188 28,401
Reserves Eiki 216,476 61,966
Total equity attributable to equity AATEERREGAER
shareholders of the Company 231,664 90,367
Non-controlling interests FEE AR 4 25 - =
TOTAL EQUITY EEEEm 231,664 90,367

Note:  The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition i : ZAREEBE B R20185F1 1B VIAEABEBR MR EEAE
methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. See note 1(d). O IREBFIBENBESZE HLBABRTTFEY -HF

28K FE10) °

The consolidated financial statements on page 77 to 183 were approved & = 2 R 201963 298 #L /& £ 77 B £183 8 A 47
and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2019 &M B#HE - WRKEEE -
and were signed on its behalf by:

Duan Wei Cao Xiaohuan
Director Director
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERERESER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & & 722018412 531 H It
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 € 7z 51| 7 )

Reserve for Share-based
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Exchange treasury  payments  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve shares reserve profits equity
Ef NRHARER
R&  RAEE  EARE  AERE  EARE  BRORE HAREE  REER  BERAE
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
ik TEn TER TEn TEn TEn TER TEn TEn TER
(Note 22)  (Note 23(b) ~ (Note 23(a) ~ (Note 23(c) ~ (Note 23(c))  (Note 23(f))  (Note 23(g))
(Mzk22) (Mako3p) (Mis2s@) (Wies) (Mi2sd)  (ME2s)  (HsE23)

Balance at 31 December 2017 #2017%12A31A 28,401 = 771 2,656 1,340 = 10,800 46,399 90,367
Impact on initial application of HEREREBRHERE

IFRS 9 RRIZ0RNTE 1(d) = = = = - - - (329) (329)
As at 1 January 2018 #2018E151A 28,401 - M 2,656 1,340 - 10,800 46,070 90,038

Changes i equity for the year ended & Z2018%F12 4318

31 December 2018: IFEE RS
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - - 21,854 21,854
Other comprehensive income Ep2ERA - = = = (64) = = - (64)
Total comprehensive income EENAEE - - - - (64) = = 21,854 21,790
Share-based payments DR BERAAT  23F) = = = = = = 6,448 = 6,448
Appropriation to statutory reserves B3 T AT i 23(c) - - - 59 - - = (69) =
Deemed distribution BEAE 1(o) (28,36) - 76y (1,5%9) 20) - - 6764  (40,149)
Issuance of ordinary shares in FEARTLAR

connection with Reorganisation 22(b)i) (29) - 29 - - - - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares to RSU A% B 4R B

trustees RTABTERR  220)) 1 - - - - - - - 1
Issuance of ordinary shares upon B RABEEEET

initial public offering, net of issuing ~ EERABEES

costs 83 22(b)i) 3188 150347 - - - - - — 15353
Capitalisation issue ERET 22(0)(v) 11,989 (11,269) - = = (720) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018512431A 15,188 139,078 36 1177 556 (720) 17,248 59,101 231,664
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & & /2201812 831 H It
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 Z€ 7z 5| 7R )

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ANRREEEARS
Share-based Non-
Share Capital  Statutory  Exchange  payments  Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total equity
HRBAER

B BExfie  iERE  ENRG NORER  REEN MHOFEREE  BRAR
Note US$'000 US$'000  US§'000 US$'000  US$'000  US$000  US000  US§000  US§000

ik TE1 TER TEn TERL TER TERL TER Txn TER
(Note2)) (Note23@) (Note23(c) (Note23() (Note 23(e)
(Wso2)  (Wisks(e)  (FHEE23()  (MFER23(d)  (MI#E23(e))
Balance at 1 January 2017 ®201751R1A 54 7 1,278 651 7,570 21,250 30,810 124 30,934
Changes in equity for the year & Z2018%125318
ended 31 December 2017; L HEERED
Profit for the year ERET - - - - - 27,167 27,167 163 27320
Other comprehensive income Et2ERA - - - 689 - - 689 (11) 678
Total comprehensive income ELON L - - - 689 - 27,167 27,856 142 27,998
Share-based compensation KROEBEBOSRH  23e) - - - - 3,230 - 3,230 - 3,230
Appropriation to statutory reserves B E A GG 23() = = 1,378 = = (1,378) - - -
Capital injection i 28,347 764 - - - - 29,111 - 29,111
Dividends declared BEERRE 23(g) - - - - - (150) (150) - (150)
Acquisition of a non-controlling WK B A R
interest of a subsidiary % - - = = = (490) (490) (266) (756)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017%12831H 28,401 1 2,656 1,340 10,800 46,399 90,367 = 90,367
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
MERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & & 722018412 531 H It
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 € 7z 51| 7 )

2018 2017
20184 20174
Note US$’°000 US$'000
B & FEx FET
Operating activities RESEE
Cash generated from operations RETHRBHEERE 16(c) 34,269 56,072
Income tax paid EHAEH (5,244) (6,874)
Net cash generated from operating KRETHMEBRESTEHE
activities 29,025 49,198
Investing activities RETE
Investment in wealth management products ~ RIBEIE R 2K A& (138,722) =
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale & A it & 15 & FT18 218
investments - 1,500
Payment for purchase of property, plant and B EW% « HiE RRE X
equipment (658) (1,076)
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BEEEEENK (4,058) (2,706)
Prepayment for properties ESEENEN (756) (65,966)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WM B A 7] (167) (3,074)
Acquisition of a non-controlling interest of a UK E A B IEIE IR HE 2
subsidiary - (755)
Interest received 2 U 8 1,133 559
Net cash used in investing activities RETEHFFAREREFTE (143,228) __________ (71518)
Financing activities RMEEE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERATSEIE 16(d) 78,335 54,618
Repayment of bank loans EERITER 16(d) (70,371) (19,884)
Capital injection A E - 29,111
Issuance of shares upon initial public offering, BIX AR EITHRZENBE
net of issuing costs paid BTEHR 158,945 -
Deemed distribution RAED K 1(b) (2,024) —
Interest paid and other borrowing cost paid ENMEREMENEERAER 16(d) (1,497) (131)
Payment to related parties Ba s 75 1 =K 16(d) (57,846) (15,047)
Change in restricted and pledged deposits SRR & 30,392 (47,497)
Dividend paid EfARE » (5,868)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEESE, (FTA)BRER
financing activities g€ 135934 (4,698)
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. EEEE1BE L MFRLENBHRER 2 —HH -
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
MERIRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & & /2201812 831 H It
(Expressed in United States dollar) (14 Z€ 7z 5| 7R )

2018 2017
20184 20174
Note US$’°000 US$'000
B 5 TXxx FET
Net increase/(decrease) in cashand cash RE&REEZEY
equivalents ®m CRD) FEE 21,731 (27,018)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FINBEEREEZEY
beginning of the year 44,797 71,884
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /\EEX#FHTE (1,663) (69)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FERNBEEREASEEY
of the year 16(b) 64,865 44,797
The notes on pages 85 to 183 form part of these financial statements. FEEEF1BA W AREH KK —HH -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the International Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (IASB), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 1(d)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.

Reorganisation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

P AR BT EE

EREER

(a)

(b)

2HEE

MBEBRERERBEEREAENRE
2((ERMEREENEEE])R
i 1) BT 3 PR RO BB B 7 R 5 2R A1)
(KEBHBEREER)]) (KRR
SRBER R E BB R E 2
) (B g E£D)(ER S E
BDAMZRB)NREAKREERF
RO ERERE - MBEHRERIT
BTEEBMERIMARAA([#
XDEFLTRUNERHKER
E-FRMNTESFBRNE
FHBWOAT -

BRetEMZEEEHME TR
AEEREKEAHEERERKA
?Ei?%imzéﬁﬁﬂ&%;ﬂ%}ﬂlmﬂﬂ%
5 AR B o B FE1(d)ER Y & K AR ER
B 7] 46 FE B2 R B 75 $R 3R PT R BR EY
%*J?&(EE@ZSE@%W&L?E@%H&
FEREONEER) MEXNEAE
BUR &

E4

HE2018F 12 A31B I FEWNLEZEA
FHRBRBEARNNNRME QT (5K
THIEM]) -

Annual Report 2018 £ 85



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

86 Mobuvista Inc.

Reorganisation (Continued)

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 16 April 2018 as part of the reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”) of Seamless Technology
Limited (“Seamless”). Prior to the completion of
the Reorganisation as described below, the mobile
advertising businesses were carried out by Seamless
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “Seamless
Group”). Seamless Group was initially established in
November 2014 and continued to grow substantially,
and in early 2018, Seamless Group further absorbed
some PRC mobile advertising businesses (“Other PRC
Operating Entities”) from its controlling shareholder,
Mobvista Co., Ltd. (E M E & B K& B HZBEH AR A
7], “Guangzhou Mobvista”). The absorption of the
businesses of the Other PRC Operating Entities by
Seamless was completed on 31 May 2018 and has
been accounted for as a common control transaction in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note

1(€) (ii).

In connection with the Reorganisation, on 13 April
2018, Seamless established Worldwide Target Limited
(“Worldwide BVI”) as its wholly-owned subsidiary in the
BVI, and then transferred to Worldwide BVI the entire
share capital of each of Mintegral Limited, Flash Banner
Technology Company Limited, Advertter Technology
Company Limited, Mintegral International Limited,
Westcore Technology Limited, Adlogic Technology Pte.
Ltd. and Mobvista International Technology Limited,
which collectively engage in mobile advertising businesses
in the PRC and some overseas countries (the “Core
Operations”), in consideration for 60,217,492 shares of
the Worldwide BVI. In August 2018, the Company issued
1,000,000 shares to Seamless in exchange for the entire
share capital of Worldwide BVI. Upon the completion of
the Reorganisation, the Company becomes the holding
company of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Reorganisation (continued)

The Reorganisation is considered as business
combinations under common control. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared
using the principles of merger accounting as if the
Group had always been in existence. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 had been prepared using the
financial information of the companies engaged in the
Core Operations and now comprising the Group, under
the common control of Seamless as if the current group
structure had been in existence throughout the years, or
since the respective dates of incorporation/establishment
of the combining companies, or since the date when the
combining companies first came under the control of
Seamless, whichever is a shorter period.

Certain assets and liabilities historically associated
with the Other PRC Operating Entities that were not
transferred to the Group and were retained by Guangzhou
Mobvista in connection with the Reorganisation because
they were not considered strategically complementary to
the Group’s mobile advertising businesses. These assets
and liabilities have been included in the accompanying
financials for periods prior to 31 May 2018 and reflected
as a deemed distribution to Guangzhou Mobvista on
31 May 2018. The assets and liabilities retained by
Guangzhou Mobvista, which are not complementary
to the mobile advertising businesses, consisted of the
following as at 31 May 2018:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 1. EEgERw®m
(b) Reorganisation (continued) by EAE

31 May 2018
20184
5H31H
Note Us$’000
B 5 FEx

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment — net ME - WE NM&E 10 924
Intangible assets BmREE 11 29
Deferred tax assets EEMIBEE 19(b)(i) 92
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMNRIE 68,448
Other receivables H b fE W FIE 1,667
Restricted cash PR IR 12,472
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 16(b) 2,024
Amounts due from related parties JiE Uk B B 5 3R B 39,079
124,735

Liabilities afE
Other payables H {th jE < 5008 3,355
Amounts due to related parties &~ BBt 5 3k IR 48,245
Current tax payable BV HA e A5 B 1B 652
Bank loans RITER 32,335
84,587
NET ASSETS BEZE 40,148

(c) Basis of preparation (c) HmMEEE

88 Mobuvista Inc.

The financial statements is presented in United States
dollars (“US$”), rounded to the nearest thousand. The
functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars.
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except the
investments in debt and equity securities are stated at fair
value as explained in note 1(f).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have significant effects on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 2.

Changes of accounting policy

The IASB has issued a number of new IFRSs and
amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the Group. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the Group’s
financial statements:

(i) IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(ii) IFRS 9, Financial instruments
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

90 Mobuvista Inc.

Changes of accounting policy (Continued)

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
replaces the previous revenue standards IAS 18
“Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and
related interpretations. The standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
and has been adopted by the Group in the year ended
31 December 2018 and 2017. The Group has not early
adopted any other new standards or interpretations that
are not yet effective for the accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2018. The revised and new accounting
standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the accounting year beginning on 1 January 2018 and
which are not yet adopted by the Group are set out in
note 29.

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition
and measurement. It sets out the requirements for
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items.

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 January 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening equity at 1 January 2018. Therefore, the
financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2017 continues to be reported under IAS 39.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to
IFRS 9 on retained earnings and the related tax impact at
1 January 2018:

BERGEN®
(d) EFERNEHE)
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WX EMBERE - ZERR20185F
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HIEFEREBHEM KNEB K
HMR2018F1 A1EHEBAHN S F
JE 18 R A R fa] H A 3T 2E Bl k22
Al - REE2018F1 A1HHBHN
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Bl R 72 B 8 pA BT 529 ©
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FET
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Changes of accounting policy (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition approach

are set out below:

(i)

(i)

Classification of financial assets and
financial liabilities

IFRS 9 does not have any material impact on the
classification of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017.

The Group did not designate or de-designate any
financial asset or financial liability as FVPL at 1
January 2018.

Credit losses

IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS
39 with the “expected credit loss” (ECL) model.
The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement
of credit risk associated with a financial asset and
therefore recognises ECLs earlier than under the
“incurred loss” accounting model in IAS 39.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 1. EEgERW®m
(d) Changes of accounting policy (Continued) (d SFERSH(E)
(i)  Credit losses (Continued) (i) EEAEXE)

ERAEEEEEERBLANS
ABRME—TFE  F2E
MaE1)) e TRAEBRBEHES
=2 R S5 30 5% & F M 2017 &F
12A3THRBARENR
BB B REEAEORE
EH2018F 1 A1 H B¥E L

For further details on the Group’s accounting
policy for accounting for credit losses, see note
1(). The following table reconciles the closing loss
allowance determined in accordance with IAS 39
as at 31 December 2017 with the opening loss
allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9
as at 1 January 2018.

92 Mobuvista Inc.

BENEE -
US$’'000
FTETT
Loss allowance at 31 December 2017 RIE B R & 51 2 Al 5395k
under IAS 39 R2017F12 831 H K18 K B & 12,090
Additional credit loss recognised MR2018F1 1B T 7IEE
at 1 January 2018 on: REEEIMEEIEL !
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EH A K 329
Loss allowance at 1 January 2018 R 45 B R B 75 R 25 2E Rl 55957
under IFRS 9 MR2018F1 18/
BEREE 12,419
IAS 39 carrying IFRS 9 carrying
amount at amount at
31 December 2017  Remeaseurement 1 January 2018
20175128311 2018%F141H
REARS:H BERRTE
% B 5395 &R Eo%
MEEESE BifE MEESE
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEL TEn TEn
Financial assets carried at REERATER
amortisatised cost: SHEE:
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBReEED 44,797 — 44,797
Trade and other receivables 25 RE MR 118,132 (329) 117,803
162,929 (329) 162,600
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Changes of accounting policy (Continued)

(iii)

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from
the adoption of IFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below:

— Information relating to the years ended 31
December 2017 has not been restated.
Differences in the carrying amounts
of financial assets resulting from the
adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in
retained earnings and reserves as at 1
January 2018. Accordingly, the information
presented for the years ended 31
December 2017 continues to be reported
under IAS 39 and thus may not be
comparable with the current period.

— If, at the date of initial application, the
assessment of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition would have involved undue
cost or effort, a lifetime ECL has been
recognised for that financial instrument.

The assessments on the determination of the
business model within which a financial asset is
held has been made on the basis of the facts and
circumstance that existed at 1 January 2018 (the
date of initial application of IFRS 9 by the Group).

(e) Consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e)

94 WMobuvista Inc.

Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
(Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group
has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation
in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between non-controlling interests and the
equity shareholders of the Company.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interest
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and
non-controlling interests within consolidated equity
to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(j)), unless classified
as held for sale.

Business combinations involving entities
under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statement items of the combining
entities or businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been
consolidated from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling shareholder.

The assets and liabilities of the combining entities
or businesses are consolidated at the carrying
amounts previously recognised in the respective
controlling shareholder’s financial statements.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and
comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when
combining entities or businesses first came under
common control, where this is a shorter period,
regardless of the date of the common control
combination.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e)

(f)

96 Mobuvista Inc.

Consolidation (Continued)

(i)  Business combinations involving entities
under common control (Continued)
The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented as if the entities
or businesses had been consolidated at the
earliest balance sheet date presented or when
they first came under common control, whichever
is later.

Investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investments. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see note 24(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification:

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is calculated
using the effective interest method (see note 1(r)

().
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f)

Investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Investments other than equity investments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)-recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income,
except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognized, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in
the fair value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f)

(9)

98 Mobuvista Inc.

Investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in note 1(r)(v).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 1())).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful
life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Goodwill and intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

a) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

b) the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities measured
as at the acquisition date.

When b) is greater than a), then this excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating
unit, or groups of cash generating units, which
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination and is tested annually for impairment
(see note 1())).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

100 Mobvista Inc.

Goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is
capitalised if the product or process is technically
and commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
(see note 1(j)). Other development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the Period in which it
is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life
is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(j)).
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The
following intangible assets with finite useful lives
are amortised from the date they are available for
use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

(i)

Goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)
(iij)  Intangible assets (Continued)

Management determined the trademark to have a
useful life of 7 years based on (i) estimated period
during which such asset can bring economic
benefits to the Group; and (ii) the useful life
estimated by a third party valuer with reference to
the useful lives adopted by comparable companies
in the market. Both the period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their
useful lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any
conclusion that the useful life of an intangible asset
is indefinite is reviewed annually to determine
whether events and circumstances continue
to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for prospectively from the date of
change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as
set out above.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

102 Mobvista Inc.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

(A

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables and loans to
related parties);

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof for fixed-rate
financial assets and trade and other
receivables where the effect of discounting
is material.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1] Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from
possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date;
and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses
that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which
the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other
receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at
the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued), the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A)

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when
(i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 1(r)(iii) is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1] Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired.
A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor

— the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

A

Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1] Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Prior to 1 January 2018, an “incurred loss”
model was used to measure impairment
losses on financial assets not classified as
at FVPL (e.g. trade and other receivables,
available-for-sale investments and
held-to-maturity debt securities). Under
the “incurred loss” model, an impairment
loss was recognised only when there was
objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment included:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment in an
equity instrument below its cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

110 Mobvista Inc.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

(Continued)

B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

If any such evidence existed, an impairment

loss was determined and recognised as

follows:

EENKARDA

For trade and other receivables
and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, impairment loss was
measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective
interest rate, where the effect of
discounting was material. This
assessment was made collectively
where these financial assets shared
similar risk characteristics, such as
similar past due status, and had
not been individually assessed
as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which were
assessed for impairment collectively
were based on historical loss
experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1] Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

B

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreased and the
decrease could be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss was
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss was only recognised
to the extent that it did not result in the
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

When the recovery of a trade debtor or
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost was considered doubtful but not
remote, associated impairment losses
were recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group was satisfied
that recovery was remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable was written off
against the gross carrying amount of those
assets directly. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account were reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off
directly were recognised in profit or loss.
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112 Mobvista Inc.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

B

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018
(Continued)

— For available-for-sale investments,
the cumulative loss that had been
recognised in the fair value reserve
(recycling) was reclassified to
profit or loss. The amount of the
cumulative loss that was recognised
in profit or loss was the difference
between the acquisition cost (net
of any principal repayment and
amortisation) and current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that
asset previously recognised in profit
orloss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
securities were not reversed through profit
or loss. Any subsequent increase in the
fair value of such assets was recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or
loss in respect of available-for-sale debt
securities were reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value could be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. Reversals
of impairment losses in such circumstances
were recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

1] Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or,except in the case of goodwill,an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment:

— intangible assets; and

= goodwill

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

114 Mobvista Inc.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior periods.

Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the period in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 1(j)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the
policy set out in note 1(j)(i)

P AR BT EE

EREMEN®

(k)

()

(m)

(n)

EZREMERRE

EASEERERFMBEER
TREEREBKE WHERAFTF
i By [ 4 B B H3 S 1  BIURER
EBRRENT ZEERER -

B REMERKBENFRAFE
R HERBERMNBE AREH
7SR R AR OR B 2 R (FF 2 B &
10) & ABR ¢ 1820 & W SRR A (7 B Bk
FTRENEBTEXHNRLEER
FEFTREZELTIERAEI - &
BB T - FEURIR & % B AR R
R EEFBERAR -

s EER

AEEREATEBEGEZZEA
EITIARER - TIAMERIR - 5HEE
RIA B ARG B - VIR R &
HMEBELEECHANEMNEZE &
RIEMENFERER RERF
BEEREPHBRRER -

BEZREMENRIE

B REMEMNFKBENRFENSR
MR ERAEERATRR - NS
BRI ETEKX - BIBABATIE -

ReRkBAEEEY

RebBeSEYBRERTRETFHE
e ROLKHGSREENEHE
FOURAHERERAENESE
BEEEEZEHERABRTA  TEBA
B—EARIENEENS KB T
RE-BENBLSEWIRBH =
1()() B 1) R 2% 5T 4 78 HA {5 B 8 R (ECL)

Annual Report 2018 £ 115



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

116 Mobvista Inc.

Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of shares granted to employees
is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the binomial lattice model, taking into
account the terms and conditions (including lock
up period) upon which the shares were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the shares, the total estimated fair value
of the shares is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the shares
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of shares that vest
(with a corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

118 Mobvista Inc.

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in
the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(r)

120 Mobvista Inc.

Revenue recognition

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
replaces the previous revenue standards IAS 18
“Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and
related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and has
been adopted throughout the year ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue is
recognised when control over service is transferred to the
customer.

The following is a description of principal activities from
which the Group generates its revenue.

(i) Provision of mobile advertising services

The Group’s principal services are the provisions
of mobile advertising services. The Group utilizes
a combination of pricing models and revenue is
recognised when the related services are delivered
based on the specific terms of the contract, which
are commonly based on:

a) specified actions (i.e. cost per action
(“CPA”) and related campaign budgets,
depending on the advertisers’ preferences
and their campaigns launched); or

b) agreed rebates to be earned from certain
publishers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Provision of mobile advertising services
(Continued)

Specified actions

Revenue is recognized on a CPA basis once
agreed actions (download, activation, registration
and etc.) are performed. While none of the
factors individually are considered presumptive or
determinative, because the Group is the primary
obligor and is responsible for (1) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the
Group views as customers; (2) identifying mobile
publishers to provide mobile spaces where the
Group views the mobile publishers as suppliers;
(3) establishing the selling prices of CPA pricing
model; (4) performing all billing and collection
activities, including retaining credit risk; and (5)
bearing sole responsibility for fulfillment of the
advertising, the Group acts as the principal of
these arrangements and therefore recognised
revenue earned and costs incurred related to
these transactions on a gross basis.

Agreed rebates to be earned from certain
publishers

In the arrangement with certain publishers, the
Group act as a sales agent for these publishers
by having marketing clients market with this
publisher. In return, the Group earn incentives
from these publishers based on contractually
stipulated amounts once certain spending
thresholds are achieved. The Group consider
these particular publishers as customers and
record such incentives as net revenues. Incentives
from these publishers are calculated on a quarterly
or an annual basis in accordance with the terms
as agreed in arrangements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(r)

122 Mobvista Inc.

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Game publishing
Sole Publishing

The Group operates third party developers’
games through cooperation with game developers
and platforms (i.e. the vendors). The revenue
from the virtual items sold is shared between the
Group, game developers and the vendors, which
is pre-determined in separate revenue sharing
arrangements. The Group has evaluated and
determined it is the primary obligor in the services
rendered to the game players. Accordingly the
Group records its revenue at gross amount and
the portion of sharing of revenue with both the
game developers and the vendors are recorded as
cost of sales.

The Group has adopted a policy to recognize
revenues for both consumable and durable items
through virtual world tokens over the period of
game players’ relationship with the Group on a
game-by-game basis.

Cooperative publishing

The Group publishes third party developers’
games by cooperating with local publishers. The
Group has evaluated and determined it is not the
primary obligor in the services rendered to the
game players, but generating revenue by rendering
sub-license and operating support service to local
publishers. The Group generates its revenue by
sharing certain portion of the revenue from virtual
items sold, which is the net amount received from
the local publishers. The Group has adopted a
policy to recognize revenues from cooperative
publishing over the period of game players’
relationship with the Group on a game-by-game
basis.

EENKARDA

EZgEA )
N WABRE)
(i) AR
B xR

AEEFEBRERFAEE LT
BEIER)GEREE=TTH
BENER - LEERYME
ERRAEEBEAD KT
FIRSEEE  BmAKE - B
MEERBETOMHE - AKEE
AHEREEESRERITRE
HIRENETEEEA - AUt
AREME R BB E WA R E
BEERRABEERET DBEOHEA
B BHERK -

AREEDTRA—HABOR @ AR
BEREEERERIIREALE
) & 28 1 HA ] i 5208 A% B A g
PR EE B 5E B U A ©

B 1ELR

AEBEBEEWEMES
EBRMFE =T HABEENER -
AEEDFHEREERLIFM
BETREHRRENEEZEL
A BB E M3 E LR
BERLRREXHRBELR
A e REBEEB DG HEE B
MmE—EWRAEEWA » %
WA R ) E i35 40 & R B %
B AKREDRMAERIAZRR
BRAEERABERIIR AR
SEFERERPHENREAE
H AR E A o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

() Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling)
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 1(j)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Grants that compensate the
Group for expenses incurred are recognised as
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and consequently
are effectively recognized in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Dividends

— Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right
to receive payments is established.

— Dividend income from listed investments
is recognised when the share price of the
investment goes ex-dividend.

P AR BT EE

BEEENW
N WARR@)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

ﬁ/g W/{
B U AT EE A I 5 B BR A

FEHR -HRAZEERE
HABBR NGt ERA R E
EFfEAEEHFARMES
WA EREE  BRFXE
ARZEENKREARE - HRY
EEXENEREE  BERF
FERARZEENBBRRA
(BNHkR T BKREFBREFE)
(REE1G)3) -

BT 7 By

EANAEREARE KW
2 BFT 18 B 30 2 38 T EL P S MR
- BT#B L RUB
ARREZ AT IAMER - AIEHIE
AEEMEERAHN MR E
ERxHR—HEE Zatn
BamAER[/WA - HELRE
BMEEXRANBHEEERE
BFHRIEERRZAEEN
AIEAFHARNRITERX
M ARBEANERER -

—  JEEMREMBRBEEA
1A B SR RO AR ) e S2

By RE SR
—  LWRENRBEEAR

BERRENRER SR
MR -

Annual Report 2018 ¥

123



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(s)

(t)

124 Mobvista Inc.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transactions
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Group initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
United States dollar at the average exchange rates for
the period which approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items are translated into United States
dollar at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u) Related parties

(0

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

2) has significant influence over the Group; or

3) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

2 One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

()] Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

4) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

5) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (j).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

(v)

126 Mobvista Inc.

Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(8) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the Financial Statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting judgements and estimates

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements
and other uncertainties affecting application of those policies
and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition
and assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing
the Financial Statements. The principal accounting policies
are set forth in note 1. The Group believes the following critical
accounting policies involve the most significant judgements and
estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

(@) Principal versus agent considerations —
revenue from provision of mobile advertising
service

In determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the provision of mobile advertising
services requires judgements and considerations of all
relevant facts and circumstances. The Group is a principal
in a transaction if the Group obtains control of services
provided before they are transferred to customers. If
control is unclear, when the Group is primarily obligated in
a transaction, and has latitude in establishing prices and
selecting publishers, or has several but not all of these
indicators, the Group records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commissions from services provided.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

2 Accounting judgements and estimates (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

128 Mobvista Inc.

Impairment of trade receivables

Receivables that are measured at cost or amortised
cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, an impairment
loss is recorded. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention of
the Group about loss events such as significant decline
in the estimated future cash flows of an individual debtor
or the portfolio of debtors, and significant changes in
the financial condition that have an adverse effect on
the debtor. If there is a change in the objective evidence
of impairment in relation to the debtors, the actual
impairment loss would be higher or lower than the
allowance for doubtful debts recognised in the financial
statements.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill has been allocated. The value-in-use
calculation requires management to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash generating
units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognised liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
difference will impact the actual current and deferred
income tax in the period in which such determination is
made.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P AR BT EE

2  Accounting judgements and estimates (Continued) 2 SEHE R AR (E)

(d) Income taxes (Continued) (d FBHE)
In addition, deferred tax assets are recognised to the LN M EBEENREHENIKE K
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will RERTEFN - AIERELEHRIEE
be available against which the assets can be utilised. E - HAEBETHRNEEHREBELEE
Significant management judgement is required to SHEE O TEEERBEARKESDRB
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be i A AT BE HY B R K oK SE & [R) B IE AR
recognised upon the likely timing and the level of future EISREE - EE R HE -

taxable profits of the individual entities together with the
tax planning strategies.

3  Revenue 3 WA
The principal services of the Group are the provisions of mobile AREETEEKAREBIESRE - 5
advertising services. For the purpose of resources allocation and ETEREEMKRERETH AEEEIE
performance assessment, the Group’s management focuses ZERNAEEERBNLCRES - Bt - K
on the operating results of the Group as a whole. As such, the SEERETES BEYEBINKLES
Group’s resources are integrated and no discrete operating EER AUt WEZHKEEDELELR -

segment information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by REARBRE P HE X KU A TR A FE
the timing of revenue recognition during the year is as follows: REEEDWOT -

2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx F=ET
Point in time 1R B RE AR 434,688 312,044
Over time & B ) 1 52 39 912
434,727 312,956
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

3 Revenue (Continued) 3 L ONED

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised FARRNSERNEINRASTEAT ¢
during the year is as follows:

2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’°000 US$’'000
TEx FE7T
Provision of mobile advertising services REBESESRI 434,688 312,044
Game publishing By R 39 912
434,727 312,956
The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes one FERPEMEZ (b » H E22018%F 12 A
customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the B BRE—REESSBEANERK
Group's revenues for each of the years ended 31 December AO%HZEF (2017 BR) - ZEFRFA
2018 (2017: Nil). Revenues from this customer during the year MU AE ST
are set out below.
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
TEx FET
Customer A ZEA 101,048 N/A*
Note: Kt sE -
* represents that the amount of revenue from that customer is less than 10% & DEEZEPHOWASEERRZELIKAD
of the total revenue of that year. 10% ©
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers are EEEERRETHFEBIHNME240@) -

set out in note 24(a).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P AR BT EE

Revenue (Continued) 3 WA (&)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location of

the customers’ headquarters.

b 32 & B
TR EBAEERBIBEL KA
WENEEHN FEPHNHEUEEARE
FhammaEdly

Revenue from external

customers

REMBEFHEA
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Greater China (note (i) A e (B EEG) 277,546 140,076
Americas (note (ii)) M (B aEG) 40,324 61,681
Southeast Asia (note (iii)) SR Eg 3B (BT EE(iii)) 23,299 30,283
Rest of Asia (note (iv)) oM H b [ (B RE(iv) 42,228 41,904
Europe (note (v)) BOM (B3 (W) 26,024 20,510
Rest of the world (note (vi) 5 & (B RE(vi)) 25,306 18,5602
434,727 312,956

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

B 5E
Includes Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. 0]
Primarily includes United States and Canada. (i)
Includes Singapore, Vietnam, Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, Cambodia, (iii)
Myanmar and Philippines.
Includes other countries and regions in Asia, excluding Southeast Asia and (iv)
Greater China.
Primarily includes United Kingdom, Switzerland, Germany, Netherland, (v)
Spain, France, Italy and Ireland.
Primarily includes Argentina, Cyprus and Armenia. (Vi)

BEGEAM - FE - RM
TERFEEERMNEX -

BEFINE - B e
RIEE  FARDRFERE -

BEROMNEMBRREBE  TEERBER

RAFEME o

TERERE Wt ER
EE - BAMMEBHE

RAH -

CHJE - BRAE -

Gl EE ¥

TEREMRE EHKRMMEERE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

4  Other net income 4 HEWAFEEHE
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx FET
Interest income MEWA 1,217 585
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) SNEESFURA (E51R) 113 (213)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments & A {f H & & & g A - 892
Government grants (note) B B (B &E) 762 302
Others Hity (153) 238
1,939 1,804

Note: Government grant in 2018 represented unconditional cash subsidies
received by certain PRC subsidiaries from local government for the Group’s
achievement. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to
such government grants income recognised.

MiEE R201I8F BRI RE THRENEB QA
B E A BN S B AR B O R R S
WA -BEFEZSERARNHUEAD
REK G IR EM -

5  Profit before taxation 5  BR®AEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB RSN &G ((FA) T3 &1\ %
EBC
Note 2018 2017
B &E 20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
SFESOT FET
(a) Finance costs (a) WM& A&
Interest on bank loans RITERFERME 788 189
(b) Staff costs (b) BI A
Contributions to defined contribution A R FGRIRETEHR
retirement plans 2,634 1,517
Share-based compensation expenses IR AERNBERSZ 21 6,448 3,230
Salaries, wages and other benefits ITE HaekHMmER 38,423 32,919
47,505 37,666
(c) Other items (c) Htt1EH
Depreciation e 10 921 635
Amortisation 5y 11 1,915 813
Impairment losses of WIEEE
— trade receivables — B S RIR 24(a) 2,299 1,185
— other receivables — H b E YK 122 117
Auditor’s remuneration ZERE &
— audit services — BEHRTS 332 -
— non-audit services — BRI = 52
Listing expenses FAAX 6,933 -
Operating lease BRMENKEREER 2,297 2,108
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 Income tax in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss

(a)

Income tax in the consolidated statements
of profit or loss represents:

P AR BT EE

6 HERBRNHAEH

(a) HEBEBZROFMEHRAR

2018 2017

20184 20174

US$’000 US$'000

FEx FET

Current tax Bl ER 75 18 3,797 6,064

Deferred tax EERIE 500 (2,969)

4,297 3,095

Notes: Mizx -

0] Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the 0] REREHS ABREXHERES

BVI and Seychelles, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands, the BVI and Seychelles.

(ii) The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profits for the year.

(iii) Adlogic Technology Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary in Singapore, is subject
to the prevailing corporate income tax rate of 17% in Singapore.

(iv) USCore, Inc., a subsidiary in the United States, is subject to
federal income tax rate of 21% in the United States for the years
ended 31 December 2018, acording to the U.S. Tax Cuts and
Jobs Acts effective on 1 January 2018. In addition, USCore, Inc. is
subject to taxation in various states of the United States. nativeX,
LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of USCore, Inc., is treated as a
disregarded entity for income tax purpose and its income or loss is
included in the income tax calculation of USCore, Inc..

(v) The Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) rate applicable to the
subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% for the year.

(vi) Guangzhou Huiliang, a subsidiary in the PRC, is accredited as
a “high and new technology enterprise” and applicable for a
preferential enterprise income tax rate of 156% commencing from
2017.

(vii) According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by
the State Tax Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2017
onwards, enterprises engaging in research and development
activities are entitled to claim 175% for the three years ending
31 December 2019 of their research and development expenses
so incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their
assessable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”). The Group
has made its best estimate for Super Deduction to be claimed for
the Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits during
the year.

()

(iii)

(V)

(vii)

BMRAIER  ARBEHARAE
BHE ZBERARBRETHHME
AT

RER - FENSHBEEZAEFTER
Bl I #16.6%5 & -

Adlogic Technology Pte.Ltd. (¥7 1 3% 1)
MiEE AR ZBREF M IRIRITHE
17RBINT EFTISH -

USCore, Inc. (X B & I 8B 2 7)) RN &
E2018F12AMALEEEXRT
B2A%M TR RN I H - AR
% BICR TR B 3t ¥ 0% 2 ) (Tax Cuts and
Jobs Acts) * USCore, Inc.H Bt 3B Ff 15
HRRMEER2018F1 A1 B R EI R A
21% ° Itk 4h - USCore, Inc.7B & # 3
% {8 ) 89 B 18 ° nativeX, LLC (USCore.
nc 2 EMBRARRASHRME
THHRAEER  ERAXRBETA
USCore, INc.HIstEHE R -

R P - PR R R BB 28
R K £ 3¢ B 1854 Bt 5 25% ©

E2E AR (hENKERR) KR
ERIBMBMEE] - B2017F£E
REELEMESHHEIE% °

BEFBEBERREEBBEM B2017
FRERMBEERRER  HEH
BEHNCENRETCHEERZEEN
FERR B AR B RESL UL EE £ VT 355
X E175% (Gt & 2019412 5318 1+
=FEmME)RRABAIEMA ([N
KD - AEEERAEEEEBRE
ETEERFANERREFEHRN
MNET 0B 1E B R ERET -

Annual Report 2018 ¥

133



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR BT EE

6 Income tax in the consolidated statements of 6 SEBEERNIAEH &)

profit or loss (Continued)

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statements (@) HFEBEBZRNFAEBHRARSE)
of profit or loss represents: (Continued)
Notes: (Continued) MIsE : (88)
(vii) ~ The PRC EIT Law and its implementation rules impose a (vii) FRIEEESBUR ESK LT HEEIR > P

withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a tax treaty or
arrangement, for dividends distributed by PRC-resident enterprises
to their non-PRC-resident corporate investors for profits earned
since 1 January 2008. Under the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax
Arrangement, a Hong Kong subsidiary of the Group is entitled to a
reduced withholding tax rate of 5% if the Hong Kong tax resident
is the “beneficial owner” and holds more than 25% of the equity
interest of the PRC enterprise directly.

CEMBHEREERMUEFRAE
R ¥5t B2008%1 A 18 #£ BEER A i
FMEEFPEERAGKREEDIKN
IR BIZ10%H XK TENH - BRER
WHESBRCEEBHLHE  ~E&E
WEEMBRARZALHIROTEN
MEs%  WBEERBERAPRHDE
W EZHEBAITEEFERRSE
25%3% LA iR 1 -

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense b) REBABRIBTENHRESHEX
and accounting profit at applicable tax rates: HE RS
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEEo FET
Profit before taxation T3 Al 4 A 26,151 30,415
Notional tax on profit before taxation, EREABRBRANE B ER
calculated at the rates applicable to profits 18 RE A TR AER
in the countries concerned WIREMXE 4,757 3,794
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A MB ARG E 630 22
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMU AW 15 2 (194) (157)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax A SRR R BB E B
losses = (346)
Super Deduction for research and 3 T INET 0%
development expenses (5637) (238)
Over-provision in prior years BAFERBERE (384) -
Others HAh 25 20
Actual tax expense FriS Bl X 858 4,297 3,095
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P AR BT EE

7 Directors’ emoluments 7 EEME
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: EEHFMMEIRWT -

Year ended 31 December 2018

HZ2018F1231ALEE
Salaries,
allowances
and other Retirement
Directors benefits in scheme Discretionary Share-based
fees kind contributions bonuses Sub-Total payments Total
1% BER DRGBAER
Directors Bz ESHe HAEUNE RUGEMR BETA et WA @t

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
xR xR FER FER FER FTER FER

Execusive directors HITEZE

Duan Wei (note i) B (W) - 97 5 100 202 - 202
Cao Xiaohuan (note ) B AGED) - 97 5 100 202 15 217
Xi Yuan (note ii) ZR (M) - 102 7 120 229 641 870
Fang Zikai (note i) 75 (i) - 85 7 120 212 666 878

Independent non-Executive BUEHOES

directors
Ying Lei (note i JEZ (Misii) - - - - - - -
Hu Jie (note iii A (Wi =3l - - - - - - -
Wang Jianxin (note i) TR (M) - - - - - - -
- 381 24 440 845 1,322 2,167
Year ended 31 December 2017
HE017F12A31HLFE
Salaries,
allowances
and other Retirement
Directors benefits in scheme  Discretionary Share-based
fees kind  contributions bonuses Sub-Total payments Total
I8 Uk SARR A7 A

Directors £ E3Ne EMEVNE  BRAHERR BB et R Eh
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TEn TEn TR TR TER TER TER
Duan Wei (note i) Bl (ta) - 90 4 - 94 - 94
Cao Xiaohuan (note i) ERE () - 90 4 - 04 456 550
Xi Yuan (note i) ZR (M) - 182 5 47 234 947 1,181
Fang Zikai (note i} 7 s (B aii) - 66 5 47 118 1,581 1,699
- 428 18 94 540 2,984 3,524
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PR AR BT EE

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:
i. Appointed as executive directors in April 2018.
ii. Appointed as executive directors in June 2018.

iii. Appointed as independent non-executive directors in October 2018.

All the executive directors are key management personnel of the
Group during the year and their remuneration disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as key management
personnel. During the year, there were no amounts paid or
payable by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid
individuals set out in note 8 below as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

Individual with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two of them
are the director for the years ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
three), respectively, whose emoluments are disclosed in note
7 above. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining individuals are as follows:

EEME(®)
M3E -

R2018FARBEZEXARITES -
i. MR2018F6 HEZ T AMITES -

ii. R2018F10 R T ABIUIENTES -

FA 2BATESHRAKENEIEE
BAR  EXHENFHEERFESE
ZEBABRHERGOFW R A%
B30 S S B = S T XM FEBAT EE
fa] B = ¥ A AR IR - LABR 5] 50 B2 3k An
AXGEERESBERAEE FARETWH
EHREENRLARNERETMHFMOLH

REFMAL

FRE&=aHFMALH  HZE2018F12A8
SIEBLFEREMEZES (2017F : =4)
HFEMAR EXHMETHRE -EEEBALHN
g mEmT:

2018 2017

20184 20174

US$’000 US$’000

FEx FET

Salaries and other emoluments & M H b 561 400
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 140 203
Share-based compensation VA RR 1 2 L 55 ) 3 EM 511 =
Retirement scheme contributions RIREER 33 41
1,245 644

The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2018, respectively

HE2018F12A31BILFE L& S H
B A £ B9 F B B T A T &8 &

are within the following band:

2018 2017

20184 20174

HK$0 to HK$2,000,000 0Z2,000,0003% 7T - —
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 %2,500,0005% 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 Z3,000,0005% 7T 2 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 Z5,000,0005% 7T 1 —
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Earnings per share

(a)

P AR BT EE

9 BREF
Basic earnings per share (@ EXSRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on FRERBRNIDERARQR L @E
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of 75 I8 B 0% R 21,854, OOO%E (2017
the Company of $21,854,000 (2017: $27,167,000) and & :27,167,000F 7T) X F N B 1T
the weighted average of 1,144,598,398 ordinary shares 38 A A D0 KE 39 801,144,508,398 1%
(2017: 1,127,999,842 shares) in issue during the year, TR (20174 : 1,127,999,8424% ) 5t
calculated as follows: =R
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ZERNEFGE
2018 2017
20184 20174

Effect of issuance of ordinary shares upon
incorporation (note 22(a))

Effect of issuance of ordinary shares in
connection with the Reorganisation

Eé%‘fﬂ%mjﬁ%%éﬂ i 37 A%
T2 (MsE22(a) 1 1
?f%%ﬂ%ﬁfw%@ﬂxmé@
(Bt sE22(b)(i))

(note 22(b)(i) 1,000,000 1,000,000
Effect of capitalisation issue (note 22(b)(iv)) BRBETOTE
(Ft FE22(b)(iv) 1,198,936,169 1,198,936,169
Effect of treasure shares (note 23(f)) BEERHOTE
(Bt 5E23(1) (71,936,328)  (71,936,328)
Effect of issuance of ordinary shares upon RERXAHEERETYE
initial public offering (note 22(b)(iii)) mRATE
(Ff 3E22(b )(m)) 16,598,556 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 712831 H &) & @ A%
at 31 December S 1,144,598,398 1,127,999,842
The weighted average number of shares in issue during H E2018F N2017F12 A31 H [EF
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 was EREZHTROMEFLHHTTER
based on the assumption that the 1,127,999,842 shares 1,127,999,842 i% B& 15 (Hi & 71,936,328
(excluding effect of treasure shares of 71,936,328) were BEFEROHEZE)ERAROERR
issued before the listing of shares on the Stock Exchange, FrEMmAIEITHRE  BOZER
as if such shares had been outstanding throughout the R E 20184 K 2017412 A31H

years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

LEFERA—BEBHTEN
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9 Earnings per share (Continued)

(b)

138 Mobvista Inc.

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of US$21,854,000 (2017: 27,167,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,165,766,460 shares (2017: 1,127,999,842 shares) in
issue adjusted for the potential dilutive effect caused by
the shares granted under the share award scheme (see
note 21(b)).

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(diluted)

9

BERER

(b)

BEREERA

EREBESERFNDERERR A L EE
25 IR B B 4 48 F1121,854,0003% 7T (2017
F 27,167,000 ) R E BT LB
RS # 0 #E S 15 #01,165,766,460 0% I B
B (20174 :1,127,999,8420% )5t & -
ERRERDEZEBEELORND
ol BMEBETERETEELAE-
(B2 MK E21(0)

ZERNEFIGE (#E)
2018 2017
20185 20174

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 712 831 B &)@ IR 0 e

at 31 December FEHE 1,144,598,398 1,127,999,842
Effect of unvested shares under the NERG, BT BT RS
Company’s share award scheme BROBEE 21,168,062 —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 712 331 B ) & i I& hn e

(diluted) at 31 December g (#5E)

EENKARDA
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P AR BT EE

10 Property, plant and equipment 10 Y% BERSZE
Office
equipment,
Motor furniture Leasehold  Construction
vehicles  and fittings improvements  in progress Total
WARE g
RE  GER%E NELE REIR @t
Note US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
fizE FER TEn Txn SE FER
Cost: R
At 1 January 2017 12017E1A18 100 807 896 = 1,803
Additions NE 10 411 656 - 1,077
Disposals e - (179) (1) = (174)
Exchange difference ELEE 6 51 76 - 133
At 31 December 2017 and R2017E12A318 & 116 1,096 1,627 - 2,839
1 January 2018 2018F1A1H
Additions RE - 47 16 225 658
Disposals L& = (75) 7 = (82)
Deemed distribution BEDR 1(0) (118) (130) (636) (225) (1,109)
Exchange difference EHES 2 ) (34) - (73)
At 31 December 2018 12018 12A318 - 1,267 966 - 2,233
Accumulated depreciation: 25T E
At 1 January 2017 #0171 A1 - (189) (205) - (394)
Charge for the year ERME (32) (300) (303) = (635)
Written back on disposals HEED - 118 1 - 119
Exchange difference EHES ) (22) (23) = (46)
At 31 December 2017 and R2017E 12318 & (33 (393) (530) = (956)
1 January 2018 2018F1A1H
Charge for the year FRiNk (17) (330) (574) = (921)
Written back on disposals HEED - 39 7 - 46
Deemed distribution RIEDIK 1(b) 50 30 105 - 185
Exchange difference EHZES - 31 38 - 69
At 31 December 2018 #2018 12731 R = (623) (954) - (1,577)
Net book value: REEE
At 31 December 2018 12018128318 - 644 12 - 656
At 31 December 2017 120178128318 83 703 1,097 - 1,883
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11 Intangible assets 11 EBEEE
Developed
Royalties Software Trademark  Technology Total
Mt B [EL: RER @
Note Us$'000 US$°000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
sk FER Tin Txn FER FER
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2017 12017E1A18 1,174 118 1,157 2,814 5,263
Additions NE - 86 - 2,620 2,706
Disposals LE - (25) = = (25)
Exchange difference ELEE - 6 - - 6
At 31 December 2017 and 2017812318 & 1,174 185 1,157 5,434 7,950
1 January 2018 20181410
Additions NE = 246 - 3,812 4,058
Deemed distribution BEDR 1(0) - (37) - = (37)
Exchange difference EHES - (10) - - (10)
At 31 December 2018 "2018%F12A31H 1,174 384 1,157 9,246 11,961
Accumulated amortisation: 25t E
At 1 January 2017 Ro017£1A1A (1,136) (59) (137) (1,941) (3.273)
Charge for the year ERME (38) (54) (165) (556) (813)
Written back on disposals HEED - 17 - - 17
Exchange difference B EE - (3) - - @)
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A318 R (1,174) (99) (302) (2,497) (4,072)
1 January 2018 20181718
Charge for the year FERME = (77) (165) (1,673) (1,919)
Deemed distribution BRI - 8 - - 8
Exchange difference EREE - 7 = = 7
At 31 December 2018 Ro018E12A31R (1,174) (161) (467) (4,470) (5,972)
Net book value: REEE
At 31 December 2018 12018124318 - 223 690 5,076 5,989
At 31 December 2017 120178128318 = 86 855 2,937 3,878
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P AR BT EE

Goodwill 12 B
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FTEx F=E
Goodwill in connection with the ERWBTIATINEE:
acquisition of:
— nativeX, LLC. (i) — nativeX, LLC. (i) 19,981 19,981
— Game analytics Aps (ii) — Game analytics Aps (ii) 9,017 9,017
28,998 28,998
Carrying amount: R [E &
At 31 December W12 A31H 28,998 28,998
(i) Goodwill in connection with the acquisition (i) A B W EBnativeX, LLCH B &

of nativeX, LLC

In connection with the Group’s acquisition of nativeX,
LLC, the Group recognised goodwill of US$19,981,000.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU)
identified according to country of operation.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projection based on financial forecast
approved by management. The key assumptions used
in the estimation of the recoverable amount are pre-tax
discount rate and budgeted revenue growth rate (average
of financial forecasts period) set out below. The expected
revenue growth rate is following the business plan
approved by the Group. Pre-tax discount rate represents
the current market assessment of the risks specific to the
CGU, regarding the time value of money and individual
risks of the underlying assets which have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates.

LA 52 B g BnativeX, LLCT 5 » AN
] 7% 32 75 219,981,000 7T ° LR E
BEms BEEHIEEAEER
BREHFXBINNBESELEELR
TEAEBEAM) -

ReELBEUNA KOS BRER
ERAEBEFE ZFFAELERIR
EHEEBHENTBEARAR
TREFBANGFE -HA A KRE SR
BEANEIEERRAS T XAENHR
ARG IR R MR E WAL K (F %558 A
HEMFHH) FERARREAR
AEBEHENEBFEARESH -
B B 3R R 15 E AT T 5 B R BF A
BenEBfANESRHENRERE
EEBRER  FAAENREELE
(VA PR e
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PR AR BT EE

12  Goodwill (Continued)

(i)

142 Mobvista Inc.

12 BHE B

Goodwill in connection with the acquisition (i) HAEWEnativeX, LLCHIRE
of nativeX, LLC (Continued) (8
2018 2017
20184 20174
In percent Baot
Pre-tax discount rate T AT BL IR X 21.5% 19.1%
Terminal value growth rate XA(EIE R R 3.0% 5.0%
Budgeted revenue growth rate BE W AR X
(average of financial forecasts period) (B8 Bl EAE A9 19 80) 17.3% 11.0%

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded
its carrying amount by approximately US$13,197,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: 5,486,000).

The Company performs the sensitivity analysis based on
the assumption that pre-tax discount rate and revenue
growth rate has been changed. Had the estimated key

R2018F - e EABMMMEEA
KEcHEEBREEEAESS O A
13,197,000 3 7T (2017 & 4 5,486,000
ET) °

ARFREBAEREREARE
B R BB AT BB S
oot EEBRRAEABRE

assumption during the forecast period been changed as HImM TN EE)  AIZBERIWOT
below, the headroom would be decreased to as below:

2018 2017

20184 20174

US$’000 US$'000

TEx FETT

Pre-Tax discount rate increase by 5%  FH{ATAFIR KR EF5% 6,421 3,779
Budgeted revenue growth rate TEEW AR KR TES%

decrease by 5% 11,438 4,132

As at 31 December 2018, if the pre-tax discount rate rose
to 35.3% (2017: 22.4%) or budgeted revenue growth
rate (average of financial forecasts period) decreased to
11.4% (2017: 6%), the recoverable amount of the CGU
would be approximately equal to its carrying amount.

Reasonable possible changes in key assumptions would
not lead to impairment as at 31 December 2018 and
2017, respectively.

EENKARDA

MR2018F 12 4318 - i Fi AT 8L IR =X
F+ 2= 35.3% (2017 F 522.4%) L FEE
WA R X (B TEAIE 8 F 980
BE11.4% (2017 F 5£6%) * BI IR &
EEEMHITRESEBEABER
HERMEE -

R2018F K2017F12A31H » £ &
BREMEEAEEH T TEBURE -
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12 Goodwill (Continued)

(ii)

Goodwill in connection with the acquisition
of Game analytics ApS

In connection with the Group’s acquisition of Game
analytics ApS, the Group recognised goodwill of
US$9,017,000. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s CGU identified
according to country of operation.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projection based on financial forecast
approved by management. The key assumptions used
in the estimation of the recoverable amount are pre-tax
discount rate and budgeted revenue growth rate (average
of financial forecasts period) set out below. The expected
revenue growth rate is following the business plan
approved by the Group. Pre-tax discount rate represents
the current market assessment of the risks specific to the
CGU, regarding the time value of money and individual
risks of the underlying assets which have not been
incorporated in the cash flow estimates.

P AR BT EE

12 BHEH)

(ii)

& B Y B Game analytics ApS
EE

AR & B I BBGame analytics ApSim
T AEEM®REE017,000E T e
RRABEARME  BEE>EEARSE
ERBELERBRNIRSEEEM -

ReELEUMAKESBERER
EREENE ZREAELEHERIR
FHEEEAENTEER KRR
EREFRNGFE -FHEAATKREEER
HEANERM/ES NI
IR ERFAERARER XA B TR
RBMENFHE) BERALZRE
RAREHEN X G S HEHGS D
BATRR IR R E R MG H KRG A
BeRERTNESHERERE
EEpER  FAAENRSELE
1A R -

2018 2017
20184 20174
In percent Bok
Pre-tax discount rate FiRTAL IR =X 18.6% 10.5%
Terminal value growth rate KAEIER R 3.0% 2.0%
Budgeted revenue growth rate FEEIW AR R
(average of financial forecasts period) (B4 75 38 8] HA I 49 P 15 26) 17.5% 10.0%
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12  Goodwill (Continued) 12 BE®H)
(ii) Goodwill in connection with the acquisition (i) & B W EGame analytics ApS
of Game analytics ApS OIS
The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded R2018F12A31H - WEEEL B
its carrying amount by approximately US$4,925,000 as at MiEstr ke € ERAEREEES
31 December 2018 (2017: US$2,964,000). 7 %) 54,925,000 % 7T & (2017 F &
2,964,000 JT) °
The Company performs the sensitivity analysis based on RAARIBEBRAEREERBERA
the assumption that pre-tax discount rate and budgeted EEXR(WMBEIBENESEE
revenue growth rate (average of financial forecasts period) TIREHOBRBZETHRRED T -
has been changed. Had the estimated key assumption MEFTERZAEISHBEE £IR
during the forecast period been changed as below, the mTEE - BZBEERLNAT
headroom would be decreased to as below:
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 Us$'000
FESE FET
Pre-Tax discount rate increase by 5%  FiA1AFIR R EFH5% 4,819 1,329
Budgeted revenue growth rate BE U A E R T[E5%
decrease by 5% 4,682 1,952
As at 31 December 2018, if the pre-tax discount rate rose R20184F 12 531 H - fix £ A B IR =&

144 Mobvista Inc.

to 23.7% (2017: 12.5%) or budgeted revenue growth
rate (average of financial forecasts period) decreased to
12.4% (2017: 6.8%), the recoverable amount of the CGU
would be approximately equal to its carrying amount.

Reasonable possible changes in key assumptions would
not lead to impairment as at 31 December 2018 and
2017, respectively.

EENKARDA

F E23.7% (2017 F £12.5%) =k T8 &
WA & R (B TR SR M F 5 &)

VL 212.4% (20174 £6.8%) * AIIR &
EXEMNHTHRESEBEARER
HEREE -

‘\2017$&2018¢12ﬁ31 H 2
BREMNEEA S ITSEHRE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P AR BT EE

Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group. The class of share held is ordinary unless otherwise

stated.

13 RHMEBARKNRKRE

Proportion of
ownership interest

TREJIHHAKENERE BEXARE
BEAREZIENEBR
RN IR A 2R ERNE R EEK -

AER -BRE

BERHLA
Place and date issued and paid-up
of incorporation/ capital/registered
Company name establishment capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
EMEL, ERTRARBERE/
NCEE ] RS R B S dEfEA B B TEEK
Mobvista International Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$") — 100% Mobile advertising
Limited (“MIT HK”") 15 December 2014 10,000 services
ERERRMER AR BB 10,000 7T BHELRE
2014F12A158
Advertter Technology Company Limited Seychelles US$100 — 100% Mobile advertising
24 June 2015 services
NEERHRMERRA E5@ 100% 7T BEHELRE
201566H24H
Flash Banner Technology Company Seychelles US$100 — 100% Mobile advertising
Limited 24 June 2015 services
EHAERMERAR E5@ 100% 7T BBESE RS
2015%6H24H
Mintegral Limited (formerly known as  Seychelles US$100 — 100% Mobile advertising
Pointer Ad Technology Company 24 June 2015 services
Limited)
BB AR A7 (AT #Pointer Ad E5@ 100E 7T BB ES RS
Technology Company Limited) 2015%F6H24H
Adlogic Technology Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore Dollar 50,000 — 100% Mobile advertising
14 October 2015 services
Adlogic Technology Pte. Ltd. g 50,0003 i3 & BEBES RSB
2015F10A148
Mintegral International Limited (formerly Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100% Mobile advertising
known as Dime Freak Technology 24 May 2013 services
Limited)
BREBRERAR (AR BB 10,000 7T BHELRE
AR AA) 201355240
Mobvista-Japan Co., Ltd. Japan Japanese Yen 1,000,000 - 100% Mobile advertising
22 September 2017 services
Mobvista-Japan Co., Ltd. BA 1,000,0008 7T BoREER%
201749H22H
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13 RHEBARNKRE@E

13 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)
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Proportion of
ownership interest

BEESLLH

Place and date issued and paid-up
of incorporation/ capital/registered

Company name establishment capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
SR/ ERTRARBERE,/

AREB BAMEHER A S ZMER E# Mg TEEXK

Guangzhou Huiliang Information the PRC US$1,000,000 — 100% Technology and

Technology Company Limited 2 April 2015 mobile advertising
(“Guangzhou Huiliang”) services

EMNEEEERRERLRA H 1,000,000% 7 Bl % B & & PR 7%
201564 A2R

Eurocore B.V. Netherlands Euro 1 = 100% Investment holding
28 July 2016

BREBRAA W 18 REER
201657 H28H

USCore, Inc United States of US$1 — 100% Investment holding

America (“US”)

9 December 2015

USCore, Inc xE 1ET REERK
2015612 A9H

Game Analytics ApS Denmark Euro 74,067 — 100% Mobile advertising
20 October 2011 analysis solutions

ERNARZHERAF % 74,067BX T BREEAMBRT
2011410/ 20H ES

nativeX, LLC us - — 100% Mobile advertising
9 June 2010 services

TN R EREEAT e = BHESRE
20106 H9H

Game Analytics Ltd. England and Wales British Pound 1 — 100% Mobile advertising
11 September 2014 analysis solutions

Game Analytics Ltd. BRERERE 1 B BEREEDTRAR
201459A11H ES

EENKARDA
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Other financial assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 HtetmEE

P AR BT EE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Note US$’000 US$’'000
M 3E FEx FET
Financial assets at fair value through SFAEZNEREE ([UAFE
profit or loss (“FVPL”) B2 BEZHT ABRR 71,000 -
TRMEE]
Notes: M aE -

Financial assets at FVPL at 31 December 2018 included:

(i)

a loan receivable from a third party acquired by the Group in March 2018.
The loan has a principal amount of US$1,000,000 and bears an interest
at 3% per annum, and carries a conversion option to acquire certain
equity interest in a company. This convertible loan and the embedded
conversion option has been entirely classified to financial assets at FVPL
in accordance with IFRS 9. As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of
the financial assets at FVPL is not materially different from the principal
amount of US$1,000,000.

an investment in a wealth management product with principal amount
of US$70,000,000 issued by a financial institution in Hong Kong as at
31 December 2018. The wealth management product will mature in
December 2020 with guaranteed principals and no fixed interest rate
attached to it. The Group has an option to withdraw the principal partially
since the first anniversary when agreed with the financial institution. The
wealth management product and the embedded put option has been
entirely classified to financial assets at FVPL in accordance with IFRS 9. As
at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the financial assets is not materially
different from the principal amount of US$70,000,000.

R2018F12AB81H * UAFEEBEEZ B AERD
SREERE

0

(i

AEBMP2018FIAME = HRBHEIRER -
ZE A4 8 A1,000,000% 7T 0 EFE3%
AR UM AEBRENKBARNS TRE-
RIBFBEEMBREENEIR Z AT BRRER
kB AXNBRECR2EHAANRFEFZE
HEBHit ABaNeREE - BlE2018F12 4
1A UATFENFEBHETABSENS R
BEAFEE1,000000F THAREEL EEK
=8 o

R2018F12A31A ' REAR —BEH BB IHH
BT 2 EMER - A& % /70,000,000 7T °
ZEVERGNR2020F 12858 ARAE
M WAMFEEFRE AR —BFR - L8
BHBRE AEHEEREDNEIAS < 1%
BEEMERELENEOW  HEMERRR
ARREHEO 2 RBEAUAFEFERR
BEFABZONERMEE - B 22018512 A31
B UAFEAELHEHTABENEHE
E A F{EH70,000,000E TR AN S EIWEEK
=8 o
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15 Trade and other receivables

15 EBEZRHEHMEWRNRE

2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’ 000 US$’ 000
Fxx FET
Trade receivables 2 5 WK 159,955 89,857
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts SRR B (14,453) (12,090)
145,502 77,767
Deposits and prepayments e RIEMNRIE 8,688 68,651
Amounts due from related parties JiE Uk B B 5 3R B

(note (i)/note 26(b)(i)) (B 7 (), M 5E26(0)(0)) - 35,896
Other receivables (note (i) H 4th e e zIB (BT R 67,970 1,810
222,160 184,124

Less: Non-current deposits and B IERER e MTENRIE
prepayments (note (iii)) D)) (1,306) (65,992)
220,854 118,132

All of the trade and other receivables (including amounts due
from related parties) included in current assets are expected to
be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2017, the amounts due from related parties were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) As at 31 December 2018, the Group held an investment in a wealth

management product of US$64,589,500 issued by a financial institution
in the PRC maturing within one year, with guaranteed principals and fixed
returns of 2.5% per annum.

(iii) Non-current deposits and prepayments at 31 December 2017 mainly
represent prepayments for properties. As at 31 May 2018, such
prepayments for properties were retained by Guangzhou Mobvista and
had been reflected as deem distribution to Guangzhou Mobvista during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

148 Mobvistalnc. EERFEER AT

BHMBHARBDEENE S M EMEK
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(i)

#R2017F12 3318 - EURREEEE 5 308 A &K
B 2BERERERERER -

H2018F12A31H - AL BEFE —EAFTEH
CRIMERT —FRINPNEMERERE
64,589,500 T ' REAR & R TFF2.5%H
TFUA o

R2017F12A318 e B e RBE K
B EEYETEFKIE - BHE201865H31
A ENEERGREZEWERNSKE -
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P AR BT EE

B 5 & H b B W FRE (5)
AR 2 #7

R2018F12A831H st AB G R E
fEWRIBENE 5 EKRZKRE(ENR
REEB WERE DT AR AER

15 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 15
(@) Ageing analysis (a)

As at 31 December 2018, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the revenue recognition date and

net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows: BERETE)WT -
2018 2017
20184 20174
us$’ 000 US$’ 000
FEx FE=T
Within 3 months 3@ AR 108,791 55,194
3 to 6 months 3%261E A 21,772 10,141
6 to 12 months 6E 1218 A 12,117 8,944
Over 12 months HBim121E A 2,822 3,488
145,502 77,767

Trade receivables are due within 60-90 days from the ZoEKMZTEBEBRINAERB B
60ZEQ0H W EIH - REEEABUX

R — R B R E24(a)

date of revenue recognition. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 24(a).

16 Cash and bank balances 16 B E£NBITEE

ZRHERE

PR P 3R BUR (3 A ok 45 9 AR FE 4R
MIREREGERMBRARARBILED
ETegft AGeBReREXRNER
EEEBWREA -

(@) Restricted cash (a)

Cash that is restricted as to withdrawal for use or pledged
as security is reported separately on the face of the
consolidated statements of financial position, and is not
included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statements of cash flows.

2018 2017

20184 20174

US$’ 000 Us$’ 000

FEx FET

Deposits pledged for bank borrowings ERtiRITHE IR EHER 4,425 47,243
Other deposits in banks HEMiRTER 329 375
4,754 47,618
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16 Cash and bank balances (Continued) 16 BERBITEEHE)
(b) Cash and cash equivalents b) RERBSZEEY
2018 2017
20184 20174
Us$’ 000 Us$’ 000
FEx F=ET
Cash at bank and on hand ROTEAREFRE 64,865 44,797
As at 31 December 2018, cash and cash equivalents R2018F 12 A31H  TERH
placed with banks in Mainland China amounted to NETHIRERNEBELEEY A
US$25,715,000 (2017: US$15,434,000). Remittance of 25,715,0003% 7T (2017 £F /415,434,000
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the relevant EL) o BELEHDPRERNM TS
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control BT E B INE S B AE A B &
promulgated by the PRC government. HOIFRE
As at 31 May 2018, cash and cash equivalents with an HZ2018F5A31H - BMEZRMHD
aggregate carrying value of approximately US$2,024,000, R T # R MEFE 42,024,000 T
were retained by Guangzhou Mobvista and had been MRS EBESEEY W AH
reflected as deemed distribution to Guangzhou Mobvista Z20184F 12 A31 B 1t [ & I [E = i%
for the year ended 31 December 2018. MR IEDIK °
() Reconciliation of profit before taxation to () BRFBANEFNEKLETHAEE
cash generated from operations: ERENBEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note US$’000 US$’'000
B 5 FESE TET
Profit before taxation R F5 B A 26,151 30,415
Adjustments for: AT EERAE
Depreciation e 5(c) 921 635
Amortisation B 5H 5(c) 1,915 813
Interest expense BN 5(a) 788 189
Interest income MEWA 4 (1,217) (585)
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME  BMEX
plant and equipment HEBEFE 30 43
Net loss on disposal of intangible HEELEEEIE S
asset = 8
Equity-settled share-based BHREREURGO BERD
payment expenses A 6,448 3,230
Impairment loss recognised ERERMEEE 5(c) 2,421 1,302
Gain on disposal of HEAHEERERA
available-for-sale investments 4 - (892)
Changes in working capital: BEEEEH
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 K E b eI GRIE (32 hn)/
other receivables Vs (68,422) 16,166
Increase in trade and other payables £ 5 % H fth F& 1~ X IH 1 N 65,234 4,748
Cash generated from operations KEEE) (FTA) /Fr5RE 34,269 56,072
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16
(d)

Cash and bank balances (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash

16

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

(d)

P AR BT EE

RERBRITERE)

METBDRELEEENEER

TERAKERELZDELENAE
BHFF BRASIERSEY -
MEETHELNBENDRACRE
IRKREERERAKTEFEER S
MERDERABELRDAETREN

BfE-

Amounts
due
from/(to)
Bank Interest related
loans payable parties Total
BE W
/(1)
B
RITER EFANE RIE #mat
US$’000 US$’000 US$000 US$000
FEx FEx FEx FEx
At 1 January 2017 R2017FE1 818 5,710 39 82,115 87,864
Changes from financing MERSRESE :
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RERITERZFENRIEA 54,618 — — 54,618
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (19,884) — — (19,884)
Repayment to related parties a) BE Bt 7 18 3Kk — — (15,047)  (15,047)
Interest paid and other ENFMEREMENEER
borrowing cost paid DN = (131) — (131)
Total changes from financing MERERELEEE
cash flows 34,734 (131) (15,047) 19,556
Exchange adjustment ERAR (1) = = (1)
Other changes: Hih& g
Interest expenses (note 5(a)) FIEF = (Ff7E5()) — 189 — 189
Total other changes H i B B 48 58 — 189 — 189
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16 Cash and bank balances (Continued) 16 BERBITEEHE)
(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (d ®BETEBFELEEENHERGE)
financing activities (Continued)
Amounts
due
from/(to)
Bank Interest related
loans payable parties Total
i
/()
20l
RITER ELHE MIE wEr

US$°000 US$000 US$000 US$’000
FERX FER FER FER

At 31 December 2017 and M2017FE12A31B &

1 January 2018 2018F181H 40,443 97 67,068 107,608
Changes from financing MERSRESLE
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RERITERZ
FriSsRIEEE
RITER 78,335 - — 78,335
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (70,371) - - (70,371)
Repayment to related parties ) B Byt 77 38 5K - - (57,846) (57,846)
Deemed distribution (note 1(b)) B 1E 5 K (M 551 (b)) (32,335) (57) (9,166)  (41,558)
Interest paid and other borrowing 2 1§l &, 2 E fth
cost paid BRHEER A
— (1,497) — (1,497)

Total changes from financing MERESRE

cash flows FEh4aEs (24,371) (1,554) (67,012) (92,937)
Exchange adjustment ELRAE 625 - - 625

Other changes:

Interest expenses (note 5(a)) B (M 5E5() - 788 - 788
Capitalised borrowing costs B R LR E KA - 679 - 679
Total other changes Hih & E)EsE - 1,467 - 1,467
At 31 December 2018 A2018%F12H31H 16,697 10 56 16,763
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P AR BT EE

Trade and other payables ESRHEMESRE
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx FET
Trade payables (note (a)) E 5 EMEE(HiE@) 124,918 66,700
Amounts due to related parties JE A< B Bt 5 w38 (B 5E26(b)(ii))

(note 26(b)(ii)) 56 102,964
Other payables H {th jE {4 5B 15,279 3,239
Receipt in advance TE U IR 5,014 1,893
Staff costs payables FEfT B TR A 5,635 5,447
VAT and other tax payables B N H b fE A AR I8 1,199 715

152,101 180,958

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on
demand.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the amounts due to related
parties were non-trade related, unsecured and interest-free.

(@ An ageing analysis of the trade payables based on the

MBES MEMEMNKBERNR —FRS
BRERASWA - HARERERE -

N2018F K2017E12A31H » FE @
RIBERIIEEZHERE  BERELE -

@ EBEZENFEREBEZEZBHNOREK

invoice date is as follows: ST :
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx FET
Within 1 month 1EAR 43,231 20,007
1 to 2 months 1221 A 27,305 13,896
2 to 3 months 2% 3@ A 20,908 8,981
Over 3 months 31E A LA 33,474 23,816
124,918 66,700
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18 Bank loans 18 HRITER
As at 31 December 2018, the bank loans were repayable as R2018F 12 A31H  RITEREEZB LW
follows: T
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’°000 US$’000
FEx FTET
Within 1 year or on demand 1FE Rz Bk 16,697 7,587
After 1 year but within 5 years 1FBEREFR = 32,856
16,697 40,443
As at 31 December 2018, the bank loans were secured as R2018F 12 A31H » $RITE Z L5 0 10
follows: T
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’000
FEx FET
Unsecured (note (a)) R (B 3E @) - 7,587
Secured (note (a)/(b)) IR (KisE@), /(b)) 16,697 32,856
16,697 40,443
Notes: B 5 -

(@) As at 31 December 2018, the Group has bank loans amounted to
US$16,697,000 (2017: US$7,587,000) which was drawn down under a
banking facility guaranteed by Guangzhou Mobvista.

(b) As at 31 December 2018, restricted cash of US$4,425,000 (2017:
US$47,243,000) was placed with the borrowing bank as deposits for the
secured bank loan of US$16,697,000 (2017: US$32,856,000).

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios, as are commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were
to breach the covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are
set out in note 24(b). As at 31 December 2018, none of the covenants
relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (2017: Nil).
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R2018F 12831 AEBARITEX
16,697,000 3 7T (2017 & : 7,587,000% 7T) *
TRERBEMNEERMERNRTEREEE
R o

7R 20185F 12 A31 B + X R #l I’ £ 4,425,000
% 7t (2017 4F : 47,243,0003% J©) 17 WA 18 7
$£77 - 1E BB E IR 1T E 3016,697,000% 7T
(20174 : 32,856,000 7T) M & -

AEBEHFETREAFTHEHAEEETEE
BERLER(FEFERERTEBII LG
BLEP)EENRAEERITESAEE W
AEEEREHEZH  AEXHARE KR
EREE -AEETHERELETHEBARE
MER BRAASEERDERARKREEE—
& 515 BN BT 7E24(0) - R2018412A31H -
MEEREADHAREFANRZFL(2017F A

z) -
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19 Income tax in the consolidated statements of 19 HKEHMBERRARWFAER
financial position

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated (@) HFEHBRIARAMNERBIE
statements of financial position represents: g -
2018 2017
20184 20174
Us$’000 US$’000
FER TET
Current tax payable FE RN ER R 1B 4,794 7,263
Current tax recoverable A] Y B B EA R 18 - (266)
4,794 6,997
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities b) CERIAELEHEEERAERE:
recognised:
(i) Movement of each component of () EEHELEREEHZHA
deferred tax assets and liabilities Bt &8 45 B 5 B
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) FENEGEASMBERNEERH
recognised in the consolidated statement of BEEBRIEZSE,(BE)WAERK
financial position and the movements during the BORESEFMOT :

year are as follows:

Depreciation
Share-based  Provision for and
Deferred tax arising from FELEERSE Tax loss compensation  impairment amortisation Goodwill Total
DR BEH
REES E0) AEEE  FENESH BE @it

US$000 Us$000 Us$000 Us$000 Us$'000
FER FER FTER FER TER

At 1 January 2017 R2017E1 AR 1,657 1,217 1,840 - (413) 4,301
Credited/(charged) to SHABHE

profit or loss 2,171 533 377 96 (208) 2,969
Exchange difference EREH 196 - 1 - = 197
At 31 December 2017 #2017612 4310 4,024 1,750 2218 9% (621) 7,467
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss & A B % (1,533 980 355 8) (294) (500)
Deemed distribution (note 1(0) B #E5 R (Fit 3 1(0) (38) - (64) - = (92)
Exchange difference ERES (13) (28) - - - (41)
At 31 December 2018 R2018E12A31H 2,440 2,702 2,519 88 (915) 6,834
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19 Income tax in the consolidated statements of
financial position (Continued)

(b)

(c)

156 Mobvista Inc.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised: (Continued)

(ij)  Reconciliation to the consolidated

statements of financial position

REMBRRARNAEHR (@)

(b)

CRAELEHREERERE :

(&)

(i) BB B R

2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx FET
Net deferred tax asset recognised RERE B IS AR R R
in the consolidated statements of EIETIBE EFE
financial position 7,749 8,088
Net deferred tax liability recognised W42 & B SR 5 & T8 22 6
in the consolidated statements of EEIBEE T8
financial position (915) (621)
6,834 7,467
Deferred tax assets not recognised: () XAERNWEZEHBEEE :

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
1(p), the Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of US$299,000 as at 31
December 2018 (2017: US$395,000), as it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction. The
tax losses as at 31 December 2018 will expire in 9 years
under current tax legislation.

EENKARDA

BEWFIPMEzN T IE - K
£ B MN2018F 128318 I #E5t 2
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee retirement benefits
Defined contribution retirement plans

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government
authorities whereby the PRC subsidiaries are required to make
contributions at the applicable rate of the eligible employees’
salaries to the Schemes. The Group has accrued for the
required contributions which are remitted to the respective local
government authorities when the contributions become due.
The local government authorities are responsible for the pension
obligations payable to the retired employees covered under the
Schemes.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
plan vest immediately.

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organised by the relevant government
authorities in various areas other than Mainland China and Hong
Kong, The Group'’s liability in respect of these plans is limited to
the contributions payable at the end of each reporting period.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
pension benefits beyond the contributions described above.

20

P AR BT EE

BERKER
REMRKRMAKGE

AEENPEMBARZ2MTHTEAED
BT #% 48 BR A2 B SRTE 4 KR IR AR A AR SRET
S(TFHED - B ZFTEKERRAR
RERMBEHSMNESBEL XM BN -
AEBEEFIEMBFELOGRK  XREH
B E =AM E BT HEE - 2B
KEARERAXAIREHERKER MR
re -

AEEBREERVNELABEEAERIAR
BEERBHIFEENRENTERES
REEBRHMELEFE(RESFEL -
ZBEEFE /R ERIFEIAGE - XA
BUEAEETER REREFE &
IREREENARRBEAMNE 5%
REZAEHEFT MEBABRNFELRA
30,00078 7T ° Fr B B BNE iR T &5t & -

AEBEFBERNMREERINEIR AR
B B BT HE 18 3R 3L A & IR FUE (HRGET B R
R MAREHZEASNEENE RS
HREMNOERSR - ZFtEMHEKTS
RELERHE -

B DA gt AREREERAERNERE
SRR
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21 Share-based compensation expenses

(a)

158 Mobvista Inc.

Share-based compensation scheme of
Guangzhou Mobvista

The Group’s ultimate controlling party, Guangzhou
Mobvista, operates a share-based compensation
scheme (the “Guangzhou Mobvista Scheme”) under
which the restricted stock units of Guangzhou Mobvista
(“Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs”) will be granted to qualified
employees of Guangzhou Mobvista and its subsidiaries.
The Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs granted would vest on
specific dates, on condition that employees remain in
service without any performance requirements. Once the
vesting conditions underlying the respective Guangzhou
Mobvista RSUs are met, the Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs
are considered duly and validly issued to the holder, and
free of restrictions on transfer.

During 2014 and 2015, Guangzhou Mobvista had
granted such RSUs to certain directors and employees
of the Group under the Scheme, which vest after one
year to four years from the date of grant. Movements in
the number of Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs granted to
the Group’s directors and employees and the respective
weighted-average grant date fair value are as follows:

21

BURRAD 25 B 1 BY 3R BR 2
(@) EMNEEROOURGHER
VET

AEBHREERT BNESRND
B AR AR B RN AT 8 (T3
BEMEERMDE]) - &b - BME
BB E X RS BD EL(EME
EERDEBRWIBNEMD SR TE
MEEROHDEEMBARANG ER
BE - ERHEMEZRN X R HIAK
NEUHARFTEENEE KT
BEMER BYEBEFMRBER-
& BN E 8B X R B A B AL/
HERBIRFEKREK  BMNEER
MERWBODEMRE/SEARE
METTRAAN  BABERRS -

2014 F k20154 « B EE KB
EREZFENAEBRETESER
BEELIBHRMELN MEK
BEREBHE—ZONFERER -~
SEESREEEENEMNEER
1D ZBR &I AR 15 B8 2 8 B & 48 B hn 4
FHREAHPAFENESNOT :

Weighted

average

grant date

Number fair value

of RSUs per RSU

BEZ R

B% 13 B A Y

TREKRG MEFERE

BNEE HEAFRE

uss

EY
Outstanding as of 1 January 2017 HZE2017F

1R1EAREE 8,563,819 1.55

Forfeited during the year FRERK (1,600,000 2.29

Vested during the year FAERE (6,026,947) 1.19
Outstanding as of 31 December 2017 HZE2017F

and 1 January 2018 12A31H &

2018F1A1B KRG B 936,872 3.09

Vested during the year FRNEHE (936,872 3.09
Outstanding as of 31 December 2018 H 220184

12A31BKEB — N/A
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21 Share-based compensation expenses (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme of
Guangzhou Mobvista (Continued)

Share-based compensation expense relating to awards
granted to employees is based on the grant date fair value
of the Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs and is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the entire vesting period.
The fair value of each Guangzhou Mobvista RSU at the
grant dates is determined by reference to the fair value of
the underlying ordinary shares of Guangzhou Mobvista
on the date of grant. The grant date fair value was
determined with the assistance of an independent third
party valuation firm, and discounted cash flow method
was used to determine fair value of the underlying shares.
Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into account
in the grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. No dividends has been taken into account in
the grant date fair value measurement of the services
received. There were no market conditions associated
with the Guangzhou Mobvista RSUs.

Share-based compensation scheme of the
Group

The Company has adopted a share incentive scheme on 27
September 2018 and amended on 19 November 2018, and
issued 60,604,700 shares (after adjusted for capitalisation issue
(note 22(b)(iii))) of the Company for the purposes of incentivize
employee, directors, senior management and officers for their
contribution to the Group and attract and retain skilled and
experienced personnel for the future growth of the Group for
providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in
the Company (the “2018 Share Incentive Plan”).

Two trusts have been set up to assist the Board of
Directors with the administration and vesting of RSUs
granted pursuant to the 2018 Share Incentive Plan (the
“RSU trustees”).

On 1 November 2018, the Group granted 49,454,400
RSUs to certain employees of the Group. On 21
November 2018, the Group granted 4,708,100 RSUs
and 6,442,200 RSUs to certain directors and senior
management of the Group respectively. Each RSUs is
settled by transfer of one ordinary share of the Company
from the RSU trustees to the grantee upon its vesting.

P AR BT EE

21 LR HER ARG X (50

(a)

(b)

ENEEROGNVUARGHER
HY R 5 8 ()

HETRERENEEABNAKND
AR BHMAEMNEERN HE
Fx@ﬂkﬁ“@%%ﬁﬁ%“$
Bt E  REEFBHNRERERE
%°%EM[gkﬁf@ﬂk@$
URELBEHORFETDZ2EREM
EERMRILBHMOEHREBRKR
RFEMEE REAHAFEE
BUYB=FHEARNMRE TEE
MEBREREZANEETHERND
MRFE - BMNEERNDSZRG K
MEBEVERERBBEREL - £
ERBORLBEHAFEAERL
BEARBRBER  FEGFRERE X
N EEMNEER DX RS RO
BAABOMSER -

AEBE AR R E T K R
=t &

KA BR2018F9 A27 HE M I
MR2018E 11 A1I9RER —BH K
60,604,700 Bz (4 & AN (L 3 17 3 B &
(B 5E22(0)(ii)) ) A~ A B A% 19 &9 A% 19 8
BEtd BEEERRERERAATR
EHRE  HEEES EFE - AT
BEERSBRBEARNEE(FELER
ﬁ%$%lmﬁkﬁﬁwa&ﬁm
BEMmamkaemezsmA B (2018
E%ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%b

MEEECERYL U ESTS
BEEBIE2018F KD BB GBI E B
MEZREBROEMNNEERER (2
RAEIEMZEALD ©

R2018F 11 A1H  AEBEMREAR T
1B B 1% 149,454,400 IR #l B (7 -
R2018%F11 A21H  AEBREE T
EERERERRED RFH4,708,100
19 = BB I B% 15 B {1 } 6,442,20017 %
BRI EL - FHXRAIDEE
VNAREBRAIRH KRGO EMTT
ANBEEBEAEBZARNR —KRE®ER
MAREE -
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21 Share-based compensation expenses (Continued)

(b)

160 Mobvista Inc.

Share-based compensation scheme of the
Group (Continued)

Pursuant to the RSUs agreements under 2018 Share
Incentive Plan, subject to grantee’s continued service to
the Group through the applicable vesting date, the RSUs
shall become vested after 2 months to 30 months from
the date of grant.

Movements in the number of RSUs granted to the
Group’s directors and employees and the respective
weighted-average grant date fair value are as follows:

21

BURR A7 5 B 7 B9 3R B8 < (40)

(b)

A& E 8 R A0 B B 1 A9 R
=t & (|)

RIFE2018F I 0 BB 5t 8] THO X R
HIR D B - EARARER
FEAHAM —EAAKERERS
MEER - XRHBRDEMLERH
EHAREFMmERZE=11@AMKX
RERE -

BEFAREEEREBHERHB
BEMHE BB URE G REY
B MR THATEDT -

Weighted

average

grant date

Number fair value

of RSUs per RSU

18 Z R &

[ vil=R A |

ZREKRG MEFHEREY

BNEE HEAEE

Us$

EpH

Outstanding as of 1 January 2018 HZE2018F1A1HARE — —
Granted during the year FREE 60,604,700 0.50
Outstanding as of 31 December 2018 HE2018F12A31BARE 60,604,700 0.50

Share-based compensation expense relating to awards
granted to employees is based on the grant date fair value
of the RSUs and is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the entire vesting period. The fair value of each RSU
at the grant dates is determined by reference to the fair
value of the underlying ordinary shares of the Company
on the date of grant. The grant date fair value was
determined with the assistance of an independent third
party valuation firm, and discounted cash flow method
was used to determine fair value of the underlying shares.
RSUs were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant
date fair value measurement of the services received. No
dividends has been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There
were no market conditions associated with the RSUs.
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22 Share capital 22 KA
(a) Authorised (@ CEEERZE
Nominal
Number value of
of shares shares
RoBE BROSXREE
USD’000
FER
At 1 January, 31 December 2017 and 20171 A1E
1 January 2018 2017F12H318H

2018F1A1H — —
Increase of authorised ordinary shares PR AL IE 10,000,000,000 100,000

Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each B—EBEREME0.01ET
#I A% 15 10,000,000,000 100,000

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with an authorised share capital of US$50,000 divided
into 5,000,000 shares of US$0.01 each and issued one
share, credited as fully paid.

ARARIRAEHESEMAY A FE
% 7R 7%50,0002€ 7T - 9 435,000,000 #%
EREMBEOIETARN - WE T
—RINERABHMERRARG -

Pursuant to written resolutions consented by the board
of directors of the Company on 30 October 2018, the
Company’s authorised share capital was increased
to US$100,000 by the creation of an additional
9,995,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each, ranking
pari passu with the existing ordinary shares of the

K B TE20184F 10 A0 H A A 2 Al
MESTRENEETE  HERE
519,995,000,000 A% & i@ ik & Iz | &
0017  AAAIKMERERKNIEZ
100,000 7T * BT RMHEEME
FHERBAFEHTROEFREM
Company in all respects. L o
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22
(b)

162 Mobvista Inc.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive

dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company’s residual assets.

(i) In connection with the Reorganisation, on 13 April 0)

MRS YHhARQ
BARMRRE - R ARBRBEE
msE MAEEBRSEARFMA -

2018, Seamless established Worldwide Target
Limited (“Worldwide BVI”) as its wholly-owned
subsidiary in the BVI, and then transferred to
Worldwide BVI the entire share capital of each
of Mintegral Limited, Flash Banner Technology
Company Limited, Advertter Technology Company
Limited, Mintegral International Limited, Westcore
Technology Limited, Adlogic Technology Pte.
Ltd. and Mobvista International Technology
Limited (together the “Transferred Entities”),
in consideration for 60,217,492 shares of the
Worldwide BVI.

EENKARDA

Share capital (Continued) 22 KA (H)
Issued and fully paid b) ERTRHBERR
Ordinary shares
ZER
Nominal
value of
Number of fully paid
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
R R
ZER
ZERYE E&HEE
Note usSD’000
B 7 FEx
At 1 January, 31 December 2017 MR2017F1A1H -
and 1 January 2018 12 A31H 120184
1A1H — —
Issuance of ordinary shares upon REEM A BB 1T E B
incorporation 1 —
Issuance of ordinary shares MEBABITERR
in connection with the
Reorganisation 1,000,000 10
Issuance of ordinary shares to RSU  [@ % [R Hl| J& {5 B i i
trustees FEREeBITL AR 63,830 1
Issuance of shares upon initial REXARABEERET ii
public offering = ilila 318,867,000 3,188
Capitalisation issue BEAR(L BT iv 1,198,936,169 11,989
As at 31 December 2018 7R2018F12H31H 1,518,867,000 15,188

23 BRI B A AR B B IR A R E
AERLEEE

2018 £ 4 A 13 A - JE /&
REAERBEZRBESE K
7 Worldwide Target Limited
([Worldwide BVI)) tE B 2 &
W%/&Eﬂ T REBEERER
B BE NAE - BHBEREMAE
|3E< SU%?&%&TTIE&E

NICTIN m%yl 2HERALQA
Westcore Technology Limited *
Adlogic Technology Pte.Ltd. &

M X B R £ lT A R 2 | (488

z%m;giaiam>><am 2B B
7K ¥ 2 TWorldwide BVI » LA

E\Worldwide BVI#)60,217,492 %
Btn o
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22 Share capital (Continued)

(b) Issued and fully paid (Continued)

(i

(it

(i)

(v)

(Continued)

On 8 August 2018, the Company issued 1,000,000
shares with par value of US$0.01 to Seamless in
exchange for the entire share capital of Worldwide
BVI. Upon the completion of the Reorganisation,
the Company becomes the holding company of
the Group.

Consequently, the combined share capital of
US$39,000 of the Transferred Entities is deducted
from the share capital, and the difference of
US$29,000 between the consideration and
the share capital of the transferred entities was
recorded as a capital reserve.

On 12 October 2018, the Company issued 63,830
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.01 each
to the RSU trustees.

Upon completion of the IPO, the Company issues
318,867,000 new shares at a price of HK$4.00
per share. The total gross proceeds received
by the Company in connection with IPO were
approximately US$163,056,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,275,468,000), of which US$3,188,000 were
credited to the Company’s share capital account.
The remaining proceeds of US$159,867,000, less
the listing costs directly attributable to the issue
of the shares of US$9,520,000, amounted to
US$150,347,000 were credited to the Company’s
share premium account.

On 12 December 2018, 1,198,936,169 ordinary
shares of US$0.01 each were issued at par
value to the shareholders of the Company by
way of capitalisation of US$11,989,000 from the
Company’s share premium account.

22 A

P AR BT EE

(b) ERTRVERRE

(i

(i

)

(iv)

(#8)

B2018%F 8 A8H * AR Al A
I 7% %% 77 1,000,000 A% & A% @
B0.01ETH AR - LA #E
Worldwide BVIZ 2B A% 28 - I &
HERE  ANREIKANEE
EnE2li /NI

Bt - EZEENHESHRAE
39,0003 7t B #E AR AR M Bk
MREHEEREERAMZE
¥629,0003 7T A BR DI fE & A A
=

MN2018E 108128 » "R FIMA
PR B A D BB 25T A BT
63,830 % & f% T f50.01 % JT 1
LR o

REXAREETKE &
A @) B 77 318,867,000 % #1 %
m SREMFL0EBT - AR
ARMBERAREERIAME
X IE 48 58 & # 49 163,056,000
% 70 (#8 & 1 1,275,468,000 7
JT » EF13,188,0003 L5 A A
NAIRAERS - IS EBREE
159,867,000 3 7T 1 B 2 17 I
17 B ¥ FE 15 £ T AKX 789,520,000
EJT%) 150,347,000 3% 7T &t
ARRRIRDHEER -

» 2018 & 12 A 12 A
1,198,936,169 A% & A% E 1E0.01
ETHEBRBEBUEARRNFR
7 4 {8 Bk & 2 (£ 11,989,000
ETHANEMERTTAR
AIARER o
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23 Reserves and dividends 23 @BERRE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of EESARFRSHEKED A ERY) & 58 5 H
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out RpFE I BNZYE  EGeEZEFH KT
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of BRZ| - RABEFVNEFRPHEER B
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity ERRE O EBFEFTOT

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Reserve for ~ Share-based
Capital Share treasury payments  Accumulated
Share capital reserve premium shares reserve loss  Total equity
ER URGHAER
Rx EX R BAEE BRGfRE  HAREE ZitER ERET
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Txn Txn Txn Txn Txn Txn Tin
(Note 22) (Note 23(a)) (Note 23(b)) (Note 23(f)) (Note 23(e))
(Fisoo)  (Wisos@)  (Biskosb)  (Wiso3m)  (Risk2s(e)

At 1 January, 31 December 2017 R2017E1818 -

and 1 January 2018 1283187
2018%F12A31H - - - - - - -
Changes in equity for the year ~ §Z20185128318
ended 31 December 2018 LEBEEEE
Loss for the year ERER === (128%2) (12,852)
Total comprehensive income RERAAE = - - - - (12,852) (12,852)
Share-based payments AR BERA 3 - - - - 5,596 - 5,596
Issuance of ordinary shares in REARTERR
connection with Reorganisation 10 60,207 - - - - 60,217
Issuance of ordinary shares to RSU [ 5[5 1 & 7 & fiz
trustees REARITERR 1 - - - - - 1
Issuance of ordinary shares upon &R AR ER T
initial public offering, net of ERRTRERT
issuing costs Ef 3,188 - 160,347 - - - 163,535
Capitalisation issue ERLES 11,989 - (11,269) (720) - - -
At 31 December 2018 R2018512A318 15,188 60,207 139,078 (720) 5,506 (12,852) 206,497
Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January izt : ANEHE - BEAAT  2R2018FE1A1H ¥
2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not WMERBEE YIRS ERFEINR - RIFATE
restated. See note 1(d). There is no impact on adoption of IFRS 9 to the BHBEF L LHBRERTTEY - F2H
Company’s individual components of equity. M aE1(d) » BRAN B BR B 75 3R 45 2E R S o5k ¥ A

ARESEEARE D BT E -
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23 Reserves and dividends (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the difference between the
increase of registered capital and total capital injection
and other reserve arising from Reorganisation.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company would be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Statutory reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the PRC, the Company’s
subsidiaries established and operated in the Mainland
China are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-
profit (after offsetting prior year losses) as determined
in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and
regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital.
The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of profits to parent companies.

The statutory reserve can be utilised, upon approval by
the relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses
or to increase capital of the subsidiary, provided that
the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its
registered capital.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of financial
statements of foreign operations which are dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies as set out in
note 1(s).

Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the
portion of the grant date fair value of RSUs granted to
the directors, employees of the Group that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 1(0)(ii).

P AR BT EE

23 REEKRE®)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEXfEE
ERARHBEEAMERENETIER
BAREMRAEENWEMFE2ED
EE o

IR 2 i B
RERERENRAE EEER
ZORKREZ A - AQE KGR
BRAODPEGERAAANKRE AR
AREENEEBERERG TR
HREE -

EE

REFBEEZANRE  ARARF
BABKIMELNMBAREAR
HRBPEESARAUREZRETEN
BRearN(EEeEFEEERR)
MI10%E B E LT RBRHE B2
AR IE DM E AB50% © [AIEX R
88 A [ B QB 2K A Al
o

BEBAMFASER ZAERBAR
R R BB FIL N E R F A
BA MZBETERNESHRITIERE
At & A E25% -

BB 7 7 18

SNERERERBREINEREBY B
BEAMEENMBANEZRE IR
B EIMH SRR ETRE -

URODBERON KGR

LD ABERONRIHEEER TR
EEEE RBREONXRHBRHOENMN
REBHAFEMNSY  HERE
BT 5 1 (o))t BA B 10 & 25 7 B9 15 3R R
MBS BURER -
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23
(f)

(9)

(h)

166 Mobvista Inc.

Reserves and dividends (Continued)

Treasury shares

The Company’s treasury shares comprise the cost of
the Company’s shares held by the RSU trustees. On
12 October 2018, the Company issued 63,830 ordinary
shares with a par value of US$0.01 each to the RSU
trustees. The shares held by the RSU trustees was
increased by 71,936,328 after the capitalisation issue,
and therefore the RSU trustees held 72,000,158 of the
Company’s shares at 31 December 2018.

Dividends

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mobvista
International Technology Limited declared dividend of
US$150,000 to its then shareholder.

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
or directors, where appropriate.

No dividend has been paid by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure with reference to
its debt position. The Group’s strategy is to maintain the
equity and debt in a balanced position and ensure there
is adequate working capital to service its debt obligations.
The Group’s debt to asset ratio, being the Group’s total
liabilities over its total assets, as at 31 December 2018
was 43% (2017: 72%).

EENKARDA

23 REEKRE®)

(f)

(9)

(h)

EE K6

ARABRMEFRMDEEIRG KRG
BRNZAEAMBARBRMG KA
MN2018EFE 10120 » XA T AER
A% 1 B AL % 7T A B 1763,8300% & %
EECOIETHE B - ZRHIARM
BUZTEAMFTRHONE R LI
1% 18 Hn71,036,328 8% - A it © #2018
F12A31H  XRHPRHEMZFE
A$FH72,000,1588 A A & BR 15 °

@ =\

HE2017F12831BILFE ER
BEEREITERARAEERKRES
& A% 2.150,000% 7T, °

DIERFARBBREHRERALQE
BRRFIEFWER R ERESHH
EAEERARRPFBERR D HER
RAE-

HE2018F12A31BIEEE - AR
A RS EMRRE -

EXER

AEMEATRNES B BERNR
AEE A NBAELE WA
B 42 4R FE 1 LR K TR T G E (R
REAEKARGHRE BREAR
TIRMUE R R A A E S
A2 o

AEEEBREHRTTEELE
AIRE - 8RS HMRR B ® (7T 8
BE B = A0 & BOKF) B R 47 69 & AR
MARENEERREPERFTE
I FEEER R BB FHBEEARE -

AEBMREEBEHRRAEETE AR
B AEBAREIEFRALEGBES
ZHEBOTFERRT BRETIHE
BEEASUBTEEREMT - 1R2018
F12A318 AEEMNBEBEEL
R(AAEEHEAERELHEEES
B) B43% (2017 B72%) °
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Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks
are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and trade
and others receivables. The carrying amount of each
class of the above financial assets represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash, the Group only transacts with state-
owned or reputable financial institutions in mainland China
and reputable financial institution outside of mainland
China. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group’s trade and other receivables primarily
comprise of amounts receivable from customers. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
6% (2017: 12%) and 18% (2017: 23%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates.

24
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBEERERAFES
(Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@ FEERRE)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade AEBEZESREEFEHNER
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which CTERBANSEAEZE T RN I
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s MEEEE EHFEREEBRES
historical credit loss experience does not indicate - AR AEEBENEEEREL
significantly different loss patterns for different customer ARTRABEEDHBETREXTRE
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status BER - R e Ak e A B 1B BB
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different TeE— TSR AEETRAEZEFLER
customer bases. ZEE—FES -
The following table provides information about the TR AREE B E2018F 12 A
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade IRESEKRFEAINEERR
receivables as at 31 December 2018: LIEEH=zEBRER
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHB AR R 48 B RS
% US$’000 US$’000
FER FER
Current (not past due) BVHA (A7 B9) 0.4% 62,141 (226)
Less than 3 months past due  #EI DR =1 A 0.8% 56,551 (473)
3 to 12 months past due mE ==+ ={@A 4.2% 25,956 (1,097)
13 to 24 months past due B+ =Z=—1+m{EA 33.8% 2,933 (992)
25 to 36 months past due B —+ARZE=1~EA 86.1% 5,112 (4,403)
Over 36 months past due mEER =1 /NEA 100.0% 7,262 (7,262)
159,955 (14,453)

168 Mobvista Inc.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the year
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

EENKARDA
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24 Financial risk management and fair values
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Comparative information under IAS 39

Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was
recognised only when there was objective evidence
of impairment (see note 1(j)(i)-policy applicable prior
to 1 January 2018). As at 31 December 2017, trade
receivables of US$16,292,000 were individually
determined to be impaired. The aging analysis of trade
debtors that were not considered to be impaired was as

P AR BT EE

24 BREMREERAFLEE)

(a)

EERBE)

BB =2 B E39595 8 T B9 H B
MN20184F1 A1 B Al WEE B
EEERBRESERERGEZ
BBt 3E10)(0) — 201841 A1 B B i@
BEBE) - R2017F12 A31 8 -
16,292,000 L& S EWRBEE T
BRE - UWTATTARAEERED
FEURR R BR R D AT

[

follows:
2017
20174
US$’'000
FET
Neither past due nor impaired BER (R HF) 46,767
Less than 3 months past due mEI LR =18 R 16,715
3 to 9 months past due mEI =% A{E R 2,911
Over 9 months past due i B8 i@ 1L (8 A 4,406
24,032
70,799

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a wide range of customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believed that no impairment allowance was
necessary in respect of these balances as there had been
no significant change in credit quality and the balances
were still considered fully recoverable.

BARARTERENERKERES
PO BERERCENEFA
B8 o

EBHEYERENEERERS
HRAGSEAEFRIETECHNE
VEFBEH - REBELR  BEE
AzEsRDEEFET 8L -
WHBERZ T ERIELBERE
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBEERAFE®H
(Continued)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) (@ FEERRE)
Comparative information under IAS 39 BB &5 BRI 3945 H T B9 H B
(Continued) 'H(E)
The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during FRARREBEES WO T
the year is as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$’'000
FEx F=ET
At the beginning of the year F 1] 12,090 11,612
Impact on initial application of IFRS 9 )25 FE F BB B 7% 3l &5 2 B
FORMTE 329 —
Adjusted balance at 1 January M1 A1 R AR & 12,419 11,612
Impairment loss recognised ERREEE 2,299 1,185
Uncollectable amounts written off B AT m g 5 (265) (707)
At the end of the year FR 14,453 12,090
(b) Liquidity risk b) KRBESER

170 Mobvista Inc.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the management and directors
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

EENKARDA
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBREERERAFE®S

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBEELEMR(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual THRETAEEN S /A ENR2018
maturities at the end of 2018 and 2017 of the Group’s FROITEHHRT AN HBR -
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual ZEERDERITORBBERE R
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments E(BEMNAEGOMNER(WEZE)
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on NBEBHANRITRNERITENF B
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the M) RAEBHERNZTAORZE B
earliest date the Group can be required to pay: 8y

At 31 December 2017
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
20174128318
BRRTRB SR
More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but

1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount
—FRHER —EN5E WEN L
EXREER BmER BRER st E ik

US$'000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
TET TXRL TEL TERL FET

Trade and other payables B 5 N E A e FoE
(excluding receipt in advance)  (TBEEKZR) 179,065 — = 179,065 179,065
Bank Loans RITER 9,244 1,610 37,682 48,536 40,443
188,309 1,610 37,682 227,601 219,508
At 31 December 2018
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
R2018%12831H
ERRTRASRE

More than  More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years Total amount

—ERHR —FHE MENLE
EREGHE BRER BEER @t RESH
US$’000 US$000 US$’000 US$'000 US$000
TEx Txx S S Txn

Trade and other payables EHREMEMNFE

(excluding receipt in advance) (B EFEUE) 147,087 - - 147,087 147,087
Bank Loans RITER 16,823 - - 16,823 16,697
163,910 - - 163,910 163,784
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBEERAFE®H
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FEER
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from variable REBOMERREZRBFE LR
rates bank loans, which expose the Group to cash flow TEF FAEEEERESREF
interest rate risk. Z @b o
(i) Interest rate profile i) FEEX
The following table details the interest rate profile TRADMREBNRITERR
of the Group’s bank loans at the end of the WEARNF KRB :
reporting period:
Variable rate borrowings FEEXR 2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Bank loans (US$'000) RITER(FET) 16,697 40,443
Effective interest rate B R = 1.80%-4.07% 2.38%—4.90%
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) SBEEZH
As at 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a R2018F 12 A31H » T FI =
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points L FF R 1001E E 2
in interest rates, with all other variables held EFAEEMESRETENS
constant, would have decreased/increased the T NEBRE KK RS
Group’s profit after taxation for the period by 5 B3R A 1 H0 49 140,000
approximately US$140,000 (2017: US$309,000) % 7t(2017 % A& 309,000 =
mainly as a result of higher/lower finance costs L) TEERBITERR
on bank loans. The impact on the Group’s profit BRI R D AT o AR E
after taxation is estimated as an annualised impact BRI BHRF A E T iR
on interest expense of such a change in interest EEFMEEHHYF BHTHE
rates. bR BhE -
(d) Currency risk (d) E¥E

172 Mobvista Inc.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases giving rise to receivables, payables
and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, (i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate).
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBREERERAFE®S
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d E%¥=ERE
()  Exposure to currency risk () FFEHYE%EE

The following table details the Group’s exposure TREFNAEBRHREHARET
at the end of the reporting period to currency HOWEBRR  ZZRBRIE
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities HEEEMNEENIKER
denominated in a currency other than the LN B GTENERREE
functional currency of the entity to which they SEBEMELS MEVBHM
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of = RABRBEUAETY R A
the exposure are shown in US$, translated using REHMEE AN EXRKR
the spot rates at the reporting period end date. & o
Differences resulting from the translation of the B HE S B A1 3 75 B B S S 5k
financial statements of foreign operations into the BRENAEEZIEBMES
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. R Z%E o

At 31 December 2017

72017612318
RMB HKD Total
AR BT A&t
Us$000 US$'000 US$'000
TEL TEL TET
Trade and other receivables B REHMEWRIE 57,018 225 57,243
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBELZEEY 26,920 101 27,021
Trade and other payables B 5 RE M IR (36,743) (20) (36,763)
Net exposure to currency risk & ¥ @[ %k O 47,195 306 47,501

At 31 December 2018
7A2018%F12H31H

RMB HKD Total

AR BT &5t

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

FEnx FEx FTEx

Trade and other receivables B NEMERFA 13,070 64,704 71,774
Cash and cash equivalents BERBLEEY 9,031 142 9,173
Trade and other payables B REMEMNFE (4,454) (44) (4,498)
Net exposure to currency risk & # & b 75 Wi O 17,647 64,802 82,449
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24 Financial risk management and fair values

24 BBEBEERAFE®E

(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d E%¥=ERE
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BEEZH

A 5% strengthening of US$ against the following HREAMETETIEEAEA

currencies at the reporting date would increase/ 5% bR BB % M IE T 5 2

(decrease) profit after taxation by the amounts IR D) o Z DR

shown below. This analysis assumes that all other FrEEME 2 (BENE)RRE

variables, including interest rates, remain constant. & o

2018 2017
20184 20174

RMBA R 750 (1,770)

HKD% 7T 2,705 (13)

A 5% weakening of US$ against the above HMETHIA FEEEEY -

currencies would have had the equal but opposite MATEEMESHIFTIE &

effect on the above currencies to the amounts W ENH R EESEELR
shown above, on the basis that all other variables EHREETRERNTE -
remain constant.
(e) Fair value (e A¥E
(i)  Financial assets measured at fair value () BAFEAEHNZHEE

Fair value hierarchy nFEER

The following table presents the fair value of the TEREVAEFENHE AR

Group’s financial instruments measured at the B EEN SRS T AR

reporting date on a recurring basis, categorised FE 2EAB=RATERL

into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined (FERBEERHMBHREEDNFE
in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level 135%) » A FEFE - 2 FE
into which a fair value measurement is classified AEMFEENEBRIIEREL

is determined with reference to the observability THERMTARE AEBER A

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation BRMREZEMETE :

technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured . FE—RhE: EUE—
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted S AETEAFE
quoted prices in active markets for identical BIiEREES B ERET
assets or liabilities at the measurement EHHZERMIGRLE
date FHERE o
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24  Financial risk management and fair values 24 HHKEBREERERAFE®S
(Continued)
(e) Fair value (Continued) (e) AFESE)
(i)  Financial assets measured at fair value () BAFEIENETHEE
(Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NFEER(E)
. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured . FEoMEE: UE=ZR
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable BABNHEAFE A
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not REFEE—RHATZ
using significant unobservable inputs. AEBREAE UAET
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which FHRERTIEHZGE A
market data are not available. B Tr B AMER
THWMEMSHIE 2@
AfE
. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured . E=MMHEE: LEXRT
using significant unobservable inputs AR ABTELRT
B e
The following table presents the Group’s financial TREJNAEERRE B HR
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value AIEAFENSREELE
at the reporting dates: &
31 December 2018 2018412831 H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- E-&K B=R #at
US$’000 US$000 US$000 US$000
FEx FEx FEx FER
Assets BE
Financial asset at FVPL BAREBETABZED
TREE — — 71,000 71,000

During the years ended 31 December 2018, there REZE2018F 12 A31H It F
EHE F—HREE-_F M
WHEER  TEEZEXELE

=&

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3.
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24 Financial risk management and fair values 24 BERBEERAFEE)
(Continued)
(e) Fair value (Continued) e) 2FEE)
(i)  Financial assets measured at fair value (i) HRAFHETAENLEHBEE
(Continued) (%)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements B E =R T EAENEF
Valuation Significant Weighted
techniques Unobservable average
(EREE R0 BERFAHE 35
Inputs Range
BWAE &
As at 31 December 2018 720184
12H31H
Financial asset at FVPL A F{ETEHE binomial
— convertible loan HE st ABEEH lattice model  expected
EHEE ZIER volatility
— AERES WL % TEHREE  52%-63% 57.5%
Financial asset at FVPL & A {EFFE2HA  discounted
— wealth management  #Z &) A Bz K cash flow bond
product TREE 8538 yield rate
— BUER ReRE BEEX 4%-8% 6%
The fair value of convertible loan is determined AEBERHAFERAZE
using the binomial lattice model and the significant ABERFEETE  AFEERFE
unobservable input used in the fair value FERNERTABRG AR
measurement is the expected volatility. The fair ABIEHKE A FEFEHEE
value measurement is positively correlated to HYR 8 2 1B RE ° 72018412
the expected volatility. As at 31 December 2018, RAB1RH - BhEr B EM
it is estimated that with all other variables held BERETENBEAT - FBH
constant, an increase/decrease in the expected ARG R A 10%45 8 BUA
volatility by 10% would have increased/decreased &£ BlE A 38,8 4>30,0003%
the Group’s profit by US$30,000. JC °
The fair value of wealth management product is BHMEMNATFERAFBAR
determined using the discounted cash flow and EREEETE AFEFEF
the significant unobservable input used in the fair FRANBERTIERBAEBR
value measurement is the bond vield rate. The BEEX AT EFTEHERE
fair value measurement is positively correlated FIE R ° 7201812 A31H -
to the bond vyield rate. As at 31 December 2018, BAhET - AT A HM B8R
it is estimated that with all other variables held SERIER TS - TEHR R 1R 1 0
constant, an increase/decrease in the expected SR 10%4 8 B AN & @E
volatility by 10% would have increased/decreased # 0, w4 420,000% T ©
the Group’s profit by US$420,000.
(i)  Fair value of financial assets and (i) BRFEUIGXI R
liabilities carried at other than fair value THEERBEENLFE

176 Mobvista Inc.

All financial instruments are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2018 because of the short-term
maturities of all these financial instruments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Commitments

As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

P AR BT EE

25 KiE

HE2017F K2018F12 A31 8 » 7 A #
EEHEETMHARREHRENRAERE

payable as follows: BUTAHAZA -
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’°000 US$’'000
FER F=ET
Within 1 year —F R 3,800 2,341
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 6,219 1,888
10,019 4,229

The Group leases a number of office premises under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period for 3 to 5
years, at the end of which all terms are renegotiated.

Material related party transactions

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere
in the financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions.

During the year, the directors are of the view that the following
are related parties of the Group:

Name of party

AEBERBLKLHEHEZHBAME -
ZEHE— RIS/ =F1F RHX
EMBEREMAE IR

26 EXBEBLIXS

ik B 7% S 2% L 3 05 4% BR BV A B T B RL S
AEEITIATEANBB TR S -

REAN BEFRBATNR/AREENEE S

Relationships

B AR 28 Bk B R
Seamless Controlling shareholder
JIE 7 PERR IR R

Guangzhou Mobvista
& B 8 A 1

Guangzhou Jianda Network Techology Company Limited
EMEEME R AR AR

Zhuhai Huiliang Investment Holding Company Limited

HSEERERRARAR

Guangzhou Ruisou

FUET

Guangzhou Huichun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.
(“Guangzhou Huichun”)

EMNEZEXRREARAR ([EMEZ])

Duanshi Industrial Investment (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
(“Duanshi Investment”)

BREXRE (BN BARAR(TBRERE])

Beijing Huiju Shanhe
1t 58 B L]

Ultimate controlling party
BRERERTA

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling party
AR ER TG EE S

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling party
HRRERTEHNE R

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling party
HERARERTEHNER

Indirectly wholly-owed by Mr.Cao, one of the
executive directors of the Company

HARRMITETZ —BELREHEL2ERAE

Indirectly wholly-owed by Mr.Duan, the chairman,
executive director and a Controlling Shareholder of
the Company

HARBEFERITEFIERAR
REEREZEZERSE

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling party
HERKERTEGINER
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26 Material related party transactions (Continued) 26 EABBIXSZE)
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EERAEE S ETHRS
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEx F=T
Recurring: BEM
Receiving rental service B LA B 5 T E R
— Guangzhou Ruisou — BEMNEE 47 —
— Guangzhou Huichun — EMNE=Z 3 _
— Duanshi Investment — BRKEKE 3 _
Non-recurring: FEAE = -
Receiving management and rental services B LA T Bt 75 & I8 &
from HER®
— Guangzhou Mobvista — BEIMNESERH 236 3,033
Receiving Research, Development and B LA T BB 5 i 3% &
rental service from HER®
— Beijing Huiju Shanhe — L FER LA 721 —
Receiving loan interest from M) DA 8 B 77 MR B B
— Guangzhou Mobvista — BME S RH 785 =
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEEEE LS MER
As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the Group had the H E2017F &2018F 12 A31H » K
following balances with related parties: EEEBEB ISR T
(i)  Due from related parties () FEREBZHHE
2018 2017
20184 20174
USs$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Non-trade receivables from RAEE 5 O IEE B ERIA
related parties
— Seamless — B = 1,945
— Guangzhou Mobvista — BNEZRH - 30,812
— Zhuhai Huiliang Investment — KB ESERELR
Holding Company Limited BRA A - 3,139

- 35,896
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26 Material related party transactions (Continued) 26 ERXBBARSE)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EREBAEEER(E)
(i)  Due to related parties (i) ETEE TR E
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FESE FETT
Other payables H b JE T 5RIB
— Seamless — B - 70,528
— Guangzhou Mobvista — BEMNEER®HD - 25,455
— Guangzhou Jianda Network — BN B AR AR BT
Technology Company Limited BR AT - 6,858
— Zhuhai Huiliang Investment — REBEERETER
Holding Company Limited BRAA = 123
— Guangzhou Ruisou — EBNEE 50 -
— Guangzhou Huichun — BENE=Z D _
— Duanshi investment — BRKIEE 3 _
56 102,964
(c) Key management personnel compensation (c) FEEEAERM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBETEEIEASOH (B ENH
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s HTEBENINTARAEZESMHRIE
directors as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the highest UEMEsEEN SN TFEFRaH
paid employees as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: MEERMRE)WT :
2018 2017
20184 20174
US$’000 US$'000
FEx FET
Short-term employee benefits HHEEERT 1,561 826
Share-based compensation expenses AR 15 5 EE T 9 3R B 7 =2 1,689 3,230
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 3R K48 F 5+ 2] 4 5% 44 29
3,294 4,085
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See note T Est ATE Tk AR M &=
5(0)). 5(p))
(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to d HEEIXZEBENWLEIHRADN
connected transactions BHAH
The recurring transactions with related parties in respect Tt it FE26@@)EEE F MK EER S
of note 26(a) above constitute continuing connected B ETHRANFUUAZETRAETNEE
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing BBt 5 o TS 14AZ E S
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the ENEE HREEHREEBAIE
Listing Rules are provided in paragraph headed “Continuing BB S5 NEE -

Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report.
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27

28

180 Mobvista Inc.

Company-Level statement of financial position 27 2ARMERREX
31 December
Note 2018
B 5 2018%12A31H
USs$’000
FEx
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiries B AaIRE 60,217
Other financial assets Hibo & E 70,000
Deposits and prepayments & IR 962
131,179
Current asset RBEE
Other receivables H W 58 74,826
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEEEEY 16,657
91,483
Current liabilities nREEE
Other payables H h pE A 308 16,165
16,165
Net current asset RBEETE 75,318
Total assets less current liabilities EELAERABAERS 206,497
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERK#E 22(a)
Share capital &% A 15,188
Reserves 1 191,309
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 206,497
Immediate and ultimate controlling party 28 EHEREKREHA

As at the date of this report, the directors consider the immediate
controlling party of the Company to be Seamless, which is
incorporated in BVI, and the ultimate controlling party of the
Company to be Guangzhou Mobvista.

EENKARDA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018

Up to date of issue of the financial statements, the IASB has
issued a number of amendments and new standards which
are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018 and which have not been adopted in the financial
statements. Set out below is a full list of these standards:

Name of party

=L

29

P AR BT EE

2018 F1H1H R EFTHABC E MG
BERERZIERT - FTERRZE
Borugge

BEVBHRTEAS BRSNS
EHEME TETRMITEN  ZFEEBITR
AT AR PR2018F1 A1 E BB &t M =
ARER  BYARRHBERRAERA B
FERI TR RMT

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTHEBH 2%
BN ETHBENR

IFRS 16, Leases
BRI #5522 A% 165% - FHAY

Amendments to IAS19, Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement

BRI 195MER] - StEIER - BUREER

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee Interpretations (“IFRIC 23”),

Uncertainty over income tax treatments

BEREMsmEREZEenE ((BRYHREENREAEFH23HR]) -

PRSI & 5t R I8 1Y TN HERE 1.

Amendments to IAS 28, Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures

NGRS 285 MBRT M E AL RB#S

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
B B B 75 3k 5 2E RI201564F 2201740 1B B 2 U

Amendment to IFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation

BIBR B # i &5 R SE OSRVIER] - IR B B A B AT&E SIS

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts
BIRBAH5 2R % 175, REBE &

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 — Sale or contribution of assets between an

investor and its associate or joint venture

1 January 2019
20191 A1H

1 January 2019
201951 A1H

1 January 2019
20191 H1H
1 January 2019
2019F1 A1H

1 January 2019
201951 H1H

1 January 2019
201951 H1H

1 January 2021
2021F1A1H

To be determined

BIER B 5o 5 E A SE 105% REIFR @5+ RIS 28R A B R] — R & & B A B & ) fFE

RELECHNEELESTE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards and
interpreations is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far the Group has identified some aspects of IFRS 16 which
may have a significant impact on the financial statements.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below.
As the Group has not completed its assessment, further
impacts may be identified in due course and will be taken into
consideration when determining whether the Group should adopt
any of these new requirements before their effective dates and
which transitional approach to take, where there are alternative
approaches allowed under the new standards.

AEBLEFGZEFER HENLREE
REXERYENBEHREE B A%
B2 Rl B R B 75 R 2 RSB 1655k AT BE ¥
MERRELEAFZENE T I ME - AH
TENE-—SPHFBRTIXWL - HRAR
B i K 52 BCRT fil - B AT BE A S8 E B ) A R
E—TXE BABE-—SPREBNARE
AR B R A PO UE ¥R E R A A B AT IR
NER B RN E A RREE — T2 BR S
A(MEEHERNBETAANEETA)ER
AZRE °
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018 (Continued)

IFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 1(i), currently the Group classifies leases
into operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements
accordingly.

IFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once IFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases.
Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for
all leases in a similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e.
at the commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognize
and measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments and will recognize a corresponding “right-
of-use” asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability,
the lessee will recognize interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of
the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognizing
rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic
basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee
can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases
(i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases
of low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would
continue to be recognized on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

EENKARDA
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2018 F1A1H A EFHBC E MG
BERERZIERT - FTERRZE
BouggEm

B ERE LA E16KER

MM I RE  ~AEERBHEESD
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TEHIERR B S S ERF 165 T & KIE
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RO AT —ERABERIB®RE
ERNE16  ABABITBERIBEEE
LiggHE - AR EEBRESEBRT @ &
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Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective
for the accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018 (Continued)

IFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

IFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee
of leases for office premises which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new accounting model
is expected to lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities
and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the
statements of profit or loss over the period of the lease.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective
approach for the adoption of IFRS 16 and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 and will not
restate the comparative information. As disclosed in note
25, at 31 December 2018 the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to
US$10,019,000 for office premises, part of which is payable
between 1 and 5 years after the reporting date. Upon the initial
adoption of IFRS 16, the opening balances of lease liabilities
and the corresponding right-of-use assets will be adjusted to
US$7,788,000 and US$7,817,000 respectively, after taking
account the effects of discounting, as at 1 January 2019.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets, the Group expects that the transition adjustments to be
made upon the initial adoption of IFRS 16 will not be material.
However, the expected changes in accounting policies as
described above could have a material impact on the Group’s
financial statement from 2019 onwards.

Comparative figures

The Group has initially applied IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under
the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not
restated. Further details of the changes in accounting policies
are disclosed in note 1(d).

Subsequent events

On 4 January 2019, the over-allotment option of the Group was
partially exercised and an aggregate of 15,337,000 shares were
issued at a price of HK$4.00 per share accordingly.

29

30

31

P AR BT EE

2018 F1H1H R EFTHABC E MG
BERERZIERT - FTERRZE
BoagsEm

BB RS ERF16RBE (&)

BERMEREERFEIORBEEIBEFERE
EREERAYWEREOBERKERE)
ERABANEHEE RHEAHES
BAKEREERBBEEMEN AKE
TENENANBEERBERAINRRE -

REBEFERBERENEHEFEZER
FRS16 W EREAEANEERTE
B2019F1ATBRAH U HBEOHAE - B
FERALERER - RWOM F5MERE - R
2018F12H31H A& E TRl FEKLEHE
EIA T AR R &K & 5% 410,019,0003%
T EE S ERREASHEMIESFHE
S o B IR BIFRS 1685 - £ & 2| 853
VR E - HE2019F1 818 HEAEM
HENFERAREENBHURERKY AR
457,788,000 7T }2.7,817,000%% JT °

BRERHEAEREABEEN  A&H
BEHMRERRABERES G HREENF165%
B AEFERERBEREFE - R £a
ST HREE A U A KB H2019F i
MM BHREERNEATE -

LB E T

RNEER20184F1 A1 8 &K E BB
HRELERNEIN - BIBFTBBES X - UE
BIAILREN BFHESHBEEHE —
W EE 1B B A BT A () B FE o

REHRRER

R2019F1 A48 £ B A8 &A% #E 25
HETE - WHEZRERA.00B TTHERETT
& 3£15,337,0000% J& 15 °
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DEFINITION
B

NG
[Al

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”
(AR sk B =R EA ]

“Audit Committee”

(B EEg]

“Board”

[E=g)

“BVI”
[BVI]

“CG Code” or “Corporate Governance
Code”
[ ER<TA

“China”, “PRC” or “Mainland China”

[P B sk B A ]

“Companies Law”

[REDE]

» o«

“Company”, “our Company”,

“the Company” or “Mobvista”

[RAR] L EER ]

“connected person(s)”
[BEEAL]

“Controlling Shareholders”
[ 20 f IR 3R

“Director(s)”

[E=]

EENKARDA

Mobvista Inc.

artificial intelligence
ATE R

the articles of association of our Company as amended from time to time
RRRABE R (LREFER)

the audit committee of the Company
/_\ T % l:l+ ; / ~ E

the board of Directors

E=xg

the Biritish Virgin Islands
RBRAEES

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

EWRRIK S+ AR R EAR ST A

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report only,
excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARANME BRXESEMREINK
BRI RIITRE & &E

ERAFEEREMS FTREFE -+

the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands

FEREENE2E(RATIE)(1961F 50 3 - BiFE RIEF])
Mobvista Inc. (&8 € £ £ & B
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April 2018
EERKERAR - —HR2018F4A16HE R E

NG

al), an exempted company with limited liability

HEEMARZINERRER

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
AR EmRAETZANRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Seamless, Guangzhou Mobvista and Mr. Duan
ERFLTRAMTFZANRE BERXEZAMEBI  BIBER  BMNEERMD
ME ST

the director(s) of our Company or any one of them

RRAES



“Duanshi Investment”

[BERKRE ]

“DAU”

[DAU]

“Employee RSU Scheme”

[E B ZR A0 EALsT &)

“Fengli Trust”

[&F {5t

“FVPL”
[FVPL]

“GDPR”
[GDPR]

“Guangzhou Mobvista”

[ & N B & R 17 |

» o«

“Group,
[R&E |

our Group,” or “the Group”

“Game Analytics”

[ Game Analytics |

DEFINITION
B

Duanshi Industrial Investment (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC on 21 July 2017 and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Duan
BRE£RE(EMNABRAR - —ER2017F7A21BEFRBEKIMH AR + WH
B EEREZERSR

daily active user, in the context of DAUs of SDK, representing the number of unique
mobile devices on which the codes of the app(s) integrating the SDK called the
function in the SDK and resulted in an exchange of data between the app and the
SDK platform on that day (multiple calls from the same device are only counted as one
DAU)

H)ZBAF - BSDKEIDAUM & - BB &R & E A KT GSDKY B £ K E 7%
F AW R B 55 EISDK I E 35 FE F EISDKFE 6 MBI B R MM Z R HHECRAR
—RER Z IR G E 2 & E—EDAU)

the restricted share unit scheme of the Company approved and adopted by our Board
on 27 September 2018 and amended on 19 November 2018

EEZEMN20185F9 H27 A #L /& RE M I 7 2018F 11 B19B BT &I A 2 7l X R il
& 0 B iz &t &l

China Industrial International Trust Limited — Fengli Investment Single Fund Trust
(Period 1)
EEFBRETARAF - SANREE-EREFTEO H)

fair value through profit or loss
NAFEFEAEZIHTAER

the General Data Protection Regulation
CBOMN 3B A & BHR BE (£ 1] ) (General Data Protection Regulation)

Mobvista Co.,Ltd.* (& /N [ £ 48 4% B £ 1% 5 B R 2 7),a company established in
the PRC as a joint stock limited company on 15 July 2015 through conversion from a
limited liability company (i.e. Guangzhou Huitao) and listed on the NEEQ (stock code:
834299)

BEMNESERERERNHEBR AR - —ER20156F7A15BEFRH@BER —HBR
BEEAG(AIEMER) BHMAK LN —HMROBERLDA] > RET=REB(RER
5 : 834299)

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

KR E R E A B LR

Game Analytics ApS, a Denmark-based company that operates a SaaS game data
analytics platform for game developers

Game Analytics ApS * —E R A © L& B17EHEE MR MSaaS #EEIEIE D
T EE)
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DEFINITION
B

“Guangzhou Huichun”

[ &N (% |

“Guangzhou Huimao”

[ /& N B 2% |

“Guangzhou Huigian”

[ &

“Guangzhou Huisui”

[ M B
“Guangzhou Ruisou”
[EMNEE ]

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK dollars” or

“HKS”
5]

“Hong Kong Share Registrar”
[(BEEBHELE]

“IFRS”

[BIBR B F dR s 2 A

“Listing”
=i

“Listing Date”

[EWHE]

Mobvistalnc. EERFH AR AT

Guangzhou Huichun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC with limited liabilities on 19 July 2017 and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Cao
BMNEZEEREERAGT - —MER2017F7A19BEFBEKIHEREERQF -
THELEREL2ERSR

Guangzhou Huimao Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) @ a
partnership established in the PRC on 13 May 2015 and controled by Mr. Duan
BMERKEEERSRL(ARER%), —HR20155513B EF KB GIKDE
Al - NI B BR 5 A SRR 2

Guangzhou Huigian Investment Management Centre (Limited Parternship) @ a
partnership established in the PRC on 23 November 2015 and controled by Mr. Cao
EMEBREEEFRL(BEREGRH)  —MR2015F11 A23AEH B K& 1K
ol - I B8 o A S BR 2

Guangzhou Huisui Investment Management Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC with limited liabilities on 8 May 2015 and is owned by Mr. Duan as to 95%
BMEBKEERBERAR - —MR2015F5A8AEREKIHEREEARA
I R B BR 5% A B 95% ) #E &

Guangzhou Ruisou Information Technology Co., Ltd., a company established in the
PRC with limited liability on 7 November 2013 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Guangzhou Mobvista within the Retained Guangzhou Mobvista Group
BEMNEEEERFARAR - —HR2013F 11 A7THETRBEKIHEREEAH
RREBEENEEEEETEMNEENEEZLZEWB QA

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
hEARAMEFEEFITHER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BRATEE®

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

ERRRBHFBELBRAA

the International Financial Reporting Standards, amendments and interpretation issued
from time to time by the International Accounting Standards Board
BERGEAEES I NREMHBEEREMERELED BiIAKRE

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
R ER LT

12 December 2018, the date on which the Company was listed on the Stock
Exchange

2018F12A 128 ' IR AR EAER S LR B H



“Listing Rules”

[ Em AR

“Management RSU Scheme”

[E I B R B A fn B FH 81 )

“Mobvista Technology”

[EEEE ]

“Model Code”

L

“Mr. Cao”

[E k4]

“Mr. Duan”

(B e 4]

“Mr. Fang”
[ 75 % & |

“Mr. Xi”
[k 4]

“Nomination Committee”

[RE2ZEE]

“programmatic advertising”

[EFtES]

“Remuneration Committee”

E3.E34

“Relevant Period”

[ B8 M

“RVB”
(AR

DEFINITION
B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

(BEABMERZHARRAREZEZ EMARA (ETEER - IR AEMT A E )

the restricted share unit scheme of the Company approved and adopted by our Board
on 19 November 2018
MAFEFEN20185F11 A19R BB I KA X R 5l B0 BTt 8l

Mobvista (Guangzhou) Technology Limited, a company established in the PRC
with limited liability on 2 April 2015 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

BMNEZEESREBRAR - —HR2015F4A28EFEKINERETAA -
RARNBNEEEZENE QA

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
BEBCETRABEFEITESF R HHIRESF BN 105 7R &9 1R % <F 8

Mr. CAO Xiaohuan , one of our co-founders, an executive Director and the president of
our Company

BREAL  BMANBAAIBAZ —  AABNATESTHRAEAR

Mr. DUAN Wei, our chairman, one of our co-founders, an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of our Company
BEAE BANEIE BB AZ— AARNTESRKEERTE

Mr. FANG Zikai, an executive Director and the chief product officer of our Company
AFEEE  AARNBITESTRERERE

Mr. XI Yuan, an executive Director and the vice president of our Company
EREE  KNATWRTESREEHR

the nomination committee of the Company

NAREEES®

the automatic buying and selling of ad inventories and automatic ad delivery through
SDK or API

BEBSDKHIAPI BB EEREEF BB RMES

the remuneration committee of the Company
NEFHEES

the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018
™ HZE20185F12 431 H 8 [

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of China

ARET  PEBEEEH
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DEFINITION
B

“RSU”
[ 5 BR il B £ B8 £ |

“RSU Schemes”
[ BR &I A% 1D BB AL 5T &)

“Seamless”

[ g 37 |

“SDK”
[SDK

“Share(s)”
[ A& 17

“Shareholder(s)”
MR 2R |

“Share Option Scheme”
[ B i A =t & )

“Stock Exchange”
[ 56 32 FFr

“subsidiary” or “subsidiaries”

[ B B =) |

“substantial shareholder(s)”

[EE2RE]

“U.S. dollars” or “US$”
>

“We”, “us” or “our”

[ 219

wg
(%]

Mobvistalnc. EERFH AR AT

a restricted share unit award granted to a participant under the RSU Scheme
BREBEXREIRMECFTEMB2EER TN BLEE

the Employee RSU Scheme and the Management RSU Scheme
BB XM BT 8 & B8 E X IR KA ) & Az 5t &l

Seamless Technology Limited, a business company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability on 24 November 2014 and wholly-owned by Guangzhou Mobvista
Seamless Technology Limited B # M AR A 7 - —ER2014F 11 H24 B 1£BVI
AR NEEERAR  HAENEEZEHRE

software development kit, a set of software development tools that allows the creation
of applications for a certain software package
BHREEN  RAUETEHEREYEREFNRMAFAETIA

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of US$0.01 each
AARRAFEREEOOIETHE AR

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ERESESIWN

the Share Option Scheme we conditionally adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
by our Shareholders on 30 October 2018
HAAIRIE IRV 2018F10 A0 B BB HR AR A RITF R A B A E S 3

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMERHMARRT

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance
BB R A& EASRME T &% w0 R &

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

BB EMARAE T ZANRE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XEREAER

our Company or our Group, as the context may require

RARIAKHE  RFEXEME

per cent

B



Mob

EERRARAE

Mobvista Inc.
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